

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA  
LEGISLATIVE OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

Room 400, City Hall  
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
Friday, May 11, 2012  
11:12 a.m.

PRESENT:

COUNCIL PRESIDENT DARRELL L. CLARKE  
COUNCILMAN KENYATTA JOHNSON, CHAIR  
COUNCILMAN MARK SQUILLA, VICE-CHAIR  
COUNCILMAN BOBBY HENON  
COUNCILMAN JAMES F. KENNEY

RESOLUTION: 120223

1                               - - - - -

2               COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Good morning,  
3 everyone My name is Kenyatta Johnson. I'd  
4 like to call this meeting to order. Public  
5 Hearing on the Legislative Oversight  
6 Committee. As Chair of this committee, I  
7 announce that a quorum is present with  
8 Councilman Jim Kenney, Councilman Bobby  
9 Henon, Council President Darrell Clarke.

10           Will the Clerk please read the title of  
11 the resolution.

12           THE CLERK: Resolution 120223,  
13 authorizing City Council's Legislative  
14 Oversight Committee to hold hearings to  
15 examine the effectiveness of current  
16 ordinances in addressing illegal dumping and  
17 littering in Philadelphia's business  
18 corridors and to explore ways to collaborate  
19 with City agencies to address this problem.

20           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you. Before  
21 I get -- call our first witness, I want to  
22 kind of put in context, and I thank all my  
23 colleagues joining me here today and everyone  
24 that's come out to testify as well as those

1 individuals who work for our City agencies to  
2 decided to come out to participate in this  
3 hearing today.

4       The primary purpose of the hearing is to  
5 kind of take a look at the issue of illegal  
6 dumping, short dumping, littering in the City  
7 of Philadelphia. How we as Council, one, can  
8 be supportive; but also, two, examine what we  
9 are doing and from my perspective, how do we  
10 build off of it in terms of our various  
11 initiatives that we have regarding clean  
12 corridors, littering in the City and more  
13 specifically personal to me, is the issue of  
14 illegal short dumping.

15       And so the first witness I would like to  
16 call is Deputy Commissioner of Streets  
17 Department, my good friend I'm getting to  
18 know who's been very helpful thus far with  
19 this process, Mr. Carlton Williams.

20       Please state your name for the record,  
21 Carlton.

22       MR. WILLIAMS: Good morning, President  
23 Darrell Clarke, Councilman Kenyatta Johnson  
24 and the Honorable Members of City Council.

1 My name is Carlton Williams. I'm the Deputy  
2 Streets Commissioner for the Streets  
3 Department. And I am pleased to present  
4 testimony on illegal dumping and the impacts  
5 it has on our City.

6 Illegal dumping of trash and other  
7 refuse such as construction debris, discarded  
8 tires used furniture and appliances and other  
9 hazardous materials is a serious concern and  
10 a problem in the City of Philadelphia. And  
11 it has a direct impact on the health, safety  
12 and welfare of all who live, work and visit  
13 here. Many of our streets, sidewalks, parks,  
14 recreation centers and vacant lots have  
15 become chronic dumping grounds for tons of  
16 illegally dumped trash and debris each year.

17 Illegal dumping destroys the quality of  
18 life and community in so many ways. Illegal  
19 dumping leads to neighborhood decay.  
20 Economically, illegal dumping can affect  
21 property values and deter development in open  
22 spaces. Illegal dumping also leads to higher  
23 rates of crime, graffiti and blighted  
24 conditions that tear down the quality of life

1 in effected neighborhoods.

2       These effects can reverberate throughout  
3 the areas economies, raising the cost of  
4 doing business and ultimately affecting jobs  
5 that they provide.

6       The Streets Department works with  
7 several other agencies to address and  
8 eliminate illegal dumping including the  
9 Managing Director's Office, the Police  
10 Department and the Department of License and  
11 Inspections. The primary service used by the  
12 Streets Department to fight illegal dumping  
13 is a City-wide Cleaning Unit and the Streets  
14 and Walkways Education and Enforcement  
15 Program also known as SWEEP.

16       In FY2011, the Streets Department  
17 City-wide Cleaning Unit serviced more than  
18 1,047 short dump locations across the City of  
19 Philadelphia and removed more than 16,593  
20 tons of debris from these location. In  
21 addition, the Streets Department collected  
22 and disposed of more than 110,000 illegally  
23 dumped tires. The total cost of removal of  
24 disposal is \$1.6 million annually. These are

1 direct expenditures by the Streets Department  
2 and do not include additional costs from  
3 other agencies or staff or personnel cost.

4 Although, we have witnessed a decrease  
5 in illegal dumping over the last four years,  
6 there is still a significant amount of  
7 dumping that continues to impact our city.

8 The Streets and Walkways Education and  
9 Enforcement Program issued code violation  
10 notices for illegal dumping. SWEEP is a  
11 Streets Department Program created to educate  
12 Philadelphia citizens about their  
13 responsibilities under the sanitation code.  
14 SWEEP officers also enforce the law against  
15 violators through street patrols across the  
16 city.

17 Through education and enforcement, SWEEP  
18 supports and enhances individual community  
19 efforts to maintain a clean neighborhood. In  
20 2011, SWEEP issued 843 violations for dumping  
21 on private property and dumping on vacant  
22 lots. Last year the Streets Department  
23 increased the number of officers and  
24 restructured the division to be more

1 responsible to neighborhood issues including  
2 illegal dumping.

3       Officers have been assigned to each  
4 sanitation district to work with the City and  
5 to work hand in hand with community groups,  
6 nonprofit organizations, block captains to  
7 identify and address problematic areas. We  
8 believe this approach will help identify and  
9 deter people from illegally dumping in our  
10 city. The Streets Department are also  
11 purchasing ten digital cameras to aid in the  
12 fight against illegal dumping.

13       Cameras have been used effectively by  
14 the Managing Director's Office to catch  
15 illegal dumpers in the act. We will add to  
16 the existing inventory of cameras to help  
17 identify, arrest and prosecute violators.  
18 Cameras will be strategically placed in the  
19 most chronically dumped areas throughout the  
20 city. The cameras are mobile and will be  
21 constantly rotated to areas where the  
22 greatest need until dumping is eliminated.

23       Last year the Streets Department  
24 implemented an internal Quality of Life

1 Initiative to tackle illegal dumping and  
2 other neighborhood issues related to the  
3 trash. Streets Department Managers patrol  
4 streets and work with other divisions to  
5 immediately address the problems before  
6 citizens call it in to report the issue. We  
7 believe this proactive approach will deter  
8 long-term illegal dumping and will  
9 demonstrate to the community that we are  
10 committed to ending this problem permanently.

11 Managers also frequently attend  
12 community meetings to assist community  
13 residents and address neighborhood issues.  
14 We believe community partnerships are the  
15 keys to sustainable solutions and to end  
16 illegal dumping permanently.

17 I look forward to working with  
18 Councilman Johnson and all the Members of  
19 City Council to rid illegal dumping in our  
20 city permanently.

21 Thank you.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you, Carlton.  
23 Just a couple questions I just wanted to ask  
24 you in regards to the SWEEP Officers.

1           How many SWEEP Officers are within that  
2 particular program?

3           MR. WILLIAMS: Currently, we have 61  
4 budgeted positions.

5           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: And how are they  
6 distributed throughout the city?

7           MR. WILLIAMS: When we restructured and  
8 added the number of Officers, we thought it  
9 would be more effective to place them in  
10 districts. Our units sanitation collections  
11 are separated by districts. We have six  
12 districts throughout the city stretching from  
13 Northwest Philadelphia, Northeast  
14 Philadelphia, South Philadelphia to Southwest  
15 Philadelphia and all the areas in between.

16          So, what we did was assign eight  
17 officers to each District so that they would  
18 have working knowledge of the area, know  
19 where the problem hot spots are, have the  
20 ability to go out and address and work with  
21 the community to try to solve long-term  
22 problems.

23          Prior to this, we used to have officers  
24 to go to one part of the city one time, which

1 was inefficient because the rest of the  
2 remainder of the city wasn't getting  
3 serviced. We believe having a constant  
4 presence of officers in that location will  
5 have an impact and show the community that we  
6 are here to support their efforts.

7 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Good. I see that  
8 from 2007 to 2011 -- in 2007, there were a  
9 number of tickets for littering jump from 435  
10 to 1,223 in '11. So, obviously, y'all  
11 stepped up from an enforcement standpoint in  
12 ticketing. Some small areas are down in  
13 terms of sidewalks not free of litter and the  
14 dumping on private property, right?

15 Give me an idea of what type of -- from  
16 your perspective, the best approach  
17 action-wise from the private standpoint, the  
18 sidewalks, the sidewalks standpoint that  
19 would be more effective in approaching from a  
20 cleaning standpoint.

21 MR. WILLIAMS: Well, I think the number  
22 one thing that we need to continuously do is  
23 educate the public on what the laws are.  
24 Issues like trash set out early often lead to

1 illegal dumping and littering where bags are  
2 then placed out too early, animals, rodents  
3 get through them and it becomes litter  
4 condition on the street.

5 People misuse our wastebaskets. I know  
6 that was a major issue for the Honorable  
7 Councilman Jim Kenney which we raised the  
8 fine for that misuse of a litter basket  
9 couple of years ago. And so, those type of  
10 laws we continue to educate the public on  
11 that. I think that will have an impact.

12 But for those people who constantly  
13 violate without regard to education, if  
14 that's not working, I do think we need a  
15 coordinated approach to try to address and  
16 catch people. In order for us to issue a  
17 citation, we need to have proper evidence if  
18 there's not a person in the act of actually  
19 dumping or committing the violation. And for  
20 us to do that, either we need to catch them  
21 or we need to go through the trash and get an  
22 address.

23 Unfortunately, Councilman, the violators  
24 have gotten smarter. They stop placing

1 addresses into -- into the waste because they  
2 know they are doing it illegally. So, it has  
3 made it much more difficult for us to address  
4 them. That's why we believe mobile cameras  
5 is an effective tool because then we are able  
6 to identify people as they are in the act.  
7 And that evidence can be used to either issue  
8 a violation, or if it's severe enough, we can  
9 then go through criminal procedures to try to  
10 implement heavier fines.

11 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How is the Mobile  
12 Cameras Program operating thus far?

13 MR. WILLIAMS: According to the MDO's  
14 Office, it's right now currently managed  
15 under the Community Life Improvement Program.  
16 They've caught over 75 violators physically  
17 from the number of people that they caught on  
18 camera. They very able to issue hefty fines  
19 and actually do an arrest. So, we think that  
20 that is an effective tool, but it requires a  
21 lot of resources to do so.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Any other  
23 Councilmembers have any questions?

24 Councilman Kenney.

1 COUNCILMAN KENNEY: Thank you, Comm --  
2 thank you, Mr. Chairman.

3 Commissioner, I'd raised this issue with  
4 Parks and Rec and during the Budget Hearing  
5 Process. I'd like you to consider -- I know  
6 you are going to have another -- another  
7 role.

8 I want you to consider the possibility  
9 of on a voluntary basis with people who are  
10 currently incarcerated in our prison system  
11 who are vetted and who have a good  
12 disciplinary record with inside the facility  
13 to be utilized on a voluntary basis, paid ten  
14 dollars an hour to leave the facility every  
15 day with an ankle bracelet, not dressed in  
16 prison orange jumpsuit but in a regular  
17 working -- working attire to help us to clean  
18 up these neighborhoods and to collect this --  
19 this debris. And even folks that have  
20 recently been or left incarceration that may  
21 be looking for work or can't find it because  
22 their skill level isn't where it should be,  
23 to utilize those folks. Not -- not  
24 necessarily health benefits and pension, but

1 just to get some money in their pocket. And  
2 to have them out there in the community doing  
3 something positive to make them feel better  
4 about themselves, make the community feel  
5 better about them.

6 I really don't think we utilize those  
7 folks who rather than sitting on a state  
8 road, would rather be on a bus back in the  
9 neighborhood and doing something productive.  
10 So, I really do think that that's something  
11 we don't take as much advantage of as we  
12 should. And I would rather have those folks  
13 doing something productive making a dollar  
14 and helping clean up the neighborhood.

15 MR. WILLIAMS: Absolutely, Councilman.  
16 We will consider and work with Parks and Rec  
17 and appropriate parties, I guess, in the  
18 prisons to see if that's a viable option.

19 COUNCILMAN KENNEY: I know in Chicago,  
20 Mayor Dal -- Former Mayor Daley utilized that  
21 process very well. And I do think it makes  
22 folks -- the folks who were incarcerated or  
23 recently out of incarceration feel better  
24 about themselves.

1           Put them in an environment -- I  
2 understand there may be some union issues.  
3 But we are not laying anybody off to utilize  
4 these folks to help our neighborhoods. And  
5 if they work side by side with our people,  
6 they get a better work ethic, understand what  
7 it is to do a normal day's work as opposed to  
8 what got them in prison in the first place.

9           I really do think that we really need to  
10 utilize in a productive way those citizens of  
11 ours who happen to be incarcerated or  
12 recently were released. So, I would  
13 appreciate you getting back to the Chair or  
14 to Council President's office as to how that  
15 can be facilitated.

16           MR. WILLIAMS: Absolutely.

17           COUNCILMAN KENNEY: Thank you.

18           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Councilman Henon.

19           COUNCILMAN HENON: Thank you,  
20 Mr. Chairman. Good morning.

21           MR. WILLIAMS: Good morning.

22           COUNCILMAN HENON: Congratulations and  
23 good luck in your -- in your new future  
24 position.

1 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you, Councilman.

2 COUNCILMAN HENON: Reading through your  
3 testimony and just listening to you about,  
4 you know, regarding the cameras, you know,  
5 with the volunteers out there or cameras from  
6 the Department, I think it's a great idea.

7 And, you know, I hope that, you know,  
8 it's my intention that we can expand that,  
9 you know, through the Quality of Life, the  
10 CLIP Program that's up in the Northeast and  
11 having more -- more certified residents, you  
12 know, participating in being supportive and  
13 more, you know, with community engagement in  
14 their civic duties trying to assist not only  
15 the Streets Department but the Management  
16 Directors Department and hopefully L&I as we  
17 move forward.

18 Been in conversations, you know, offline  
19 with a few people with some good ideas. So,  
20 look forward to continuing to work with each  
21 of the departments, but I think, you know,  
22 the camera idea here and the Camera Program  
23 that you are utilizing right now, I think is  
24 certainly the direction that we -- we -- that

1 we should go in especially if we complement  
2 it with some of the extra help that, you  
3 know, Councilman Kenney has been saying.  
4 Because, you know, we have the opportunity  
5 for -- for people, you know, to assist in  
6 cleaning up our streets and giving back to  
7 the communities.

8 So, you know, there are some genius  
9 ideas out there. Some more -- more, I guess,  
10 you know, programs or suggestions that I  
11 think that the City seems to be willing to  
12 be, you know, wanting to work with folks in  
13 the future. So, bringing it back to the  
14 neighborhoods, keeping it in the  
15 neighborhoods and again, you know,  
16 benefitting the people who live here and  
17 helping the cities out when they are kind of  
18 cash strapped, you know, with resources I  
19 think is definitely the way to go, and  
20 support any initiatives that, you know, that  
21 I can come across, you know, that you bring  
22 to us in that regard.

23 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes, sir.

24 COUNCILMAN HENON: So, thank you.

1           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: We also been joined  
2 by Councilman Mark Squilla. Who -- I just  
3 want to acknowledge several months ago after  
4 we first got sworn in when I was down in the  
5 Councilman's District where he kicked off a  
6 Clean and Green Initiative with his District  
7 and had a variety of different City agencies  
8 there.

9           And one of the things that he talked  
10 about that was in line with some of the  
11 things that I had taken a look at as well is  
12 how do we focus on the enforcement component  
13 to kind of increase -- complement the efforts  
14 that all of you have already been doing.

15          So, before I turn it over to Squilla,  
16 can you just comment on from the illegal  
17 short dumping component, the process? Give  
18 me an idea of the numbers from the  
19 enforcement standpoint and how you actually  
20 go after those who illegally short dump  
21 whether it be private individual or resident  
22 or commercial person, just in general.

23          MR. WILLIAMS: Sure, Councilman. I  
24 would also ask that the -- either the

1 Neighborhood Services Division also comment  
2 on it.

3 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Sure.

4 MR. WILLIAMS: From the Police  
5 Department, if possible. Because they  
6 actually handle the arrest numbers and  
7 coordinate that with the DA's Office.

8 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Good.

9 MR. WILLIAMS: Because there are two  
10 procedures that we have. On my side with the  
11 SWEEP Officers, we issue code violations  
12 notices, which is a civil matter. And when  
13 we issue that citation, it is a citation that  
14 admits that you have committed it and that  
15 you want to pay a fine in lieu of going  
16 through the process. And so, you can either  
17 appeal that through the OAR, which is the  
18 Office of Administrative Review, and then you  
19 can get a fair trial whether you decided or  
20 whether you're able to, you know, prove your  
21 innocence or not.

22 In a criminal matter, there is actually  
23 a prosecution involved where there is witness  
24 statements, testimony and evidence that has

1 to be gathered and then presented by the  
2 District Attorney's office who then presents  
3 in front of a judge. And a decision is made  
4 as to what the penalty fined or confiscation  
5 of a vehicle is. So, there is two procedures  
6 that we currently have in place.

7 I can speak more of the side where the  
8 civil side is because that is where our code  
9 violations focus on. The DA's office and the  
10 Police Department probably can tell you a  
11 little bit more in detail on the history, the  
12 numbers and the process for that, as well.

13 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. Thank you.  
14 Councilman, Squilla.

15 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yes. Good morning.

16 MR. WILLIAMS: Good morning, Councilman.

17 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: It's been a  
18 pleasure working with you in the Streets  
19 Department since I been here in and even  
20 before that.

21 My question is a little bit different in  
22 noticing we were getting some complaints  
23 about -- I'm not sure what the procedure is  
24 or process of dumpsters. The dumpsters

1 are -- legal dumpsters that are picked up,  
2 but they're broken. The bottom is either  
3 broken out and there's trash being strewn all  
4 when they pick it up.

5 Is there -- is that an issue that we  
6 could -- is that something SWEEPs does or --

7 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes. Last year we wrote  
8 over 9,000 dumpster violations for situations  
9 that you just mentioned. Graffiti on  
10 dumpsters, it must be removed within a  
11 24-hour period. Repairs should be reported.  
12 Once we identify, we notify the hauler. They  
13 must come out also and repair it immediately  
14 or receive a citation from the City of  
15 Philadelphia for \$75.

16 Those are the type of fines that we've  
17 issued to those companies. So if it's a  
18 known problem, anyone who sees it should  
19 report it to our office through 311. And we  
20 will send a SWEEP Officer out there to  
21 definitely address it. We are on patrol  
22 every day. We have nine officers dedicated  
23 just for Center City. And most of the  
24 violations that they issue are dumpster

1 related.

2       So, City Council passed an ordinance  
3 about two years ago related to the issue of  
4 dumpsters, which all dumpsters now require --  
5 are required to register with the Department  
6 of License and Inspection and have a  
7 medallion so we can identify who the hauler  
8 is, to be sure that their license fee is  
9 paid. And that if there is a problem, that  
10 we can identify the hauler or the property  
11 owner as soon as possible.

12       COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: So, the hauler is  
13 the one who would be contacted in a case of a  
14 broken dumpster?

15       MR. WILLIAMS: Correct.

16       COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And they would  
17 receive the fine, the hauler would?

18       MR. WILLIAMS: That's correct. There  
19 are fines that can directly to the user of  
20 it.

21       For instance, if an improperly  
22 maintained dumpster, overflowing dumpster,  
23 the dumpster that is not secured where trash  
24 is overflowing out and rodents can get into

1 it, that is where we issue directly to the  
2 user of the dumpster.

3 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: All right. The  
4 other question is, normally with Philadelphia  
5 More Beautiful we used to do the clean ups  
6 and you have the, I guess, the trucks come by  
7 and water down the streets to help clean it  
8 up.

9 Is that something that we're going away  
10 from? Or is that something that we're still  
11 going -- I know we don't have as much  
12 equipment as we had in the past but.

13 MR. WILLIAMS: Right. As you know,  
14 Councilman, we did go through significant  
15 cuts in 2009. The Flusher Trucks we have  
16 four for the City. And we send them around  
17 to different locations to different  
18 neighborhoods on Clean Block Saturday.

19 Clean Block Saturday is when block  
20 captains register their block and commit to  
21 cleaning up three times a year in their  
22 neighborhood through a massive clean up. Of  
23 course, they clean every day and maintain  
24 their own properties, but this is a day where

1 all the residents get together and focus on  
2 community issues and block issues. They do  
3 that three times a year.

4 So, we think it's definitely an  
5 effective program because the more people  
6 that you get involved, the more eyes and ears  
7 you have on the street, the more people that  
8 you have concerned about the community and  
9 neighborhoods. And those desolate places  
10 that attract illegal dumping, those  
11 communities don't stand for it and they  
12 report it immediately, and we work hand in  
13 hand with them.

14 So, our block captains are probably one  
15 of our most precious resources that is we  
16 have in the City of Philadelphia because they  
17 are our eyes and ears on the street in  
18 locations that we can't get to.

19 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Because we have  
20 been contacted by some people who maybe  
21 don't -- they do it that day, but they might  
22 have something coming up on their street  
23 whether it's block party or something they  
24 would love to get the street cleaned up and

1 maybe a truck go by.

2 But is there any resources that we have  
3 where we can contact the Streets Department  
4 or somebody, like, three Saturdays from now,  
5 they are going to be doing a clean up on  
6 these three blocks are we able to get a truck  
7 out there to help assist in that, or is that  
8 just not possible?

9 MR. WILLIAMS: We can do that randomly.  
10 We can't do that on a scheduled basis because  
11 of the amount and demand for them. Four  
12 trucks to cover the city would be very  
13 difficult for us to service everyone. But we  
14 will do random locations where there is a  
15 major clean up or a community that's looking  
16 to have an entire area cleaned or quadrant in  
17 their community cleaned. We will certainly  
18 support that as much as we possibly can with  
19 the resources that we have.

20 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay. Thank you.  
21 Thank you very much for all your help.

22 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes, sir.

23 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just one last  
24 thing. Any other questions?

1           What I do want to follow up on so some  
2 concrete things can come out of this, and I  
3 mentioned to you the other day that, this is  
4 not so much to -- this is more of an  
5 assessment and see how we build off of it.

6           But probably one of innovative ideas I  
7 heard is the idea regarding Councilman's Jim  
8 Kenney's approach in terms of how do we look  
9 at individuals that are on state road,  
10 possibly to give them a stipend to kind of  
11 participate in this process. Of course, we  
12 are talking about nonviolent offenders,  
13 having them have an opportunity to  
14 participate and maybe some type of work  
15 release program where they can actually come  
16 out and participate in some of these cleaning  
17 initiatives.

18           I know we do it with the juveniles. I  
19 haven't heard about us doing it with  
20 individuals in our adult system. So, I think  
21 that is something innovative to take a look  
22 at. You know, it's kind of win-win from a  
23 public safety standpoint but also from a  
24 quality of life standpoint.

1           Again, thank you. I had no idea you  
2       were going onto greener pastures, but  
3       congratulations.

4           (Laughter)

5           MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you very much. I  
6       appreciate it. Thank you very much for your  
7       support.

8           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: No problem. Have a  
9       good one.

10          MR. WILLIAMS: I look forward to working  
11       with you.

12          (Applause)

13          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Next I would like  
14       to -- we have a representative representing  
15       Tom Conway from the CLIP Program.

16          How are you doing today?

17          MR. STOBER: Good.

18          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just state your  
19       name for the record.

20          MR. STOBER: Good morning, Chairman  
21       Johnson and Councilmen. My name is Andrew  
22       Stober. I'm here on behalf of Tom Conway  
23       today, performing in the role of Tom Conway.  
24       I hope you won't be seeking refunds for the

1 performance.

2 Tom is very sorry he couldn't be here  
3 today, but he asked me to speak to you about  
4 the efforts that the Community Life  
5 Improvement Program and the Mayor's Office of  
6 Neighborhood Services makes in regard to  
7 illegal dumping enforcement and also the  
8 Vacant Lot Program.

9 We talked with -- you had talked with  
10 Deputy Commissioner Williams earlier about  
11 the camera program. And it was CLIP who  
12 originated the Camera Program. We are  
13 pleased to see that the Streets Department  
14 will be expanding it. It's been a very  
15 effective tool both for the enforcement but  
16 also to serve as a deterrent for illegal  
17 dumping.

18 The program using solar powered cameras  
19 that are motion sensitive. They are mobile  
20 so we can move them to different locations,  
21 and they provide crisp and clear images of  
22 illegal dumping. They are able to clearly  
23 show a vehicle's license plate even in total  
24 darkness.

1           In partnership with the Police  
2   Department's Neighborhood Services Unit and  
3   support from the District Attorney's Nuisance  
4   Task Force, they have issued nearly 99 --  
5   they issued 99 \$300 traffic citations for  
6   illegal dumping and countless more illegal  
7   dumping has been deterred by these -- by  
8   these efforts.

9           Another enforcement tool that the  
10   Community Life Improvement Program has used  
11   is investigations that their inspectors  
12   perform regarding dumping on private  
13   property. And since January of 2011, nine  
14   violations have been issued through the CLIP  
15   Program for illegal dumping on City sidewalks  
16   and streets. Twenty-two violations have been  
17   issued through CLIP for those that illegally  
18   dump on property without the owner's consent.  
19   Fifty-five have been issued on for illegal  
20   dumping on an open or private lot.

21           As Deputy Commissioner Williams pointed  
22   out, the illegal dumpers do get smarter on  
23   us. They don't have identifying information,  
24   so they sometimes become harder to pursue.

1 But it's a use of our inspectors, and we do  
2 think it's important that the community know  
3 that we are out there, we're inspecting and  
4 we go after the folks when we can identify  
5 them.

6 Now, I'd like to talk a little bit about  
7 the Vacant Lot Program which is responsible  
8 for the education, enforcement and abatement  
9 of vacant lots in the city. The process that  
10 is used is really one that seek to maximize  
11 the limited resources that we have available  
12 by encouraging compliance by property owners.

13 So, once a vacant lot complaint is  
14 received through 311, an inspector is  
15 dispatched to document with pictures and  
16 writes notices of violations to all vacant  
17 lot owners on a block whose grass or weeds  
18 are above ten inches, or if the vacant lot is  
19 trashed with debris. The owner is provided  
20 with at least ten days to comply and clean  
21 and abate their land. A reinspection of the  
22 lot occurs after that compliance period.  
23 Those lots that have -- those that have  
24 cleaned their property, their cases get

1 closed and there's no further action taken.

2 City abatement crews are dispatched to  
3 clean properties found not to be in  
4 compliance. And as I said, we found this  
5 approach to be an effective and efficient way  
6 to deal with the abundance of vacant lots and  
7 illegal dumping on them that we have in the  
8 city. You know, we could just go block to  
9 block to block. We have to put some bounds  
10 on it. So when we get a call of just one  
11 complaint on a block, we make sure to check  
12 all of the -- all of the lots that are there  
13 and write those violations.

14 For the most recent Fiscal Year 2011,  
15 more than 10,000 -- nearly 10,500 vacant  
16 parcels were cleaned. City crews abated  
17 8,700 of those. So, that remaining -- that  
18 remaining more than 2,000 were handled by  
19 private property owners, the owners of those  
20 properties.

21 City crews -- here we go, of the  
22 crews -- of the parcels not cleaned by City  
23 crews, 1,553 of the property owners received  
24 a bill totaling more than \$300,000. And the

1 remaining parcels were either owned by Public  
2 Property or quasi-governmental agency. Of  
3 the 10,430 parcels cleaned, 16 -- more than  
4 1,600 were cleaned by the owners of the  
5 vacant lots. And the results were  
6 accomplished even with continuous funding  
7 cuts due to the economy.

8       There was a 20 percent decrease in  
9 personnel funding and a 70 percent decrease  
10 in funding for tools and supplies since FY09,  
11 yet we still managed to keep the levels where  
12 they are.

13       And I'd be happy to answer questions the  
14 best that I can.

15       COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Councilman Squilla.

16       COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yes. Good morning.

17       MR. STOBER: Good morning.

18       COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: My question, I know  
19 once we clean a lot, you do send them a bill  
20 for it.

21       Do we know how much of that is  
22 collected?

23       MR. STOBER: Yeah. We can get back to  
24 you on what the collection rate is for that.

1 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And if it's not  
2 collected, does it go lien against the  
3 property?

4 MR. STOBBER: I will confirm that for  
5 you, but I believe we do pursue liens.

6 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just for a point of  
7 information for my colleague in support of  
8 his question.

9 In 2010, the City sent 2,689 bills to  
10 private owners totally \$6,9 -- \$695,812 for  
11 private owners not cleaning their lots.  
12 That's the work that the City came in and  
13 cleaned. So, I guess on specifically what  
14 Councilman Squilla is asking, how much of  
15 that \$699,000 was actually collected?

16 MR. STOBBER: Right.

17 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Same thing for  
18 2011. The City sent out 1,533 bills to  
19 private owners totaling \$312,898. And how  
20 much of that amount was actually collected?  
21 That would be helpful.

22 MR. STOBBER: We will report that to the  
23 Chair.

24 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Councilman Kenney.

1 (Councilman shakes head.)

2 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: One thing that do  
3 stick out is the CLIP Program hasn't had a  
4 decrease in funding from 2009 until 2012, but  
5 still has been able to maintain a certain  
6 level of service from a quality and  
7 efficient -- efficiency standpoint, which is  
8 good.

9 MR. STOBBER: Yeah. And I would just say  
10 a critical component of that has been  
11 partnerships with community groups. So, just  
12 in this fiscal year alone which is coming  
13 close to an end, there have been more than  
14 600 groups that CLIP has partnered with.  
15 That is in addition to the -- to the work  
16 that the Streets Department is doing.

17 So, those community partnerships really  
18 play a critical role as funding decreases  
19 in -- in keeping up with the needs of the  
20 City.

21 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Couple other  
22 questions in support of my Councilman who  
23 isn't here, Councilman Green just for the  
24 record.

1           Where are the CLIP cameras located?

2           MR. STOBBER: We put them at illegal  
3   dumping sites. We wouldn't want to disclose  
4   those locations for obvious reasons. But  
5   when we have -- when we -- known problematic  
6   locations, and we move them around.

7           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Are there CLIP  
8   cameras at Mount Moriah Cemetery? I know  
9   every week they use massive man power from  
10   the City to go out there and actually do  
11   clean ups.

12          MR. STOBBER: Yeah.

13          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: And have there been  
14   dumping going on since we actually -- we  
15   haven't taken it over, but --

16          MR. STOBBER: Right.

17          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: We still are  
18   dedicating resources and man power to that  
19   particular cemetery.

20          MR. STOBBER: And we'll certainly get  
21   back to you on whether we have deployed them  
22   there. And if we haven't, it's something  
23   that we will look at because it would  
24   certainly make sense to be utilizing them in

1     that area.

2           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON:  Something I've been  
3     taking a long at from enforcement  
4     standpoint -- and when we start talking to  
5     the DA's office, I'll probably elaborate on  
6     it -- I have mentioned from the enforcement  
7     standpoint, beyond raising certain fines and  
8     certain categories, I'm definitely going to  
9     take a look at the raising of fines.

10          But also, when we do record -- when we  
11     do record the license plate or actually catch  
12     somebody in action, I know the law as it says  
13     right now is the City may confiscate the  
14     actual vehicle.  And I just think it needs to  
15     be a situation that if the evidence is there  
16     and you are actually caught on site, that the  
17     car gets confiscated as well as if you are  
18     doing any type of business with the City,  
19     business license should be suspended.

20          And really, that sends a stronger signal  
21     in terms of if you get caught doing A, B, C  
22     and D, then this is the consequences for it.  
23     As opposed to anything else in between.  I  
24     don't -- me personally, don't think it would

1 be effective from the private side of  
2 individuals just taking advantage of just  
3 dumping throughout the city.

4 MR. STOBBER: I would -- I would agree  
5 with you, Councilman. And it's also a good  
6 opportunity to remind folks that illegal  
7 dumping is a crime. And if you see that  
8 crime in progress, residents should be  
9 calling 911 to report it to the police.  
10 Obviously, the police are going to, you know,  
11 prioritize that among the other calls they  
12 have. But it's important that it's getting  
13 reported.

14 And if there is an officer in the area  
15 who can take action, those, you know, illegal  
16 dumpers are criminals. And they should know  
17 that the police are going to be looking for  
18 them.

19 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: For the record,  
20 Mr. Conway has been doing a good job. So any  
21 way that we can support him moving forward --

22 MR. STOBBER: He always does.

23 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: -- just let him  
24 know.

1 Councilman Squilla.

2 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yes. Before you  
3 go, I know the anti-graffiti is a big part of  
4 it, also.

5 MR. STOBBER: Yes.

6 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Which is very well  
7 received from the community groups and people  
8 do call that in and it does get done, which  
9 is amazing and it does make the City --  
10 sometimes you ride by and say, how come  
11 somebody didn't call that graffiti in. But  
12 you know, if you call it in, a week later  
13 it's gone. It's just a great feeling  
14 especially from people from the community.

15 And I do want to give accolades to the  
16 organization and the group and Tom himself  
17 for really going above and beyond the duty to  
18 try to help out. We want to work with him  
19 and work with you to make this even better.

20 MR. STOBBER: Absolutely.

21 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And I think we have  
22 a little ways to go, but I can see us getting  
23 there, so thank you.

24 MR. STOBBER: Yeah. We work from a

1 very -- a very strong base to make those  
2 improvements. Thank you.

3 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you.

4 (Applause)

5 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Next up we will  
6 have Karen from the Commerce Department.

7 Karen, can just state your first and  
8 last name for the record please.

9 Oh, Mr. Dow. How you doing, Kevin?

10 MR. DOW: How are you? I'm doing all  
11 right.

12 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How are you?

13 MR. DOW: I'm well. It's her show.

14 MS. FEGELY: Good morning, Mr. Chairman  
15 and Members of City Council. My name is  
16 Karen Fegely. And I'm the Director of  
17 Neighborhood Economic Development within the  
18 Commerce Department. Here with Kevin Dow,  
19 the Chief Operating Officer. I am here today  
20 to provide testimony for Bill No. 120223  
21 regarding programs to reduce litter on  
22 commercial corridors.

23 In surveys and in practice, trash is a  
24 major problem identified by the businesses

1 and shoppers in our neighborhood commercial  
2 corridors. Therefore, we believe it's also a  
3 deterrent to attracting new businesses and  
4 shoppers and a corridor and neighborhood  
5 revitalization.

6 In FY12, through a competitive RFP  
7 Process, Congress award 15 community-based  
8 organizations a total of \$782,000 of CDBG  
9 Funding to provide sidewalk cleaning and  
10 related services on 18 corridors. In the  
11 first six months, the outcomes included  
12 almost 20,000 bags of litter collected; 376  
13 bags of recyclables collected; 435 reports to  
14 311 on Quality of Life Issues; almost 3,000  
15 illegal signs removed; 644 incidents of  
16 graffiti removed; 90 dump tires removed and  
17 400 recycling bins distributed.

18 We are currently reviewing proposals to  
19 determine the next round of participants to  
20 receive funding and corridors to be cleaned.

21 In this year's RFP, we mandated that  
22 applicants show business support for the  
23 cleaning program and that a portion of the  
24 cost be covered with non-City funds. While

1 we expect a successful cleaning program will  
2 have less trash to pick up over time, we  
3 cannot assume that the need for sidewalk  
4 cleaning will ever go away. Thus, it will  
5 take ongoing funding commitment from the  
6 local business communities and the City to  
7 maintain clean corridors around the city.

8 Special Services Districts are one way  
9 for business and property owners to make this  
10 commitment. And we are assisting a number of  
11 organizations considering Neighborhood  
12 Improvement District Legislation. However,  
13 property values and density do not make this  
14 a viable option in all areas. And some  
15 existing Special Services Districts or  
16 potential No Districts would still require  
17 outside funds to subsidize their services.

18 Thank you for your consideration. Be  
19 happy to answer any questions.

20 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you, Karen  
21 Councilman Squilla -- Karen, just a couple  
22 questions, and the statistics looks pretty  
23 good thus far.

24 So, in this current year there would be

1 15 -- 15 awards granted to neighborhood-based  
2 organizations, correct?

3 I know you talked about having a level  
4 of businesses provide us some type of  
5 support. And I think what kind of spurred my  
6 additional interest in this component is that  
7 I was actually cleaning a corridor. And when  
8 I got finished cleaning the corridor with a  
9 group of people, I kind of recognized at the  
10 end of the day I just did the work that the  
11 business owners could have basically hired  
12 somebody from the neighborhood to come  
13 outside and do just as bang, good civic or  
14 get good business partners with the actual  
15 neighborhoods in which they are actually  
16 doing business in. Most of the owners don't  
17 even live in the neighborhood, so I kind  
18 of -- that's a whole different story. But at  
19 the same time, you still have to have a stake  
20 in where you actually do business at.

21 Give me an idea of what can, from your  
22 perspective -- and I think each neighborhood  
23 is different -- increase that level of  
24 accountability separate from the ticketing?

1 Because one component is actually doing the  
2 tickets. In front of your property, front of  
3 your business is dirty, I am definitely  
4 advocating for the warning to go and then  
5 next after that is the ticketing after it.

6 But beyond that, what other ways that  
7 you see or have seen from a best practice  
8 standpoint where business owners step up and  
9 actually participate?

10 MS. FEGELY: Right. You really need a  
11 multifaceted approach as in all hands on deck  
12 kind of thing. Where in addition to the work  
13 actually sweeping the street, you need the  
14 enforcement. You need education. And we  
15 need the work to foster pride for both  
16 businesses and residents that this is, you  
17 know, this is their community and they can  
18 keep it clean.

19 I think what has worked in some areas is  
20 actually starting to do it. Part of our work  
21 at the Commerce Department, we try to get  
22 businesses together. Help them form business  
23 associations, just having them come together  
24 and feel like they have some strength in

1 numbers and some common problems and common  
2 solutions as part of it.

3 And then if you can actually enact some  
4 cleaning programs, one of the reasons we said  
5 this year we really need to see that support  
6 is we don't want the community organizations  
7 out there cleaning up, the City is paying for  
8 it, and the businesses don't even realize  
9 it's happening. They start to take it for  
10 granted. We want to see that they know it's  
11 happening, that they are appreciating it,  
12 that they notice a difference the day  
13 somebody sweeps and the day somebody doesn't.

14 And we feel like that will get them to,  
15 hopefully, step up to either start doing it  
16 themselves, right, making up the difference  
17 on the off days where they should go out and  
18 sweep their front or they should start  
19 putting in some inkind services, you know,  
20 offering their dumpsters for the trash bags  
21 or actual cash to help pay for the program to  
22 keep going.

23 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just one last  
24 question. Now, I know in terms of supporting

1 the neighborhood organizations, you know,  
2 Community Development Block Grants, CDBG  
3 money, has been short, significantly reduced.

4 Does that funding come through OHCD or  
5 that goes directly to the Commerce  
6 Department?

7 MS. FEGELY: All the CDBG Funding comes  
8 through OHCD.

9 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: OHCD.

10 MS. FEGELY: A portion of it is set  
11 aside for Community Economic Development.  
12 And so the Commerce Department manages those  
13 line items.

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. I am just  
15 thinking on a whole different level. I know  
16 we always have a congressional delegation  
17 that represents the City of Philadelphia and  
18 represents our State. And seeing how do we  
19 get them to be on board as stakeholders from  
20 an advocacy standpoint, kind of City/Federal  
21 Government partnership as we move forward to  
22 expand those efforts where groups are allowed  
23 to participate in keeping their corridors  
24 clean.

1 But you have any questions, Mark, before  
2 I turn it over?

3 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: One question. The  
4 applications, I guess, that is applied on by  
5 the Commercial Corridor or the Community  
6 Group, is that reviewed by you and decided by  
7 a Board decided on what is funding --

8 MS. FEGELY: So, Commerce Department,  
9 when we put out an RFP, we put together a  
10 review committee. It's usually a few  
11 Commerce staff and then some other  
12 stakeholders. So in this case, someone from  
13 the Streets Department, I believe Phoebe  
14 Coles was on the review panel. We bring in a  
15 few different experts to help us review.

16 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And when will the  
17 RFP be put out again?

18 MS. FEGELY: So, we are reviewing  
19 proposals that we received for funding that  
20 starts on July 1.

21 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Right.

22 MS. FEGELY: So, we will be announcing  
23 those shortly, those awards. The next  
24 Funding Cycle will begin next July 1. The

1 RFP will probably be issued in, like,  
2 November or December.

3 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay. Thank you.

4 MS. FEGELY: Sure.

5 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you very  
6 much, Karen. Next up is Maura Kennedy.

7 How you doing today? Can you please  
8 state your name for the record before you  
9 start to testify.

10 MS. KENNEDY: I'm Maura Kennedy for the  
11 Department of Licenses and Inspections.

12 Good morning, Councilman Johnson and  
13 Members of the Committee. Today I am here to  
14 provide testimony on Resolution 120223, which  
15 addresses the topic of illegal dumping and  
16 littering in Philadelphia's business  
17 corridors.

18 The litter, garbage and debris found on  
19 sidewalks and business corridors throughout  
20 Philadelphia creates a public health issue  
21 for residents, detracts from the vitality of  
22 Philadelphia neighborhoods and impacts public  
23 perceptions of the city. Current  
24 Philadelphia ordinances provide penalties for

1   littering and illegal dumping on public and  
2   private property and obligate businesses to  
3   maintain their premises free of litter.

4           Under 10-716 of The Philadelphia Code  
5   the Department of License and Inspection is  
6   authorized and empowered to notify the owner  
7   or agent of any open or vacant premises, to  
8   remove and dispose of litter on the premises.

9           Beyond this, in recent years, the  
10   Department has engaged in several successful  
11   business corridor census surveys to improve  
12   code compliance throughout the City.

13   Inspectors went to business corridors where  
14   they provide education materials in multiple  
15   languages to business owners for the  
16   processes needed for proper permitting and  
17   licenses as well as appropriate maintenance  
18   requirements in accordance with The Code.

19           In FY10, the Department visited over  
20   1,400 of these businesses located in  
21   commercial corridors. Additionally, in FY11  
22   the Department conducted over 10,000 business  
23   compliance inspections. The Department als  
24   executed a Delinquent License Program in FY11

1 intended to inspect over 66,000 business  
2 licenses that have unpaid fees of more than  
3 one year past due. The Department believes  
4 these efforts will resolve issues associated  
5 with illegal dumping and littering along our  
6 business corridors.

7 Beyond these proactive efforts, the  
8 Department maintains a Clean and Seal Unit  
9 that upon request will clean and seal vacant  
10 and open residential properties. In FY11,  
11 Clean and Seal crews mitigated over 1,500  
12 vacant structures. The combination of  
13 proactive and responsive efforts is designed  
14 to notify owners of their responsibilities  
15 under the Property Maintenance Code. And in  
16 limited ways, take actual abatement action.

17 Thank you for the opportunity to speak  
18 with you all today. I am happy to answer  
19 questions at this point.

20 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you very  
21 much, Ms. Kennedy.

22 Councilman Squilla.

23 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Good morning.

24 MS. KENNEDY: Good morning.

1           COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Or good afternoon.  
2   My question is obviously with the clean and  
3   seal and the process that goes along with  
4   that.

5           Is it -- do you believe that we have so  
6   many properties out there that takes just a  
7   long time to be able to get these properties  
8   sealed?

9           MS. KENNEDY: Actually, this  
10   Administration has made tremendous strides in  
11   order to reduce the set time. In 2007, it  
12   took ten months to get a property sealed.  
13   Now we are averaging about ten days. The  
14   delay in terms of actually getting the  
15   property sealed is our requirements to notify  
16   the owner. We can't actually bill the owner  
17   for abatement actions just like CLIP unless  
18   we give the opportunity to have them take the  
19   abatement actions themselves first.

20          So, we have to jump through the legal  
21   hoops of notifying them. Only when they fail  
22   to take action, can we take the abatement  
23   action which would be cleaning and sealing  
24   the property.

1 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And then once it's  
2 sealed, the bill does go out to the owner?

3 MS. KENNEDY: Yes. So, it does get  
4 placed as a lien to the property. And we are  
5 beginning the process of taking lots to  
6 sheriff sale for unpaid nuisance lands.

7 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: What is -- how much  
8 have we billed property owners in the last  
9 year for cleaning and sealing? Do you know  
10 how many units?

11 MS. KENNEDY: I don't have that figure,  
12 but I would be happy to provide it.

13 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay. That would  
14 be great. And just in the number of units  
15 that properties that have been cleaned and  
16 sealed and how much we have billed and  
17 collected, if possible.

18 MS. KENNEDY: Sure. We have -- I can  
19 tell you that we did abate 1,500 properties  
20 last year for clean and seal. But I'll  
21 figure out the cost and follow up with the  
22 Chair.

23 Thank you.

24 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And the new pilot

1 program, I guess it's out there now. I guess  
2 it's city-wide with the streets -- I mean,  
3 Windows and Door Bill.

4 MS. KENNEDY: Right.

5 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: It seems like  
6 that's getting a lot of action.

7 Have you actually taken anybody to court  
8 for that at this point?

9 MS. KENNEDY: Yes, we have. We have  
10 been having court for about six months now.  
11 I am happy to say that we have about a 35  
12 percent compliance rate in terms of people  
13 actually putting in windows and doors. And  
14 then we have had over a hundred other people  
15 sell their properties to someone else rather  
16 than face those potential fines.

17 We have collected over \$600,000 to date  
18 in terms of unpaid taxes, fines and permit  
19 fees.

20 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: From just the  
21 Windows and Door Bill?

22 MS. KENNEDY: Yes.

23 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Can you apply to  
24 the, I guess, to the Chair also the number of

1 properties that have been, I guess, tagged  
2 with the Windows and Door, the new pink  
3 zoning notice there?

4 MS. KENNEDY: Sure.

5 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: And then the  
6 breakdown, like you said, of 100 properties  
7 sold so we can actually get a good number of  
8 how this is working. Because --

9 MS. KENNEDY: I'd be happy to.

10 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: I believe it's a  
11 great way to get people to move on their  
12 properties. And has this been challenged in  
13 Court as far as the owners coming in?

14 MS. KENNEDY: It has. And we have  
15 succeeded. So, we've been having tremendous  
16 cooperation and support from the Law  
17 Department, and they provided us excellent  
18 counsel.

19 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay. Great.  
20 Thank you so much.

21 MS. KENNEDY: Thank you.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
23 Ms. Kennedy. Just one question.

24 In terms of L&I, you have the power to

1     revoke a business privilege license in the  
2     event that they are caught for illegal short  
3     dumping.

4             Do we have a number on business  
5     privilege license that have been revoked?

6             MS. KENNEDY: I don't have that on me  
7     currently, but I would be happy to follow up  
8     and provide it.

9             COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. And one last  
10    question in terms of vacant properties that  
11    have -- well, not so much vacant.

12            But if you have landlords that have  
13    particular properties and illegal short  
14    dumping is taking place whether it be in the  
15    front or the back, what type of actions can  
16    be taken against the landlord to hold them  
17    responsible to make sure that they are  
18    maintaining clean property as well from a  
19    responsible standpoint?

20            MS. KENNEDY: You are correct. We do  
21    cite the owner of the property where the  
22    short dumpings occurred. In the scenario you  
23    proposed, it would be the owner of that  
24    property, which is the landlord. If they did

1 not comply with our notifications, i.e., you  
2 know, clean up the short dumping site, then  
3 we would take them to Court and seek  
4 potential fines and other remedies.

5 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. And one last  
6 thing. In terms of legal due process for  
7 those type of property owners, when you come  
8 out, they have a site that's unclean or  
9 undesirable. Just explain how that process  
10 worked before you're able to just shut that  
11 whole process down. I mean, rather we take  
12 their property, rather we take some type of  
13 action against their property.

14 Walk me through the process. Like,  
15 first you notify them, then they don't take  
16 action. Then what?

17 MS. KENNEDY: Right. So, we go out and  
18 inspect the property. See if there's a  
19 violate there. If there is, then we send the  
20 owner a notification. You know, depending on  
21 what we find, the time periods vary in terms  
22 of response time that the owner has.  
23 Generally, it's about 30 days. Then we  
24 follow a procedure of if -- we give them

1 three opportunities. If they don't comply by  
2 the third time, that is when we send them to  
3 Court. It would be a period of about 90  
4 days.

5 At that point, if it's a -- an open  
6 violation or an open house or a vacant house  
7 or somewhere where there's not an owner,  
8 that's when we would take abatement action.  
9 If it's an occupied structure, our whole, you  
10 know, thrust as a Department is really  
11 holding that owner responsible.

12 If someone lives there, if someone  
13 occupies the structure, they really need to  
14 take the steps to clean up that property.  
15 And our goal would be to hold them  
16 responsible and force them to do it.

17 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Councilman Squilla.

18 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: As far as the  
19 occupied property, I notice we had some  
20 issues where it's an abandoned building but  
21 you have a person living in the house --

22 MS. KENNEDY: Right.

23 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: -- when you go  
24 there. What is the process at that point?

1 MS. KENNEDY: That is actually  
2 trespassing. So again, that would be a  
3 police matter. So, we work with the police  
4 to get that occupant out and have that legal  
5 mad matter sorted. Then L&I can take steps  
6 to go in and clean and seal the structure and  
7 board it up again.

8 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: So, you do contact  
9 the Authority to have -- the Police  
10 Department to have them come down and remove  
11 them before we go through and seal the  
12 property?

13 MS. KENNEDY: Right. But if people see  
14 squatters, they should call 911. That would  
15 be the best course of action.

16 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay. Thank you.

17 MS. KENNEDY: No problem.

18 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
19 Ms. Kennedy.

20 MS. KENNEDY: Thank you.

21 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Next up we have  
22 Phoebe Coles, Keep Philadelphia Beautiful.

23 Ms. Coles, could you please state your  
24 name for the record, please.

1 MS. COLES: Good morning. I'm Phoebe  
2 Coles with Keep Philadelphia beautiful.

3 Good morning, Councilman Johnson,  
4 Councilman Squilla. It's my pleasure to add  
5 content to this very important conversation  
6 about clean communities.

7 I'm Executive Director of Keep  
8 Philadelphia Beautiful. We are a 501 C3.  
9 And we are an affiliate of Keep America  
10 Beautiful, which means that we are aligned  
11 with 500 plus organizations across the nation  
12 that focus on litter abatement, waste  
13 reduction and community improvement or  
14 beautification.

15 Through our network of affiliates, we  
16 share best practices for addressing each of  
17 those focus areas. Our guiding principle is  
18 that clean communities begin with individuals  
19 taking responsibility for their own waste  
20 disposal choices. I am very happy to say  
21 that in Philadelphia we have a lot of Best  
22 Practices to share with the country. City  
23 departments such as the Streets Department  
24 with PMBC, the Managing Directors Office,

1 with CLIP and License and Inspections have  
2 all been Best Practices that -- all have Best  
3 Practices that have made a difference in the  
4 community cleanliness. Add to these  
5 government programs private programs such as  
6 the Horticultural Society and Mural Arts  
7 Programs, and Philadelphia is definitely  
8 showing the nation a cleaner more beautiful  
9 way to live.

10 Just last year Mayor Nutter was honored  
11 by Keep America Beautiful with a National  
12 Vision for America Award.

13 Locally, for Keep Philadelphia  
14 Beautiful, our role has been to address  
15 litter abatement through prevention, cleaning  
16 and maintenance. We take special effort to  
17 work with our schools in Philadelphia,  
18 providing free programs to -- for public and  
19 private schools. We have, in the last year,  
20 worked with over 100 schools to establish  
21 recycling programs and litter free school  
22 zones.

23 Many of our school projects start with  
24 litter, but then expand into community

1 efforts such as Corridor Messaging Projects  
2 about plastic bag litter and recycling  
3 efforts.

4       On the community level, we work with  
5 civic organizations, business associations,  
6 community-based organizations and individuals  
7 to help them create or maintain an improved  
8 vision for their community. It has always  
9 been our goal to work with the communities in  
10 a holistic ways including all citizens who  
11 utilize community assets to live, work and  
12 play.

13       Over the past three years, Keep  
14 Philadelphia Beautiful has worked with the  
15 Commerce Department's Corridor Improvement  
16 Program and their grantees to help them come  
17 together to plan what they want their  
18 corridors to look like. Two major efforts  
19 have come from this collaboration and really  
20 have been very obvious, which is awareness of  
21 the laws that are already in place and  
22 resources to improve the appearance.

23       Awareness of many, many issues and one  
24 of the things that we see is that the

1 businesses continually work to communicate  
2 and organize on those issues.

3 Of the corridor groups that I have met  
4 with, only two have really been educated  
5 about the 1017 Ordinances. Thank goodness  
6 for the SWEEPs Office who often will go on  
7 the corridor and educate the business owners  
8 and also hold special meetings for the  
9 business owners to do this education. It  
10 actually has been a very effective strategy.  
11 As you know, SWEEPs Officers can write  
12 tickets, but education is definitely their  
13 first defense.

14 Keep Philadelphia Beautiful has also  
15 brought National Best Practices to aid the  
16 corridors in the introduction of the Litter  
17 Index. Since 2008, the Litter Index has been  
18 conducted by the Streets Department Clean  
19 Block Officers. This visual scale gives us  
20 an immediate snapshot of what is happening on  
21 the corridors at various times and days.  
22 This year, I've been training the corridors  
23 themselves to be able to do this process, to  
24 use this tool as an effective way to work on

1 their cleaning contracts.

2 Out of these we've also found various  
3 projects that the Corridors can use to get  
4 community buy-in, develop business  
5 ambassadors and spread their message. A few  
6 of the things that I have done specifically  
7 with Corridors is one for 52nd Street, we  
8 donated brooms and shovels and things to  
9 clean up the street to all of the business  
10 owners that were interested in participating  
11 in Corridor Cleaning.

12 For Logan CDC, they had Broad Street as  
13 their territory. We helped sponsor banners  
14 for installing pride in the neighborhood for  
15 last week's Broad Street Run.

16 In Lower Moyamensing, which is known as  
17 LoMo, we implemented our Cigarette Litter  
18 Campaign, which they used for bars and  
19 restaurants. Actually, that is the first  
20 time I met Councilman Squilla.

21 And then for North 5th Street, we are  
22 working with them and Olney High School  
23 students to do an art contest for their Big  
24 Bellies to be wrapped about the community and

1 pride on North 5th Street.

2       These projects are important because  
3 they show people that there are people caring  
4 about those spaces and watching what happens  
5 there. Keep America Beautiful studies have  
6 shown that clean communities are safer  
7 communities. And because litter and trash  
8 actually indicates the amount of vigilance  
9 that is going on in that community. In other  
10 words, when people see a clean space, they  
11 know they can't treat that space any kind of  
12 way. That extends to graffiti dumping and  
13 all of those.

14       In the last five years, Keep  
15 Philadelphia Beautiful has worked with  
16 communities to address illegal dumping  
17 through resource coordination and clean up.  
18 However, our first tactic has always been to  
19 educate and inform people. So, our first  
20 public service announcement that we ever did  
21 as an organization reforming was with Pat  
22 Croce about illegal dumping and encouraging  
23 people to report dumpers in their community  
24 through 911 and the Neighborhood Services

1 Unit.

2 To a larger -- in a larger coordinated  
3 effort, we have actually worked with Keep  
4 Pennsylvania Beautiful on a statewide illegal  
5 dumping survey. Over the last two years, we  
6 have had people actually walk the streets and  
7 look for dump sites, survey what's in the  
8 dump sites. And we are now getting ready to  
9 end our survey. We have done all of the  
10 green spaces.

11 So next our State Program will be  
12 holding in July a state-wide stakeholder  
13 meeting to talk about enforcement. One of  
14 the things that we really understand is that  
15 enforcement is a key component of any  
16 education and prevention programs.

17 The City agencies are excellent at  
18 remediating litter and dumping once it's on  
19 the ground, but the real option is really to  
20 prevent it from being there in the first  
21 place. Prevention efforts have to become  
22 more obvious. A need for strong messaging  
23 and dedicated enforcement as well as  
24 dedicated judicial processes are a must. To

1     that end, I have three suggestions.

2             One is that we have more enforcement  
3     officers in place to write tickets. The  
4     police should also have a more highly visible  
5     role in enforcing litter especially.

6             Two, that we streamline the judicial  
7     process. The fining and adjudication needs  
8     to be consistent. One of the National Best  
9     Practices of Keep America Beautiful is an  
10    environmental Court in Tennessee. This Court  
11    hears all of the environmental issues related  
12    to jurisdictions across Tennessee. And I  
13    think that's an important thing as  
14    Ms. Kennedy spoke about how much License and  
15    Inspection is bringing in. Their process is  
16    totally different than the Streets Department  
17    process, which is totally different than the  
18    Police Department process. Some of the  
19    things that we know is that financially  
20    looking at all of these processes together,  
21    you start to see that if a judge sees a case  
22    that is not really familiar with why litter  
23    is such an important issue in the community,  
24    that judge may not fine or may not, I don't

1 know the word, but may not adjudicate that  
2 process as clearly as a judge who has that as  
3 a docket, a permanent docket. So, we really  
4 advocate for community courts or  
5 environmental courts.

6 And the last thing is to do a really  
7 high profile publicity campaign. When you  
8 catch dumpers, put their face everywhere.  
9 Take their stuff. Put them out in public and  
10 let people know that we are looking for them.

11 I welcome the opportunity to support  
12 your efforts in making Philadelphia cleaner,  
13 greener, safer and ultimately a more prouder  
14 city.

15 Thank you.

16 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
17 Ms. Coles.

18 Councilman Squilla.

19 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yeah. Do you have  
20 suggestions for, like -- I know we have  
21 SWEEPs out there that when people litter on  
22 the pavement, they can give the resident or  
23 the property owner a ticket. But I have  
24 never seen anybody get a ticket for littering

1 in my days. And I don't know if they do or  
2 not.

3 But do we need the police to emphasize  
4 that more?

5 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I did.

6 MS. COLES: You got a ticket?

7 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I have seen -- I  
8 have seen people get ticketed in my day as a  
9 young man for, you know, littering. It was  
10 more of quality of life approach to public  
11 safety. So if you get caught, you know, open  
12 air beer in your hand or littering, it was  
13 used as a public safety tool to kind of crack  
14 down and get people off the corner.

15 I'm just saying I saw it.

16 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: That's good. I am  
17 glad you saw that. I think we should maybe  
18 do a little bit more of that. If word gets  
19 out there that if you throw trash in the  
20 street or -- nothing is worse than sitting  
21 behind a car that has a bag of trash, and  
22 they throw it out the window when you are  
23 right behind them.

24 MS. COLES: Absolutely.

1 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: I mean, if we can  
2 make examples of some of those folks, people  
3 will start thinking about it. Right now, we  
4 have plenty of laws on the books.

5 MS. COLES: Absolutely.

6 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: But we don't  
7 enforce them. If we start enforcing and  
8 making examples, then I believe that we will  
9 do it. Now, I understand some of the Police  
10 Department and Quality of Life Issues, there  
11 are a lot more important crimes out there to  
12 worry about. But the crime starts with  
13 littering and trash and graffiti and these  
14 other things that lead to bigger things.

15 If we can start at the beginning of it,  
16 then we just need maybe to get some more work  
17 with the authorities to say, all right, let's  
18 start enforcing some of this. And I think it  
19 will go a long way if you get \$100 ticket for  
20 littering. Or if you get a \$300 ticket for  
21 not picking up after your dog. Word will  
22 spread. People will be mad about it, but  
23 they might not do it again.

24 MS. COLES: I agree. Word will spread

1 and people will be mad about it.

2 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yeah.

3 MS. COLES: And they may not do it  
4 again.

5 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: They may call our  
6 office, too.

7 MS. COLES: That's -- that's -- that's  
8 another part of this issue is people being  
9 able to call and plead their case.  
10 Specifically, when people call and say we  
11 need some enforcement, I specifically ask the  
12 person who is calling to make sure that  
13 everyone in the neighborhood is aware that  
14 enforcement is coming. And that if the one  
15 resident that you don't want to get the  
16 ticket --

17 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Gets one.

18 MS. COLES: -- gets one, then either you  
19 need to help them pay that. But you called  
20 enforcement, so don't ask for the ticket to  
21 be called off. I think that's a really  
22 important message, as well.

23 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: There is fair due  
24 process. So, if people don't believe they

1 get something fairly, they can go argue that  
2 in front of the judge and see where that  
3 goes. But majority of the people may pay  
4 that. Or even if they do beat it, they may  
5 be a little more careful.

6 MS. COLES: Right.

7 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: About doing that  
8 again. So, I want to thank you for your work  
9 and what you have done. And looking forward  
10 to working with you in the future.

11 MS. COLES: Thank you, sir.

12 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
13 Ms. Coles. Ms. Coles, just a couple question  
14 questions.

15 In terms of the initiative and you  
16 partner with different neighborhood groups,  
17 how many of those groups have you partnered  
18 with, the process for partnering with those  
19 particular groups? And also give me an idea  
20 from an education standpoint, you talk about  
21 litter free zones in the context of working  
22 with children.

23 What does that look like, as well?

24 MS. COLES: Well, partnering with

1 neighborhoods, the process is they call me  
2 and ask me. Depending on what the resources  
3 are that they are looking for, we have such  
4 excellent resources already in the City.  
5 It's really just sort of pulling back the  
6 veil and saying, oh, this is a Streets  
7 Department, SWEEPs Department, PMBC, L&I and  
8 whoever handles that.

9 Typically, that is kind of the start to  
10 the conversation. Then there may be need to  
11 come out, need to do things to promote the  
12 community. They might need something like  
13 help with community garden or any of those  
14 kind of -- paint or anything like that. We  
15 really just try to help resource for projects  
16 that they already want to do.

17 There are so much organizations in the  
18 City already, which is a real source of pride  
19 for me. That usually it's just about giving  
20 a couple of different things to help them  
21 move forward and what they're visioning for  
22 the community.

23 As far as the School's process is  
24 concerned, we do Litter Free Zone programming

1    which really starts with a presentation at  
2    the school.  An identified group of students  
3    who actually will be ambassadors in the  
4    school for the program.  Meaning, they will  
5    promote the program.  They will get more  
6    education about the program.  And they will  
7    recruit other students to be involved.  Then  
8    when the weather permits or as the weather  
9    permits, they actually are giving cleaning  
10   supplies and asked to go and keep their  
11   school grounds clean.

12        Some schools have done internal work.  
13   Some schools have done internal and external  
14   work.  But we primarily look at the  
15   schoolyard as the basis for where they want  
16   to keep their area clean.  Our experience has  
17   been that from that process, they often like  
18   to go into the neighborhood and say  
19   participate in the Mayor's Philly Spring  
20   Clean Up.  Or they want to go and talk to  
21   businesses about plastic bags and reducing  
22   the amount of plastic bag litter.  Or they  
23   want to go do presentations for their parents  
24   or whatever.

1           It's to me one of the main tactics that  
2 we really need to look at because we have so  
3 much good remediation is prevention. And  
4 that really starts with messaging and working  
5 with people that are younger.

6           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: So, you talked  
7 about enforcement. So, we can say dump  
8 trash, go to jail. Make it real simple.

9           Thank you for being here. And it's a  
10 nice segue into Neighborhood Services  
11 Philadelphia Police Department. Sergeant  
12 Spires, if you will please come to the  
13 podium. Thank you, Ms. Coles.

14           MS. COLES: Thanks for having me.

15           (Policemen approach witness table.)

16           SERGEANT SPIRES: Good morning,  
17 Councilman.

18           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Hey, good morning.  
19 Thanks for being here today. Just state your  
20 name for the record, please.

21           SERGEANT SPIRES: I'm Sergeant Frank  
22 Spires, Philadelphia Police Neighborhood  
23 Services Unit.

24           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you. If you

1 can give an overview, Sergeant, regarding  
2 your operations as it relates to Quality of  
3 Life issues, specifically illegal short  
4 dumping, the littering, some good statistics  
5 thus far. Or just give an overview on where  
6 you are at in terms of operation-wise.

7 SERGEANT SPIRES: Sure. We get a call  
8 from your office to gather some stats  
9 together for today's meeting.

10 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

11 SERGEANT SPIRES: So, I defer to Mary  
12 who I -- is my right-hand person. She'll  
13 give you all the stats.

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you, Mary.

15 MS. BIBOW: Good afternoon, Councilman.  
16 My name is Mary Bibow with the Philadelphia  
17 Police Department Neighborhood Services Unit.  
18 The Abandoned Vehicle Unit was formed in  
19 April 2000 and the Environmental Response  
20 Unit was consolidated creating Neighborhood  
21 Services Unit in October of 2001. This  
22 consolidation brought units that dealt with  
23 Quality of Life and Blight Issues under one  
24 umbrella. The Neighborhood Services Unit was

1     formed to support in this program by ensuring  
2     prompt removal of abandoned vehicles, the  
3     apprehension of short dumpers, graffiti  
4     writers and the enforcement of City  
5     ordinances relating to regulations of  
6     individual conduct and activities such as  
7     littering on vacant lots, overgrown weeds and  
8     the value of residences and businesses to  
9     maintain their premises free of litter.

10           The Neighborhood Services Unit is a  
11     member of the Traffic Division. And  
12     therefore, is frequently utilized for major  
13     events that occur in the City. Because of  
14     our City-wide responsibilities, we are not  
15     responsible to specific community groups.  
16     Therefore, Neighborhood Services Unit  
17     responds to any request from District  
18     Commanders for assistance.

19           Neighborhood Services Unit provides  
20     assistance to the Philadelphia More Beautiful  
21     Committee from the Managing Directors Office.  
22     We also work closely with the District  
23     Attorney's Office Nuisance Task Force and the  
24     Managing Directors Office CLIP Program

1     issuing tickets to individuals that are  
2     caught on camera for short dumping.

3             The Neighborhood Services Unit has a 35  
4     percent decrease in officers assigned since  
5     July of '07. And the productivity and  
6     responsibilities that the Unit takes on has  
7     not diminished. It has only increased. Due  
8     to this decrease, the enforcement of City  
9     ordinances is now being enforced by police  
10    personnel, district level. However, our Unit  
11    still continues to conduct and distribute  
12    training materials City-wide by request of  
13    the Commanders to train personnel in code  
14    violation notices and support in handling any  
15    complaints.

16            Beginning in 2010, that issue is now  
17    deployed to Patrol. That is all uniformed  
18    officers both working on an Administrative  
19    Level and the Captain's office. The above  
20    numbers reflect the effects in our Unit as  
21    support unit with the primary function of  
22    enforcing Blight and Quality of Life Laws and  
23    Ordinances. Although, an issue is currently  
24    below minimum manpower to staff our current

1 job description and require detailed staff  
2 City-wide by our Department, our Unit still  
3 finds a way to maintain productivity in all  
4 areas of Blight and Quality of Life Issues.  
5 If there are not enough uniform police  
6 officers available to fill positions, then  
7 the plain clothes officers who do the  
8 surveillances for short dumping and graffiti  
9 will put their uniforms on and fill these  
10 positions.

11       Quality of Life and Blight Issues are a  
12 full-time responsibility that left on the  
13 back burner will create the same problems  
14 that ultimately led to the formation of this  
15 Unit. Since July of '07, there has been a  
16 steady increase on the amount of concerns of  
17 citizens of Philadelphia in reference to  
18 Quality of Life and Blight Issues. Our main  
19 mission and goal is to have enough manpower  
20 to man our objectives, especially to make our  
21 City a safer, healthier and cleaner place to  
22 live, work and visit.

23       Thank you for your time. And we'll be  
24 available for any questions, both myself,

1 Sergeant Spires and Police Officer Robert  
2 McCoy.

3 SERGEANT SPIRES: Councilman, I brought  
4 Officer McCoy with me. He is one of my plain  
5 clothes officers that now has been reassigned  
6 to Patrol Function. So, he's one of my  
7 officers that goes out and does all the  
8 investigations.

9 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Sure.

10 SERGEANT SPIRES: He'd be happy to  
11 speak, also.

12 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you.  
13 Officer, can you take the podium. Just a  
14 couple questions.

15 Obviously, if you don't have the  
16 significant manpower to kind of meet the  
17 demand as it relates to request to address  
18 some of these issues, I can see how it can  
19 have an impact. But from a numbers  
20 standpoint -- and I see in 2001 and 2002  
21 arrests went up from 201 to 344. But I also  
22 notice -- I guess, this maybe based upon  
23 manpower -- for short dumping arrests,  
24 gradually, well, it fluctuated then decreased

1 in 2006 to 28 arrests; 2009, 37; 2010, 35.

2 And then 2011, 28; and in 2012, 2.

3 And so you contribute the decrease to --  
4 would that be the level of manpower?

5 MS. BIBOW: Yes.

6 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. Now two  
7 arrests, though, that is just like two  
8 people. How come it dropped, like,  
9 significantly all the way down?

10 OFFICER MCCOY: The reason that it  
11 dropped significantly all the way down is  
12 last year we were detailed out. And when we  
13 came back, we had a surge. And what happens,  
14 we controlled the whole city. I'm all over  
15 the city, southwest, wherever. Wherever  
16 there is short dumping and we have problem  
17 ares.

18 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just yourself?

19 OFFICER MCCOY: No. We have other  
20 people.

21 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How many?

22 SERGEANT SPIRES: Four.

23 OFFICER MCCOY: Four.

24 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay.

1           OFFICER MCCOY: We patrol the whole city  
2 looking for prospects of shot dumping all  
3 over the city. When you are doing  
4 surveillance, it's kind of hard. Like the  
5 problem that we have now, when I came back  
6 last year, we had big jobs. We had the job  
7 done on Delaware Avenue where they were  
8 dumping the tires on the oil refinery.

9           What was that company?

10          MS. BIBOW: Beach Street.

11          OFFICER MCCOY: Beach Street. What was  
12 the name of that company? But that made the  
13 Daily News. And what happens when we get  
14 detailed out -- or say I'm out investigating  
15 and I'm on the job. I'm investigating. I'm  
16 trying to find these perpetrators that are  
17 short dumping all over the city.

18          I ride out Southwest. Over there, for  
19 some reason, there have been a splurge in  
20 dumping tires. And --

21          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: 71st Street?

22          OFFICER MCCOY: Yes. I can't do  
23 anything about that because I'm detailed out  
24 now. When I'm out there, I mean, we try as

1     hard as we can to catch these guys and all  
2     that kind of stuff. I tell people all the  
3     time, when we get calls or when we get  
4     complaints, 95 percent of those jobs are  
5     handled and people are satisfied. But if I'm  
6     not there, I can't satisfy you. When you put  
7     me back and forth, I mean, it's kind of hard  
8     to really get in the flow of it.

9             Because if I'm investigating something  
10    and you call up and I'm investigating  
11    somebody jumping tires on your block, and all  
12    of a sudden I'm detailed somewhere else, I  
13    can't do the job effectively.

14            COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

15            OFFICER MCCOY: Then it's just like  
16    anything else, people kind of look down on  
17    the fact that because it's short dumping.  
18    Until it happens to them, well, nobody is  
19    really interested. But when you get into  
20    looking for these people, it's almost having  
21    a warrant for somebody and -- you get a hot  
22    trail, you have to stay on it. Then when I  
23    come in Sergeant telling me, well, Rob,  
24    you're going to be detailed to do this

1 tomorrow or, Rob, you're going to be detailed  
2 to do that. It kind of makes it hard for you  
3 to stay in the flow. It's just like this,  
4 once they're dumping, you got them. Majority  
5 of the time when we lock them up, 95 percent  
6 get convicted. No one gets off. That's  
7 because of the intelligence that we gather  
8 and all that. Majority of the time when we  
9 go to court, 95 percent of them get loc -- I  
10 mean, get found guilty.

11 And we -- the other thing I found out, I  
12 been doing this over ten years in this Unit.  
13 Another thing I found out and I wasn't doing  
14 before, we started actually taking their  
15 vehicles. When we started taking their  
16 vehicles, it hurt them even more because it's  
17 hurting their pocket because they can't go  
18 around picking up junk anymore. And the City  
19 keeps the car until they go to court.  
20 Sometimes that might take six months to a  
21 year. So, they are out of business for that  
22 whole commission.

23 I don't know if you know about 49th and  
24 Grays.

1 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

2 OFFICER MCCOY: They got cameras out  
3 there, too.

4 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: That's my District.

5 OFFICER MCCOY: The majority of the  
6 arrests been in South and Southwest Philly.  
7 They have cameras out there, too. The  
8 cameras are okay. All they get for the  
9 cameras are CVNs. But when you're taking  
10 their vehicles and you're locking them up,  
11 that puts them out of business for a whole  
12 year. I can say to you today before we got  
13 detailed, 49th and Grays wasn't getting hit  
14 anymore like it was. And on day work, it's  
15 hard to find.

16 Just like any criminal, once they find  
17 that you got a pattern and they know you out  
18 there during the day, you got to be able to  
19 switch it up. You got to have flexibility.  
20 Because they know now, well, they go home at  
21 four o'clock. So, after four o'clock, we  
22 good to go. So -- and I been doing this for  
23 ten years. And he will tell you, last year I  
24 came back. And I -- every day, just about, I

1 was getting an arrest. And the only way that  
2 you can do that is you have to be out there.

3 I love the City of Philadelphia. I'm a  
4 person that does the graffiti, too. When I  
5 go out here and I'm riding down 95 and I see  
6 the graffiti right across from the Art Museum  
7 on the train tracks on them walls and all  
8 that, when I'm riding down 95 and see it on  
9 the signs and all that, I mean, we  
10 investigate that. And I'm on it. But you  
11 can only do but so much when you are limited.

12 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Do me a favor.  
13 State your name for the record, if you don't  
14 mind.

15 OFFICER MCCOY: Robert McCoy.

16 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. Officer  
17 McCoy.

18 OFFICER MCCOY: Yes.

19 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: So, the vehicles  
20 that are caught illegal dumping are  
21 confiscated.

22 OFFICER MCCOY: Yes, sir.

23 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Great. Now, part  
24 of what I will -- put these Hearings together

1 was for to be supportive for this process.

2 So, I will do a follow up to see, you know,  
3 how can we be supportive from increasing the  
4 manpower efforts. And I know right now under  
5 tough financial strains as a City, I get it.  
6 But usually in situations like this, when you  
7 talk about priorities.

8 OFFICER MCCOY: Yes.

9 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: When the tires --  
10 let's say, if someone illegally dumped tires.  
11 Those tires are set on fire, then something  
12 drastic happens, then the media want to come  
13 and say, wait a minute, what happened. Then  
14 the whole -- the spotlight is shined on the  
15 issue of illegal dumping.

16 So if we can be proactive and really  
17 make the case that this is much as a priority  
18 as anything else, because it's always usually  
19 when something has happened and you kind of  
20 want to sit back and say, well, if we had a  
21 little bit more we can do A, B, C, and D.  
22 And that's not really y'all fight. It's  
23 really information we take back from a  
24 Council standpoint and take a look at what we

1 think are the needs and priorities in the  
2 City. This is something we have to get a  
3 handle on just moving forward just in  
4 general.

5 I do commend you for your work. I am  
6 very familiar with the issue of illegal tires  
7 being dumped in Southwest because that's a  
8 part of my District. I actually was Upland  
9 Street off of 71st Street. I do commend  
10 those efforts, as well.

11 I have no other. That's it. Thank you  
12 very much, Sergeant for being here today.

13 OFFICER MCCOY: Thank you, sir.

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: You're welcome.

15 Last, can we have Mr. Andrew Sharp from  
16 PennFuture to please take the stand.

17 (Mr. Sharp approaches witness table.)

18 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Good morning,  
19 Andrew.

20 MR. SHARP: Good morning, Councilman  
21 Johnson.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How have you been?

23 MR. SHARP: Pretty good.

24 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: That's good. It's

1 good to hear that. State your name for the  
2 record, Andrew.

3 MR. SHARP: Sure. My name is Andrew  
4 Sharp. I am the Philadelphia Outreach  
5 Coordinator for PennFuture, which is a  
6 statewide environmental advocacy  
7 organization. I am also the Coordinator of  
8 the Next Great City Initiative. We are a  
9 coalition of over 130 groups in Philadelphia  
10 from civic groups, labor, faith, sort of a  
11 whole host of groups dedicated to making  
12 Philadelphia the Next Great City and -- by  
13 advocating for common sense cost effective  
14 policies, good strength in neighborhoods,  
15 enhance environmental quality and increase  
16 our economic competitiveness, generally.

17 I'm here to talk about an issue that  
18 effects every neighborhood in the City. And  
19 that's litter and short dumping. Litter is  
20 not a sexy issue. Some consider it merely an  
21 eyesore, but its impacts are really  
22 pervasive. Litter effects our economy, harms  
23 our environment and damages our  
24 neighborhoods.

1           Everyone who lives, works or even visits  
2 Philadelphia has a stake in our City's litter  
3 problem. From an economic standpoint, litter  
4 costs our country \$12 billion annually. Here  
5 in Philadelphia, cleaning up litter costs ten  
6 times that of standard trash pick up. In  
7 addition to clean up costs, litter lowers  
8 property values, contributes to blight and  
9 detracts from tourism. The presence of  
10 litter in a community decreases property  
11 values by about 7 percent according to the  
12 National Home Builders Association.

13           From an environmental standpoint, litter  
14 endangers water quality in the aquatic life  
15 that we depend on here. No matter where  
16 litter starts whether it's on the streets, in  
17 parks, it often ends up in our streams and  
18 our rivers and our waterways. Statistics  
19 says about one in five pieces of litter ends  
20 up in our waterways.

21           Perhaps most significantly, litter harms  
22 our neighborhoods. It contributes to blight.  
23 It fosters crime. And it really contributes  
24 to a general atmosphere of disorder.

1 Research has shown that people become more  
2 disobedient in an environment plagued by  
3 litter and graffiti. They can be tempted to  
4 trespass, steal or even litter if they  
5 perceive that the environment and it's okay  
6 to break rules. Such as when litter laws are  
7 just flagrantly ignored.

8 Research and experience tell us that  
9 litter attracts the eye and actually attracts  
10 more litter. But it also tells us that a  
11 clean community discourages litter. So  
12 proper handling of litter raises the  
13 standards and expectations throughout the  
14 community, whether you are a business owner,  
15 an employer, a property owner, a visitor, a  
16 leader or an elected official like yourself,  
17 we all have a hand in this problem. And we  
18 all can make a difference in litter reduction  
19 in Philadelphia.

20 Thanks. And I'd be happy to take any  
21 questions.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Sure. Thank you,  
23 Andrew. And thank you for taking time out of  
24 your schedule to provide testimony, as well.

1 Give me an idea, Andrew, of the organizations  
2 that you actually partner with, the  
3 stakeholders that you actually partner with  
4 as it relates to the Next Great City  
5 Initiative.

6 MR. SHARP: Sure. As I said, you know,  
7 we have groups, civic groups from Frankford  
8 to Graduate Hospital, Point Breeze, several  
9 New Bold Neighbors Association in your  
10 district. We have faith groups. We have  
11 labor, AFL/CIO, District Council 47, NAACP.  
12 Sort of a whole hosts of groups all sort of  
13 unified around an agenda for City Council  
14 that revolves around, as I said, sort of  
15 making our City cleaner, greener, safer and  
16 more economically competitive.

17 I would bring to your attention, and I  
18 spoke with staffers in your office, about an  
19 event we're having on June 27. A Litter  
20 Stakeholder Discussion. We are working with  
21 Keep Philadelphia Beautiful, Phoebe's  
22 organization and the Next Great City  
23 Coalition, a Recycle Now Alliance. A sort of  
24 whole hosts of organizations. We are hoping

1 to bring together folks in the community and  
2 across sort of governmental agencies: L&I,  
3 perhaps the Streets Department. Just bring  
4 everyone together, sort of talk about the  
5 issue and understand what our current  
6 enforcement policies are and how they can be  
7 improved.

8 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Can you make  
9 sure -- and I did get the e-mail from you.  
10 For yourself, and I was thinking about Phoebe  
11 as well when she did the presentation, that  
12 our offices -- we are involve. And we'll  
13 make sure we'll be supportive as much as we  
14 can from our aspect.

15 MR. SHARP: I have spoken with Steve  
16 about it and with Michelle in your office.

17 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Cool. Thank you.  
18 If Michelle has it, that means it's on the  
19 schedule.

20 MR. SHARP: Yes.

21 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: And the other  
22 component similar to what Phoebe just did in  
23 her presentation, it's important to have  
24 representation from the community side that

1 is nongovernment, there is no relationship.  
2 There is no interest. It's just strictly Joe  
3 Citizen just coming forward and saying this  
4 is our advocacy as a concerned citizen.

5 What are your top three recommendations  
6 that you think would be most helpful in  
7 making sure we have a, more importantly, not  
8 just a greener city but a cleaner city?

9 MR. SHARP: I would sort of echo what  
10 Phoebe said in terms of it has to be sort of  
11 a two-pronged approach, both with education  
12 and outreach but also, you know, a stronger  
13 enforcement angle. Because, you know, that  
14 is something that, you know, if there is no  
15 teeth behind the laws, then, you know, why do  
16 they exist essentially.

17 So we think, essentially, it's a  
18 two-pronged approach. We also agree that  
19 there does need to be, you know, perhaps a  
20 short term campaign but a very visible  
21 campaign, you know, to notify those people  
22 who do short dumping, to put their face on  
23 the Daily News. You know, if they are repeat  
24 offenders -- I heard stories of people that

1 are caught dumping three times in one day.  
2 To me that person's face should be on the  
3 cover of the Daily News because they are  
4 harming our community and they are just  
5 blatant about it. You know, we don't want --  
6 we don't to ticket folks. We're not here to  
7 punish people, but we do want to enforce our  
8 laws.

9 This stuff does -- as I said, it  
10 contributes to our environmental quality.  
11 And ultimately, you know, it fosters crime as  
12 I said. This really is sort of a systemic  
13 issue.

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I definitely agree.  
15 I think also there is that broken window  
16 theory. That says once you begin to not  
17 ticket a particular area, begins to  
18 perpetuate a systematic sense of violence or  
19 a lack of, I don't care about a particular  
20 area. And I remember -- forgot what  
21 neighborhood I was in. I am born and raised  
22 in South Philly.

23 So, I went to one block in the  
24 neighborhood that was exceptionally clean.

1 And you just knew that the homeowners on the  
2 block basically took care of the block. Not  
3 so much just city related, but people taking  
4 ownership of their block. And that's why  
5 it's really such a crime when you have  
6 someone taking advantage and come dumping on  
7 the block in the middle of night. If there  
8 is abandoned lots or abandoned building, it  
9 kind of take advantage of those particular  
10 areas.

11 So, when I am out in the street, you  
12 will get an earful from people saying these  
13 folks keep coming to dump. And we trying to  
14 encourage them to take a picture. Don't  
15 confront them yourself, but call a cops. But  
16 try to find a way to deter that type of  
17 behavior.

18 Thank you, Andrew, for being here today.  
19 Thank you very much.

20 MR. SHARP: Thank you, Councilman.

21 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I was informed that  
22 someone from the public would like to also  
23 give public testimony, as well. You can come  
24 forward. Please state your name for the

1 record.

2 MS. VANSTORY: Good afternoon. My name  
3 is Vivian VanStory.

4 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How you doing,  
5 Ms. VanStory?

6 MS. VANSTORY: How are you, sir.

7 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Doing pretty good.  
8 Thanks for coming today.

9 MS. VANSTORY: You're doing a good job.  
10 Pleased to meet you.

11 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you very  
12 much.

13 MS. VANSTORY: I am hear testifying --  
14 go ahead. You want her to speak first?

15 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just have her state  
16 her name for the record, as well.

17 MS. ROBINSON: Judith Robinson.

18 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: How are you doing,  
19 Ms. Robinson?

20 MS. ROBINSON: Fine.

21 MS. VANSTORY: I'm here to speak on Bill  
22 No. 120223 on the first phase. The community  
23 of North Central Philadelphia in the 20th  
24 Hundred Block of North 20th Street, address

1 is 1511 North 20th Street, L&I, I would ask  
2 that you look at the new house there. The  
3 whole area there is a new development. A  
4 family member died. The person that they  
5 made the will out, died. The son is in jail.  
6 The house is being broken into.

7 The Quality of Life for that area and  
8 the people that are paying for their houses  
9 are wondering why did they move here.  
10 They've called L&I. They boarded it up.  
11 Someone broke into it. My issue is, with  
12 this Bill they need to try to include houses  
13 that are abandoned. New homes --

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just real quick.  
15 One second, ma'am. Are you doing testimony  
16 regarding litter short dumping?

17 MS. VANSTORY: I'm doing testimony for  
18 the Quality of Life Issue, period. That is  
19 just one I wanted to talk about when the L&I  
20 person spoke about what they needed to  
21 include in trying to sustain the community  
22 there for the housing piece. Well, you know  
23 that's not only the housing that are the  
24 brick houses that, you know, the people break

1     into.  It's a new house that's being -- I'm  
2     out of order?

3           COUNCILMAN JOHNSON:  You are not.  Go  
4     ahead.

5           MS. VANSTORY:  And I just wanted to  
6     mention that piece when they look at  
7     something.  Because this lady, her name is  
8     Ms. Thomas.  She lives next door.  She's  
9     really upset about that particular house.  
10    And the other houses, the old houses they are  
11    looking at, but this is new house that was  
12    imminent domain.  And they got it because  
13    they had a house, and now it's being -- it's  
14    being broken into.

15          It's being stripped.  And they have been  
16    fined.  We want to know how could they fix  
17    that problem.

18          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON:  Sure.  Can we ask  
19    you to do this.

20          MS. VANSTORY:  Sure.

21          COUNCILMAN JOHNSON:  My staff member  
22    right here name is Steve Cobb.  Give him the  
23    exact address and the information, your first  
24    name, your last name and your actual phone

1     number. And then we will work with you to  
2     follow with the proper individuals with L&I  
3     so we can look into it.

4           MS. VANSTORY: Thank you so much. Now,  
5     I want to testify and congratulate Carlton  
6     Williams on his Commissioner L&I. And I  
7     think we will have a better cleaner, safer,  
8     healthier city with him in the head.

9           Community Land Trust Organization is a  
10    community-based, grass root organization that  
11    is formed by the people for the people in  
12    order to form that more perfect union. We  
13    have worked with the Streets Department under  
14    the Directive of Carlton Williams and become  
15    sustainable over the years because of that  
16    effort. Working with block captains,  
17    cleaning streets, the materials they give us,  
18    working with the Managing Directors Office  
19    with the bags of cleaning and during the  
20    summer with the three weeks of Philadelphia  
21    More Beautiful.

22           The become -- to stay sustainable here  
23    in Philadelphia you have to deal directly  
24    with the people -- the people that live there

1     because we are your eyes and ears. And we  
2     would like to create a program that they get  
3     a stipend that will help them become  
4     sustainable.

5             And we would like to thank you for the  
6     opportunity here in America to speak to tell  
7     the truth here. Thank you so much.

8             COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you very much  
9     for being here today. Again, it's always  
10    pleasant to have individuals that are not  
11    affiliated with government. Individuals who  
12    are just citizens coming and -- come and  
13    provide testimony from their perspective.  
14    Because at the end of the day, I believe that  
15    government is bottom up and not top down. So  
16    often we approach it top down. But at the  
17    end of the day, it's truly bottom up. And  
18    that's how you get to where you want to go in  
19    general in order to get anything done from an  
20    advocacy standpoint.

21            It's interesting -- I really can't speak  
22    to the stipend standpoint, but I always kind  
23    of recognize that, you know, a lot of block  
24    captains do a whole lot of the community

1 organizing and a lot of the work that  
2 actually takes place in our community. But,  
3 you know, their work definitely doesn't go  
4 unnoted.

5 So, I do thank you for being here.

6 MS. ROBINSON: Good afternoon. My name  
7 is Judith Robinson. I'm here to testify on  
8 Bill No. 120223. This is about short dumping  
9 on business corridors, I understand, but  
10 since trash blows and flows all over the  
11 community, I am going to just add some  
12 insight as the Director of Susquehanna Clean  
13 Up Pick Up.

14 We are an environmental education group.  
15 And we also deal with land maintenance  
16 through the program that was mentioned  
17 earlier, Land Care Program. So we really  
18 have our ears to the ground, so to speak, as  
19 it relates to this issue.

20 One of our partners was the State of  
21 Pennsylvania where we receive as a result of  
22 our efforts an Illegal Dumping Grant. I call  
23 it Anti-illegal Dumping Grant because it  
24 helped us identify those short dumping areas

1 in our community that were a major problem.

2 And we did various things to abate those  
3 problems in our community.

4 First, we did use block captains as our  
5 sort of ears and eyes in the community to  
6 help us get the license plates for some of  
7 those vehicles that were short dumping on the  
8 lots that we maintain. So, that was quite a  
9 bit of help for us to have them work with us.  
10 And we really suggest that they get some  
11 focus, so to speak, because over the years of  
12 Philadelphia More Beautiful has been in  
13 existence, block captains have really been  
14 able to build relationship and pass  
15 information along to the communities.

16 So, I am going to suggest that we  
17 continue on that. And an area that I think  
18 can help us with enforcement is to have  
19 additional SWEEP Officers. I know that funds  
20 are low and there are so many different  
21 competing needs. But the SWEEP Officers who  
22 are very close to the problem, who know over  
23 and over again that one or two people in an  
24 area are the illegal dumpers, I think they

1 can better help us enforce and step up our  
2 penalties because they see that it's the same  
3 group of people.

4 For instance, we have illegal dumping by  
5 residents over and over again. I'm sure if  
6 you check 311, the site at Lambert -- I'm  
7 sorry, Woodstock and Susquehanna Avenue, it's  
8 just an ongoing dump site. Our trash day is  
9 Wednesday. By Wednesday afternoon it starts.  
10 And by the weekend, it's a dump site. A  
11 major heap on a major commercial corridor.

12 So, I'm really looking for some relief  
13 beyond calling 311 over and over and over  
14 again and having those fines not increase to  
15 the same people. I really think it maybe  
16 needs to be increased when there is ongoing  
17 recidivism, so to speak.

18 We at Susquehanna Clean Up Pick Up do  
19 forums to engage our youth. We know that  
20 information flows sort of from children to  
21 parents in a lot of instances. We work with  
22 youngsters to encourage them not to litter  
23 and to take that message home to their  
24 parents who probably are some of the

1 residents who bring their trash out of their  
2 homes when it's too much inside and leave it  
3 on the corner. So, any effort that would go  
4 into our schools to do a anti-litter campaign  
5 would be really appreciated because I think  
6 the youth when they get that message early  
7 will carry that message into their homes.

8 One of my suggestions would be a  
9 marketing campaign. When there is a big city  
10 clean up, there is a lot of shine, if I can  
11 use vernacular. I would like to maybe spread  
12 that over 365 days of the year to encourage  
13 our community not to litter, not to bring  
14 trash out of their homes.

15 And some type of informational,  
16 educational marketing campaign such as --  
17 there was a booklet created by City of  
18 Philadelphia called the "Good Neighbor  
19 Booklet." It's a little old now because it  
20 has old Council peoples name, et cetera in  
21 it. But something like that that we can hand  
22 out to citizens that are a little out of  
23 order, something that we can engage them in  
24 conversation that won't be a negative. It's

1 a cute little booklet. It's a good way of  
2 starting that conversation.

3 On the commercial corridors, if the  
4 businesses that do takeout had some kind of a  
5 campaign or little brochure that they can  
6 offer to their repeat customers who eat  
7 breakfast, lunch and dinner at these  
8 establishments, if they got a little booklet  
9 to say, listen, when you finish with your  
10 container -- I mean, you do have to tell some  
11 adults, put it in a trash can. Something to  
12 that effect I think would be a value.

13 But pretty much a marketing campaign, an  
14 education campaign, informational education  
15 campaign and enforcement are the areas I  
16 think would better help us handle this  
17 problem which we know will not be wiped out  
18 completely ever, but I am sure we can put a  
19 dent in trying to reduce it.

20 I thank you so much for the opportunity  
21 to come here today regarding this problem.

22 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you for being  
23 here. Don't go anywhere yet. Say your name  
24 again, ma'am.

1 MS. VANSTORY: My name is Vivian  
2 VanStory. And I'm President of the Community  
3 Land Trust Corporation. And we are a  
4 Community Housing Development Organization,  
5 CHODO. We are certified with OHCD as an  
6 environmental organization.

7 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Where are you  
8 located?

9 MS. VANSTORY: We're located exactly at  
10 1500 West Thompson Street, Solar Energy  
11 House. We burn solar wood. We advocate  
12 energy efficiency, Quality of Life, education  
13 from the '80s, clean water. We work with  
14 clean air. We are grass root around Temple  
15 University. I would like to enter this  
16 brochure for sustainable commune here for the  
17 testimony here today. Any entity that is  
18 environmentally friendly, we work with you.

19 Thank you.

20 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you very  
21 much.

22 MS. ROBINSON: Thank you.

23 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Your testimony  
24 provided additional insight on how we can

1 better coordinate and collaborate and work  
2 together with government and public  
3 partnerships as you move forward.

4 MS. VANSTORY: For the record, we always  
5 worked with it. But it wasn't ever known for  
6 Managing Director, the Streets Department, if  
7 it wasn't for them, we wouldn't be  
8 sustainable for decades.

9 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

10 MS. VANSTORY: For the materials they  
11 let us use and services that we called, they  
12 answer directly. And the graffiti man from  
13 CLIP, that has been a God blessed. You call  
14 and seven days -- they know me be Vivian.  
15 Just ask them.

16 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: We want to thank  
17 Mr. Carlton Williams and the CLIP Program and  
18 L&I for their hard efforts from the  
19 Administration and the City's standpoint.  
20 And we look forward to building as we move  
21 forward to make this a higher priority. I  
22 kind of heard the message pretty clear from  
23 the enforcement standpoint, the education  
24 standpoint, the need for being innovative and

1    how we go about doing cleaning whether it  
2    being partnering with those are nonviolent,  
3    getting them involved and cleaning up of our  
4    communities from a community service  
5    standpoint as well as the surveillance piece.

6           I think the more all the actual agencies  
7    from the government standpoint or the  
8    community standpoint is equipped with  
9    resources, that is another way that you  
10   elevate the level of priority and  
11   effectiveness in addressing this issue.

12           MS. VANSTORY: Yes. Excuse me, sir.  
13   You know, when you start calling names, you  
14   forget. I been working with the Department  
15   of Corrections, the Department of Probation  
16   since the 1990s they started. Every day I  
17   get about ten or sometimes five people from  
18   Coleman Hall to come and help. We get  
19   community service.

20           That's how -- so when you start, I  
21   forget -- I don't want to start missing all  
22   of my partners. Because if it wasn't for  
23   them, the men mowed 13,441 square feet of  
24   land in one day. I give them one to one.

1 It's like I am paying them if you do this, I  
2 need it done before Mother's Day, all day  
3 long just give them a bottle of water. God  
4 has blessed us with peach trees, berry trees  
5 that bloom four feet high. If we didn't take  
6 care of the land, we would be living -- all  
7 kinds of trees environmental friendly. We  
8 have marble that we have recycled from this  
9 brick center of houses that are tore down.

10 So we've been a part of all types of  
11 environmental issues. Thank you, sir.

12 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I am going to wrap  
13 up, that's not my district. But I think I am  
14 going to take a trip up there to come and see  
15 you.

16 MS. VANSTORY: Be glad to tour you.

17 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Kind of let my  
18 colleague know I am coming to get some Best  
19 Practices for some of the areas in South  
20 Philly where I grew up.

21 Thank you very much for being here. And  
22 I thank everyone for their testimony. This  
23 concludes the Public Hearing for the  
24 Legislative Oversight Committee on illegal

1 short dumping and littering amongst  
2 commercial corridors.

3 Thank you very much.

4 (Legislative Oversight Committee Public  
5 Hearing ends at 12:59p.m.)

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

| A                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>abandoned</b> 56:20<br>74:18 75:2 94:8<br>94:8 96:13<br><b>abate</b> 30:21 51:19<br>101:2<br><b>abated</b> 31:16<br><b>abatement</b> 30:8<br>31:2 49:16<br>50:17,19,22<br>56:8 58:12<br>59:15<br><b>ability</b> 9:20<br><b>able</b> 12:5,18<br>19:20 25:6<br>28:22 34:5 50:7<br>55:10 61:23<br>69:9 83:18<br>101:14<br><b>Absolutely</b> 14:15<br>15:16 38:20<br>67:24 68:5<br><b>abundance</b> 31:6<br><b>accolades</b> 38:15<br><b>accomplished</b><br>32:6<br><b>accountability</b><br>42:24<br><b>acknowledge</b> 18:3<br><b>act</b> 7:15 11:18<br>12:6<br><b>action</b> 31:1 36:12<br>37:15 49:16<br>50:22,23 52:6<br>55:13,16 56:8<br>57:15<br><b>actions</b> 50:17,19<br>54:15<br><b>action-wise</b> 10:17<br><b>activities</b> 75:6<br><b>actual</b> 36:14<br>42:14 44:21<br>49:16 97:24<br>107:6<br><b>add</b> 7:15 58:4<br>59:4 100:11<br><b>added</b> 9:8 | <b>addition</b> 5:21<br>34:15 43:12<br>88:7<br><b>additional</b> 6:2<br>42:6 101:19<br>105:24<br><b>Additionally</b><br>48:21<br><b>address</b> 2:19 5:7<br>7:7 8:5,13 9:20<br>11:15,22 12:3<br>21:21 59:14<br>63:16 78:17<br>95:24 97:23<br><b>addresses</b> 12:1<br>47:15<br><b>addressing</b> 2:16<br>58:16 107:11<br><b>adjudicate</b> 66:1<br><b>adjudication</b> 65:7<br><b>Administration</b><br>50:10 106:19<br><b>Administrative</b><br>19:18 76:18<br><b>admits</b> 19:14<br><b>adult</b> 26:20<br><b>adults</b> 104:11<br><b>advantage</b> 14:11<br>37:2 94:6,9<br><b>advocacy</b> 45:20<br>87:6 92:4 99:20<br><b>advocate</b> 66:4<br>105:11<br><b>advocating</b> 43:4<br>87:13<br><b>affect</b> 4:20<br><b>affiliate</b> 58:9<br><b>affiliated</b> 99:11<br><b>affiliates</b> 58:15<br><b>AFL/CIO</b> 90:11<br><b>afternoon</b> 50:1<br>74:15 95:2<br>100:6 102:9<br><b>agencies</b> 2:19 3:1<br>5:7 6:3 18:7<br>64:17 91:2<br>107:6 | <b>agency</b> 32:2<br><b>agenda</b> 90:13<br><b>agent</b> 48:7<br><b>ago</b> 11:9 18:3<br>22:3<br><b>agree</b> 37:4 68:24<br>92:18 93:14<br><b>ahead</b> 95:14 97:4<br><b>aid</b> 7:11 61:15<br><b>air</b> 67:12 105:14<br><b>aligned</b> 58:10<br><b>Alliance</b> 90:23<br><b>allowed</b> 45:22<br><b>als</b> 48:23<br><b>amazing</b> 38:9<br><b>ambassadors</b><br>62:5 72:3<br><b>America</b> 58:9<br>59:11,12 63:5<br>65:9 99:6<br><b>amount</b> 6:6 25:11<br>33:20 63:8<br>72:22 77:16<br><b>Andrew</b> 27:21<br>86:15,19 87:2,3<br>89:23 90:1<br>94:18<br><b>angle</b> 92:13<br><b>animals</b> 11:2<br><b>ankle</b> 13:15<br><b>announce</b> 2:7<br><b>announcement</b><br>63:20<br><b>announcing</b> 46:22<br><b>annually</b> 5:24<br>88:4<br><b>answer</b> 32:13<br>41:19 49:18<br>106:12<br><b>anti-graffiti</b> 38:3<br><b>Anti-illegal</b><br>100:23<br><b>anti-litter</b> 103:4<br><b>anybody</b> 15:3<br>52:7 66:24<br><b>anymore</b> 82:18<br>83:14 | <b>appeal</b> 19:17<br><b>appearance</b> 60:22<br><b>Applause</b> 27:12<br>39:4<br><b>appliances</b> 4:8<br><b>applicants</b> 40:22<br><b>applications</b> 46:4<br><b>applied</b> 46:4<br><b>apply</b> 52:23<br><b>appreciate</b> 15:13<br>27:6<br><b>appreciated</b><br>103:5<br><b>appreciating</b><br>44:11<br><b>apprehension</b><br>75:3<br><b>approach</b> 7:8 8:7<br>10:16 11:15<br>26:8 31:5 43:11<br>67:10 73:15<br>92:11,18 99:16<br><b>approaches</b> 86:17<br><b>approaching</b><br>10:19<br><b>appropriate</b><br>14:17 48:17<br><b>April</b> 74:19<br><b>aquatic</b> 88:14<br><b>area</b> 9:18 25:16<br>36:1 37:14<br>72:16 93:17,20<br>96:3,7 101:17<br>101:24<br><b>areas</b> 5:3 7:7,19<br>7:21 9:15 10:12<br>41:14 43:19<br>58:17 77:4<br>94:10 100:24<br>104:15 108:19<br><b>ares</b> 79:17<br><b>argue</b> 70:1<br><b>arrest</b> 7:17 12:19<br>19:6 84:1<br><b>arrests</b> 78:21,23<br>79:1,7 83:6<br><b>art</b> 62:23 84:6 | <b>Arts</b> 59:6<br><b>aside</b> 45:11<br><b>asked</b> 28:3 72:10<br><b>asking</b> 33:14<br><b>aspect</b> 91:14<br><b>assessment</b> 26:5<br><b>assets</b> 60:11<br><b>assign</b> 9:16<br><b>assigned</b> 7:3 76:4<br><b>assist</b> 8:12 16:14<br>17:5 25:7<br><b>assistance</b> 75:18<br>75:20<br><b>assisting</b> 41:10<br><b>associated</b> 49:4<br><b>Association</b> 88:12<br>90:9<br><b>associations</b><br>43:23 60:5<br><b>assume</b> 41:3<br><b>atmosphere</b> 88:24<br><b>attend</b> 8:11<br><b>attention</b> 90:17<br><b>attire</b> 13:17<br><b>Attorney's</b> 20:2<br>29:3 75:23<br><b>attract</b> 24:10<br><b>attracting</b> 40:3<br><b>attracts</b> 89:9,9<br><b>authorities</b> 68:17<br><b>Authority</b> 57:9<br><b>authorized</b> 48:6<br><b>authorizing</b> 2:13<br><b>available</b> 30:11<br>77:6,24<br><b>Avenue</b> 80:7<br>102:7<br><b>averaging</b> 50:13<br><b>award</b> 40:7 59:12<br><b>awards</b> 42:1<br>46:23<br><b>aware</b> 69:13<br><b>awareness</b> 60:20<br>60:23<br><b>a.m</b> 1:7 |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | <b>B</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>B</b> 36:21 85:21<br><b>back</b> 14:8 15:13<br>17:6,13 32:23<br>35:21 54:15<br>71:5 77:13<br>79:13 80:5 81:7<br>83:24 85:20,23<br><b>bag</b> 60:2 67:21<br>72:22<br><b>bags</b> 11:1 40:12<br>40:13 44:20<br>72:21 98:19<br><b>bang</b> 42:13<br><b>banners</b> 62:13<br><b>bars</b> 62:18<br><b>base</b> 39:1<br><b>based</b> 78:22<br><b>basically</b> 42:11<br>94:2<br><b>basis</b> 13:9,13<br>25:10 72:15<br><b>basket</b> 11:8<br><b>Beach</b> 80:10,11<br><b>beat</b> 70:4<br><b>beautification</b><br>58:14<br><b>beautiful</b> 23:5<br>57:22 58:2,8,10<br>59:8,11,14<br>60:14 61:14<br>63:5,15 64:4<br>65:9 75:20<br>90:21 98:21<br>101:12<br><b>beer</b> 67:12<br><b>beginning</b> 51:5<br>68:15 76:16<br><b>begins</b> 93:17<br><b>behalf</b> 27:22<br><b>behavior</b> 94:17<br><b>believe</b> 7:8 8:7,14<br>10:3 12:4 33:5<br>40:2 46:13 50:5<br>53:10 68:8<br>69:24 99:14<br><b>believes</b> 49:3<br><b>Bellies</b> 62:24 | <b>benefits</b> 13:24<br><b>benefitting</b> 17:16<br><b>berry</b> 108:4<br><b>best</b> 10:16 32:14<br>43:7 57:15<br>58:16,21 59:2,2<br>61:15 65:8<br>108:18<br><b>better</b> 14:3,5,23<br>15:6 38:19 98:7<br>102:1 104:16<br>106:1<br><b>beyond</b> 36:7<br>38:17 43:6 48:9<br>49:7 102:13<br><b>Bibow</b> 74:15,16<br>79:5 80:10<br><b>big</b> 38:3 62:23<br>80:6 103:9<br><b>bigger</b> 68:14<br><b>bill</b> 31:24 32:19<br>39:20 50:16<br>51:2 52:3,21<br>95:21 96:12<br>100:8<br><b>billed</b> 51:8,16<br><b>billion</b> 88:4<br><b>bills</b> 33:9,18<br><b>bins</b> 40:17<br><b>bit</b> 20:11,21 30:6<br>67:18 85:21<br>101:9<br><b>blatant</b> 93:5<br><b>blessed</b> 106:13<br>108:4<br><b>blight</b> 74:23 76:22<br>77:4,11,18 88:8<br>88:22<br><b>blighted</b> 4:23<br><b>block</b> 7:6 23:18<br>23:19,19,20<br>24:2,14,23<br>30:17 31:8,9,9<br>31:11 45:2<br>61:19 81:11<br>93:23 94:2,2,4,7<br>95:24 98:16 | 99:23 101:4,13<br><b>blocks</b> 25:6<br><b>bloom</b> 108:5<br><b>blows</b> 100:10<br><b>board</b> 45:19 46:7<br>57:7<br><b>boarded</b> 96:10<br><b>Bobby</b> 1:12 2:8<br><b>Bold</b> 90:9<br><b>booklet</b> 103:17,19<br>104:1,8<br><b>books</b> 68:4<br><b>born</b> 93:21<br><b>bottle</b> 108:3<br><b>bottom</b> 21:2<br>99:15,17<br><b>bounds</b> 31:9<br><b>bracelet</b> 13:15<br><b>break</b> 89:6 96:24<br><b>breakdown</b> 53:6<br><b>breakfast</b> 104:7<br><b>Breeze</b> 90:8<br><b>brick</b> 96:24 108:9<br><b>bring</b> 17:21 46:14<br>90:17 91:1,3<br>103:1,13<br><b>bringing</b> 17:13<br>65:15<br><b>Broad</b> 62:12,15<br><b>brochure</b> 104:5<br>105:16<br><b>broke</b> 96:11<br><b>broken</b> 21:2,3<br>22:14 93:15<br>96:6 97:14<br><b>brooms</b> 62:8<br><b>brought</b> 61:15<br>74:22 78:3<br><b>Budget</b> 13:4<br><b>budgeted</b> 9:4<br><b>build</b> 3:10 26:5<br>101:14<br><b>Builders</b> 88:12<br><b>building</b> 56:20<br>94:8 106:20<br><b>burn</b> 105:11<br><b>burner</b> 77:13 | <b>bus</b> 14:8<br><b>business</b> 2:17 5:4<br>36:18,19 40:22<br>41:6,9 42:11,14<br>42:16,20 43:3,8<br>43:22 47:16,19<br>48:11,13,15,22<br>49:1,6 54:1,4<br>60:5 61:7,9 62:4<br>62:9 82:21<br>83:11 89:14<br>100:9<br><b>businesses</b> 39:24<br>40:3 42:4 43:16<br>43:22 44:8 48:2<br>48:20 61:1<br>72:21 75:8<br>104:4<br><b>buy-in</b> 62:4 | <b>captains</b> 7:6<br>23:20 24:14<br>98:16 99:24<br>101:4,13<br><b>Captain's</b> 76:19<br><b>car</b> 36:17 67:21<br>82:19<br><b>care</b> 93:19 94:2<br>100:17 108:6<br><b>careful</b> 70:5<br><b>caring</b> 63:3<br><b>Carlton</b> 3:19,21<br>4:1 8:22 98:5,14<br>106:17<br><b>carry</b> 103:7<br><b>case</b> 22:13 46:12<br>65:21 69:9<br>85:17<br><b>cases</b> 30:24<br><b>cash</b> 17:18 44:21<br><b>catch</b> 7:14 11:16<br>11:20 36:11<br>66:8 81:1<br><b>categories</b> 36:8<br><b>caught</b> 12:16,17<br>36:16,21 54:2<br>67:11 76:2<br>84:20 93:1<br><b>CDBG</b> 40:8 45:2<br>45:7<br><b>CDC</b> 62:12<br><b>cemetery</b> 35:8,19<br><b>census</b> 48:11<br><b>center</b> 21:23<br>108:9<br><b>centers</b> 4:14<br><b>Central</b> 95:23<br><b>certain</b> 34:5 36:7<br>36:8<br><b>certainly</b> 16:24<br>25:17 35:20,24<br><b>certified</b> 16:11<br>105:5<br><b>cetera</b> 103:20<br><b>Chair</b> 1:11 2:6<br>15:13 33:23<br>51:22 52:24 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>Chairman</b> 13:2<br>15:20 27:20<br>39:14<br><b>challenged</b> 53:12<br><b>check</b> 31:11 102:6<br><b>Chicago</b> 14:19<br><b>Chief</b> 39:19<br><b>children</b> 70:22<br>102:20<br><b>CHODO</b> 105:5<br><b>choices</b> 58:20<br><b>chronic</b> 4:15<br><b>chronically</b> 7:19<br><b>Cigarette</b> 62:17<br><b>citation</b> 11:17<br>19:13,13 21:14<br><b>citations</b> 29:5<br><b>cite</b> 54:21<br><b>cities</b> 17:17<br><b>citizen</b> 92:3,4<br><b>citizens</b> 6:12 8:6<br>15:10 60:10<br>77:17 99:12<br>103:22<br><b>city</b> 1:2,6 2:13,19<br>3:1,6,12,24 4:5<br>4:10 5:18 6:7,16<br>7:4,10,20 8:19<br>8:20 9:6,12,24<br>10:2 17:11 18:7<br>21:14,23 22:2<br>23:16 24:16<br>25:12 29:15<br>30:9 31:2,8,16<br>31:21,22 33:9<br>33:12,18 34:20<br>35:10 36:13,18<br>37:3 38:9 39:15<br>41:6,7 44:7<br>45:17 47:23<br>48:12 58:22<br>64:17 66:14<br>71:4,18 75:4,13<br>76:8 77:21<br>79:14,15 80:1,3<br>80:17 82:18<br>84:3 85:5 86:2 | 87:8,12,18 90:4<br>90:13,15,22<br>92:8,8 94:3 98:8<br>103:9,17<br><b>City's</b> 88:2 106:19<br><b>city-wide</b> 5:13,17<br>52:2 75:14<br>76:12 77:2<br><b>City/Federal</b><br>45:20<br><b>civic</b> 16:14 42:13<br>60:5 87:10 90:7<br><b>civil</b> 19:12 20:8<br><b>Clarke</b> 1:11 2:9<br>3:23<br><b>clean</b> 3:11 6:19<br>13:17 14:14<br>18:6 23:5,7,18<br>23:19,22,23<br>25:5,15 30:20<br>31:3 32:19<br>35:11 41:7<br>43:18 45:24<br>49:8,9,11 50:2<br>51:20 54:18<br>55:2 56:14 57:6<br>58:6,18 61:18<br>62:9 63:6,10,17<br>72:11,16,20<br>88:7 89:11<br>93:24 100:12<br>102:18 103:10<br>105:13,14<br><b>cleaned</b> 24:24<br>25:16,17 30:24<br>31:16,22 32:3,4<br>33:13 40:20<br>51:15<br><b>cleaner</b> 59:8<br>66:12 77:21<br>90:15 92:8 98:7<br><b>cleaning</b> 5:13,17<br>10:20 17:6<br>23:21 26:16<br>33:11 40:9,23<br>41:1,4 42:7,8<br>44:4,7 50:23 | 51:9 59:15 62:1<br>62:11 72:9 88:5<br>98:17,19 107:1<br>107:3<br><b>cleanliness</b> 59:4<br><b>clear</b> 28:21<br>106:22<br><b>clearly</b> 28:22 66:2<br><b>Clerk</b> 2:10,12<br><b>CLIP</b> 16:10 27:15<br>28:11 29:14,17<br>34:3,14 35:1,7<br>50:17 59:1<br>75:24 106:13,17<br><b>close</b> 34:13<br>101:22<br><b>closed</b> 31:1<br><b>closely</b> 75:22<br><b>clothes</b> 77:7 78:5<br><b>coalition</b> 87:9<br>90:23<br><b>Cobb</b> 97:22<br><b>code</b> 6:9,13 19:11<br>20:8 48:4,12,18<br>49:15 76:13<br><b>Coleman</b> 107:18<br><b>Coles</b> 46:14 57:22<br>57:23 58:1,2<br>66:17 67:6,24<br>68:5,24 69:3,7<br>69:18 70:6,11<br>70:13,13,24<br>73:13,14<br><b>collaborate</b> 2:18<br>106:1<br><b>collaboration</b><br>60:19<br><b>colleague</b> 33:7<br>108:18<br><b>colleagues</b> 2:23<br><b>collect</b> 13:18<br><b>collected</b> 5:21<br>32:22 33:2,15<br>33:20 40:12,13<br>51:17 52:17<br><b>collection</b> 32:24<br><b>collections</b> 9:10 | <b>combination</b><br>49:12<br><b>come</b> 2:24 3:2<br>17:21 21:13<br>23:6 26:2,15<br>38:10 42:12<br>43:23 45:4 55:7<br>57:10 60:16,19<br>71:11 73:12<br>79:8 81:23<br>85:12 94:6,23<br>99:12 104:21<br>107:18 108:14<br><b>comes</b> 45:7<br><b>coming</b> 24:22<br>34:12 53:13<br>69:14 92:3<br>94:13 95:8<br>99:12 108:18<br><b>Comm</b> 13:1<br><b>Commanders</b><br>75:18 76:13<br><b>commend</b> 86:5,9<br><b>comment</b> 18:16<br>19:1<br><b>Commerce</b> 39:6<br>39:18 43:21<br>45:5,12 46:8,11<br>60:15<br><b>commercial</b> 18:22<br>39:22 40:1 46:5<br>48:21 102:11<br>104:3 109:2<br><b>commission</b> 82:22<br><b>Commissioner</b><br>3:16 4:2 13:3<br>28:10 29:21<br>98:6<br><b>commit</b> 23:20<br><b>commitment</b> 41:5<br>41:10<br><b>committed</b> 8:10<br>19:14<br><b>committee</b> 1:3 2:6<br>2:6,14 46:10<br>47:13 75:21<br>108:24 109:4 | <b>committing</b> 11:19<br><b>common</b> 44:1,1<br>87:13<br><b>commune</b> 105:16<br><b>communicate</b><br>61:1<br><b>communities</b> 17:7<br>24:11 41:6 58:6<br>58:18 60:9 63:6<br>63:7,16 101:15<br>107:4<br><b>community</b> 4:18<br>6:18 7:5 8:9,12<br>8:12,14 9:21<br>10:5 12:15 14:2<br>14:4 16:13 24:2<br>24:8 25:15,17<br>28:4 29:10 30:2<br>34:11,17 38:7<br>38:14 43:17<br>44:6 45:2,11<br>46:5 58:13 59:4<br>59:24 60:4,8,11<br>62:4,24 63:9,23<br>65:23 66:4<br>71:12,13,22<br>75:15 88:10<br>89:11,14 91:1<br>91:24 93:4<br>95:22 96:21<br>98:9 99:24<br>100:2,11 101:1<br>101:3,5 103:13<br>105:2,4 107:4,8<br>107:19<br><b>community-bas...</b><br>40:7 60:6 98:10<br><b>companies</b> 21:17<br><b>company</b> 80:9,12<br><b>competing</b> 101:21<br><b>competitive</b> 40:6<br>90:16<br><b>competitiveness</b><br>87:16<br><b>complaint</b> 30:13<br>31:11<br><b>complaints</b> 20:22 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 76:15 81:4<br><b>complement</b> 17:1<br>18:13<br><b>completely</b><br>104:18<br><b>compliance</b> 30:12<br>30:22 31:4<br>48:12,23 52:12<br><b>comply</b> 30:20<br>55:1 56:1<br><b>component</b> 18:12<br>18:17 34:10<br>42:6 43:1 64:15<br>91:22<br><b>concern</b> 4:9<br><b>concerned</b> 24:8<br>71:24 92:4<br><b>concerns</b> 77:16<br><b>concludes</b> 108:23<br><b>concrete</b> 26:2<br><b>condition</b> 11:4<br><b>conditions</b> 4:24<br><b>conduct</b> 75:6<br>76:11<br><b>conducted</b> 48:22<br>61:18<br><b>confirm</b> 33:4<br><b>confiscate</b> 36:13<br><b>confiscated</b> 36:17<br>84:21<br><b>confiscation</b> 20:4<br><b>confront</b> 94:15<br><b>congratulate</b> 98:5<br><b>congratulations</b><br>15:22 27:3<br><b>Congress</b> 40:7<br><b>congressional</b><br>45:16<br><b>consent</b> 29:18<br><b>consequences</b><br>36:22<br><b>consider</b> 13:5,8<br>14:16 87:20<br><b>consideration</b><br>41:18<br><b>considering</b> 41:11<br><b>consistent</b> 65:8 | <b>consolidated</b><br>74:20<br><b>consolidation</b><br>74:22<br><b>constant</b> 10:3<br><b>constantly</b> 7:21<br>11:12<br><b>construction</b> 4:7<br><b>contact</b> 25:3 57:8<br><b>contacted</b> 22:13<br>24:20<br><b>container</b> 104:10<br><b>content</b> 58:5<br><b>contest</b> 62:23<br><b>context</b> 2:22<br>70:21<br><b>continually</b> 61:1<br><b>continue</b> 11:10<br>101:17<br><b>continues</b> 6:7<br>76:11<br><b>continuing</b> 16:20<br><b>continuous</b> 32:6<br><b>continuously</b><br>10:22<br><b>contracts</b> 62:1<br><b>contribute</b> 79:3<br><b>contributes</b> 88:8<br>88:22,23 93:10<br><b>controlled</b> 79:14<br><b>conversation</b> 58:5<br>71:10 103:24<br>104:2<br><b>conversations</b><br>16:18<br><b>convicted</b> 82:6<br><b>Conway</b> 27:15,22<br>27:23 37:20<br><b>Cool</b> 91:17<br><b>cooperation</b><br>53:16<br><b>coordinate</b> 19:7<br>106:1<br><b>coordinated</b><br>11:15 64:2<br><b>coordination</b><br>63:17 | <b>Coordinator</b> 87:5<br>87:7<br><b>cops</b> 94:15<br><b>corner</b> 67:14<br>103:3<br><b>Corporation</b><br>105:3<br><b>correct</b> 22:15,18<br>42:2 54:20<br><b>Corrections</b><br>107:15<br><b>corridor</b> 40:4<br>42:7,8 46:5<br>48:11 60:1,15<br>61:3,7 62:11<br>102:11<br><b>corridors</b> 2:18<br>3:12 39:22 40:2<br>40:10,20 41:7<br>45:23 47:17,19<br>48:13,21 49:6<br>60:18 61:16,21<br>61:22 62:3,7<br>100:9 104:3<br>109:2<br><b>cost</b> 5:3,23 6:3<br>40:24 51:21<br>87:13<br><b>costs</b> 6:2 88:4,5,7<br><b>Council</b> 1:2,11<br>2:9 3:7,24 8:19<br>15:14 22:2<br>39:15 85:24<br>90:11,13 103:20<br><b>Councilman</b> 1:11<br>1:12,12,13 2:2,8<br>2:8,20 3:23 8:18<br>8:22 9:5 10:7<br>11:7,23 12:11<br>12:22,24 13:1<br>14:15,19 15:17<br>15:18,18,19,22<br>16:1,2 17:3,24<br>18:1,2,23 19:3,8<br>20:13,14,15,16<br>20:17 22:12,16<br>23:3,14 24:19 | 25:20,23 27:8<br>27:13,18 32:15<br>32:15,16,18<br>33:1,6,14,17,24<br>33:24 34:1,2,21<br>34:22,23 35:7<br>35:13,17 36:2<br>37:5,19,23 38:1<br>38:2,6,21 39:3,5<br>39:12 41:20,21<br>44:23 45:9,14<br>46:3,16,21 47:3<br>47:5,12 49:20<br>49:22,23 50:1<br>51:1,7,13,24<br>52:5,20,23 53:5<br>53:10,19,22<br>54:9 55:5 56:17<br>56:17,18,23<br>57:8,16,18,21<br>58:3,4 62:20<br>66:16,18,19<br>67:5,7,16 68:1,6<br>69:2,5,17,23<br>70:7,12 73:6,17<br>73:18,24 74:10<br>74:14,15 78:3,9<br>78:12 79:6,18<br>79:21,24 80:21<br>81:14 83:1,4<br>84:12,16,19,23<br>85:9 86:14,18<br>86:20,22,24<br>89:22 91:8,17<br>91:21 93:14<br>94:20,21 95:4,7<br>95:11,15,18<br>96:14 97:3,18<br>97:21 99:8<br>104:22 105:7,20<br>105:23 106:9,16<br>108:12,17<br><b>Councilman's</b><br>18:5 26:7<br><b>Councilmembers</b><br>12:23<br><b>Councilmen</b> | 27:21<br><b>Council's</b> 2:13<br><b>counsel</b> 53:18<br><b>countless</b> 29:6<br><b>country</b> 58:22<br>88:4<br><b>couple</b> 8:23 11:9<br>34:21 41:21<br>70:13 71:20<br>78:14<br><b>course</b> 23:23<br>26:11 57:15<br><b>court</b> 52:7,10<br>53:13 55:3 56:3<br>65:10,10 82:9<br>82:19<br><b>courts</b> 66:4,5<br><b>cover</b> 25:12 93:3<br><b>covered</b> 40:24<br><b>crack</b> 67:13<br><b>create</b> 60:7 77:13<br>99:2<br><b>created</b> 6:11<br>103:17<br><b>creates</b> 47:20<br><b>creating</b> 74:20<br><b>crews</b> 31:2,16,21<br>31:22,23 49:11<br><b>crime</b> 4:23 37:7,8<br>68:12 88:23<br>93:11 94:5<br><b>crimes</b> 68:11<br><b>criminal</b> 12:9<br>19:22 83:16<br><b>criminals</b> 37:16<br><b>crisp</b> 28:21<br><b>critical</b> 34:10,18<br><b>Croce</b> 63:22<br><b>current</b> 2:15<br>41:24 47:23<br>76:24 91:5<br><b>currently</b> 9:3<br>12:14 13:10<br>20:6 40:18 54:7<br>76:23<br><b>customers</b> 104:6<br><b>cute</b> 104:1 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|--------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| cuts 23:15 32:7<br>CVNs 83:9<br>Cycle 46:24<br>C3 58:8 | decreased 78:24<br>decreases 34:18<br>88:10<br>dedicated 21:22<br>64:23,24 87:11<br>dedicating 35:18<br>defense 61:13<br>defer 74:11<br>definitely 17:19<br>21:21 24:4 36:8<br>43:3 59:7 61:12<br>93:14 100:3<br>Delaware 80:7<br>delay 50:14<br>delegation 45:16<br>Delinquent 48:24<br>demand 25:11<br>78:17<br>demonstrate 8:9<br>density 41:13<br>dent 104:19<br>Department 3:17<br>4:3 5:6,10,10,12<br>5:16,21 6:1,11<br>6:22 7:10,23 8:3<br>16:6,15,16 19:5<br>20:10,19 22:5<br>25:3 28:13<br>34:16 39:6,18<br>43:21 45:6,12<br>46:8,13 47:11<br>48:5,10,19,22<br>48:23 49:3,8<br>53:17 56:10<br>57:10 58:23<br>61:18 65:16,18<br>68:10 71:7,7<br>73:11 74:17<br>77:2 91:3 98:13<br>106:6 107:14,15 | deployed 35:21<br>76:17<br>Deputy 3:16 4:1<br>28:10 29:21<br>description 77:1<br>designed 49:13<br>desolate 24:9<br>destroys 4:17<br>detail 20:11<br>detailed 77:1<br>79:12 80:14,23<br>81:12,24 82:1<br>83:13<br>deter 4:21 7:9 8:7<br>94:16<br>determine 40:19<br>deterred 29:7<br>deterrent 28:16<br>40:3<br>detracts 47:21<br>88:9<br>develop 62:4<br>development 4:21<br>39:17 45:2,11<br>96:3 105:4<br>died 96:4,5<br>difference 44:12<br>44:16 59:3<br>89:18<br>different 18:7<br>20:21 23:17,17<br>28:20 42:18,23<br>45:15 46:15<br>65:16,17 70:16<br>71:20 101:20<br>difficult 12:3<br>25:13<br>digital 7:11<br>diminished 76:7<br>dinner 104:7<br>direct 4:11 6:1<br>direction 16:24<br>Directive 98:14<br>directly 22:19<br>23:1 45:5 98:23<br>106:12<br>Director 39:16 | 58:7 100:12<br>106:6<br>Directors 16:16<br>58:24 75:21,24<br>98:18<br>Director's 5:9<br>7:14<br>dirty 43:3<br>discarded 4:7<br>disciplinary<br>13:12<br>disclose 35:3<br>discourages 89:11<br>Discussion 90:20<br>disobedient 89:2<br>disorder 88:24<br>dispatched 30:15<br>31:2<br>disposal 5:24<br>58:20<br>dispose 48:8<br>disposed 5:22<br>distribute 76:11<br>distributed 9:6<br>40:17<br>district 7:4 9:17<br>18:5,6 20:2 29:3<br>41:12 75:17,22<br>76:10 83:4 86:8<br>90:10,11 108:13<br>districts 9:10,11<br>9:12 41:8,15,16<br>division 6:24 19:1<br>75:11<br>divisions 8:4<br>docket 66:3,3<br>document 30:15<br>dog 68:21<br>doing 3:9 5:4 12:2<br>14:2,9,13 18:14<br>25:5 26:19<br>27:16 34:16<br>36:18,21 37:20<br>39:9,10 42:16<br>43:1 44:15 47:7<br>70:7 80:3 82:12<br>82:13 83:22 | 95:4,7,9,18<br>96:15,17 107:1<br>dollar 14:13<br>dollars 13:14<br>domain 97:12<br>donated 62:8<br>door 52:3,21 53:2<br>97:8<br>doors 52:13<br>Dow 39:9,10,13<br>39:18<br>drastic 85:12<br>dressed 13:15<br>dropped 79:8,11<br>due 32:7 49:3<br>55:6 69:23 76:7<br>dump 5:18 18:20<br>29:18 40:16<br>64:7,8 73:7<br>94:13 102:8,10<br>dumped 4:16 5:23<br>7:19 85:10 86:7<br>dumpers 7:15<br>29:22 37:16<br>63:23 66:8 75:3<br>101:24<br>dumping 2:16 3:6<br>3:6,14 4:4,6,15<br>4:17,19,20,22<br>5:8,12 6:5,7,10<br>6:20,21 7:2,9,12<br>7:22 8:1,8,16,19<br>10:14 11:1,19<br>18:17 24:10<br>28:7,17,22 29:6<br>29:7,12,15,20<br>31:7 35:3,14<br>37:3,7 47:15<br>48:1 49:5 54:3<br>54:14 55:2<br>63:12,16,22<br>64:5,18 74:4<br>76:2 77:8 78:23<br>79:16 80:2,8,17<br>80:20 81:17<br>82:4 84:20<br>85:15 87:19 |
|--------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <p>92:22 93:1 94:6<br/>96:16 100:8,22<br/>100:23,24 101:7<br/>102:4 109:1<br/><b>dumpings</b> 54:22<br/><b>dumpster</b> 21:8,24<br/>22:14,22,22,23<br/>23:2<br/><b>dumpsters</b> 20:24<br/>20:24 21:1,10<br/>22:4,4 44:20<br/><b>duties</b> 16:14<br/><b>duty</b> 38:17</p> <hr/> <p><b>E</b></p> <p><b>earful</b> 94:12<br/><b>earlier</b> 28:10<br/>100:17<br/><b>early</b> 10:24 11:2<br/>103:6<br/><b>ears</b> 24:6,17 99:1<br/>100:18 101:5<br/><b>eat</b> 104:6<br/><b>echo</b> 92:9<br/><b>economic</b> 39:17<br/>45:11 87:16<br/>88:3<br/><b>economically</b><br/>4:20 90:16<br/><b>economies</b> 5:3<br/><b>economy</b> 32:7<br/>87:22<br/><b>educate</b> 6:11<br/>10:23 11:10<br/>61:7 63:19<br/><b>educated</b> 61:4<br/><b>education</b> 5:14<br/>6:8,17 11:13<br/>30:8 43:14<br/>48:14 61:9,12<br/>64:16 70:20<br/>72:6 92:11<br/>100:14 104:14<br/>104:14 105:12<br/>106:23<br/><b>educational</b><br/>103:16</p> | <p><b>effect</b> 104:12<br/><b>effected</b> 5:1<br/><b>effective</b> 9:9<br/>10:19 12:5,20<br/>24:5 28:15 31:5<br/>37:1 61:10,24<br/>87:13<br/><b>effectively</b> 7:13<br/>81:13<br/><b>effectiveness</b> 2:15<br/>107:11<br/><b>effects</b> 5:2 76:20<br/>87:18,22<br/><b>efficiency</b> 34:7<br/>105:12<br/><b>efficient</b> 31:5 34:7<br/><b>effort</b> 59:16 64:3<br/>98:16 103:3<br/><b>efforts</b> 6:19 10:6<br/>18:13 28:4 29:8<br/>45:22 49:4,7,13<br/>60:1,3,18 64:21<br/>66:12 85:4<br/>86:10 100:22<br/>106:18<br/><b>eight</b> 9:16<br/><b>either</b> 11:20 12:7<br/>18:24 19:16<br/>21:2 32:1 44:15<br/>69:18<br/><b>elaborate</b> 36:5<br/><b>elected</b> 89:16<br/><b>elevate</b> 107:10<br/><b>eliminate</b> 5:8<br/><b>eliminated</b> 7:22<br/><b>emphasize</b> 67:3<br/><b>employer</b> 89:15<br/><b>empowered</b> 48:6<br/><b>enact</b> 44:3<br/><b>encourage</b> 94:14<br/>102:22 103:12<br/><b>encouraging</b><br/>30:12 63:22<br/><b>endangers</b> 88:14<br/><b>ends</b> 88:17,19<br/>109:5<br/><b>energy</b> 105:10,12</p> | <p><b>enforce</b> 6:14 68:7<br/>93:7 102:1<br/><b>enforced</b> 76:9<br/><b>enforcement</b> 5:14<br/>6:9,17 10:11<br/>18:12,19 28:7<br/>28:15 29:9 30:8<br/>36:3,6 43:14<br/>64:13,15,23<br/>65:2 69:11,14<br/>69:20 73:7 75:4<br/>76:8 91:6 92:13<br/>101:18 104:15<br/>106:23<br/><b>enforcing</b> 65:5<br/>68:7,18 76:22<br/><b>engage</b> 102:19<br/>103:23<br/><b>engaged</b> 48:10<br/><b>engagement</b><br/>16:13<br/><b>enhance</b> 87:15<br/><b>enhances</b> 6:18<br/><b>ensuring</b> 75:1<br/><b>enter</b> 105:15<br/><b>entire</b> 25:16<br/><b>entity</b> 105:17<br/><b>environment</b> 15:1<br/>87:23 89:2,5<br/><b>environmental</b><br/>65:10,11 66:5<br/>74:19 87:6,15<br/>88:13 93:10<br/>100:14 105:6<br/>108:7,11<br/><b>environmentally</b><br/>105:18<br/><b>equipment</b> 23:12<br/><b>equipped</b> 107:8<br/><b>especially</b> 17:1<br/>38:14 65:5<br/>77:20<br/><b>essentially</b> 92:16<br/>92:17<br/><b>establish</b> 59:20<br/><b>establishments</b><br/>104:8</p> | <p><b>et</b> 103:20<br/><b>ethic</b> 15:6<br/><b>event</b> 54:2 90:19<br/><b>events</b> 75:13<br/><b>evidence</b> 11:17<br/>12:7 19:24<br/>36:15<br/><b>exact</b> 97:23<br/><b>exactly</b> 105:9<br/><b>examine</b> 2:15 3:8<br/><b>examples</b> 68:2,8<br/><b>excellent</b> 53:17<br/>64:17 71:4<br/><b>exceptionally</b><br/>93:24<br/><b>Excuse</b> 107:12<br/><b>executed</b> 48:24<br/><b>Executive</b> 58:7<br/><b>exist</b> 92:16<br/><b>existence</b> 101:13<br/><b>existing</b> 7:16<br/>41:15<br/><b>expand</b> 16:8<br/>45:22 59:24<br/><b>expanding</b> 28:14<br/><b>expect</b> 41:1<br/><b>expectations</b><br/>89:13<br/><b>expenditures</b> 6:1<br/><b>experience</b> 72:16<br/>89:8<br/><b>experts</b> 46:15<br/><b>explain</b> 55:9<br/><b>explore</b> 2:18<br/><b>extends</b> 63:12<br/><b>external</b> 72:13<br/><b>extra</b> 17:2<br/><b>eye</b> 89:9<br/><b>eyes</b> 24:6,17 99:1<br/>101:5<br/><b>eyesore</b> 87:21<br/><b>e-mail</b> 91:9</p> <hr/> <p><b>F</b></p> <p><b>F</b> 1:13<br/><b>face</b> 52:16 66:8<br/>92:22 93:2</p> | <p><b>facilitated</b> 15:15<br/><b>facility</b> 13:12,14<br/><b>fact</b> 81:17<br/><b>fail</b> 50:21<br/><b>fair</b> 19:19 69:23<br/><b>fairly</b> 70:1<br/><b>faith</b> 87:10 90:10<br/><b>familiar</b> 65:22<br/>86:6<br/><b>family</b> 96:4<br/><b>far</b> 3:18 12:12<br/>41:23 53:13<br/>56:18 71:23<br/>74:5<br/><b>favor</b> 84:12<br/><b>fee</b> 22:8<br/><b>feel</b> 14:3,4,23<br/>43:24 44:14<br/><b>feeling</b> 38:13<br/><b>fees</b> 49:2 52:19<br/><b>feet</b> 107:23 108:5<br/><b>Fegely</b> 39:14,16<br/>43:10 45:7,10<br/>46:8,18,22 47:4<br/><b>Fifty-five</b> 29:19<br/><b>fight</b> 5:12 7:12<br/>85:22<br/><b>figure</b> 51:11,21<br/><b>fill</b> 77:6,9<br/><b>financial</b> 85:5<br/><b>financially</b> 65:19<br/><b>find</b> 13:21 55:21<br/>80:16 83:15,16<br/>94:16<br/><b>finds</b> 77:3<br/><b>fine</b> 11:8 19:15<br/>22:17 65:24<br/>95:20<br/><b>fined</b> 20:4 97:16<br/><b>fines</b> 12:10,18<br/>21:16 22:19<br/>36:7,9 52:16,18<br/>55:4 102:14<br/><b>fining</b> 65:7<br/><b>finish</b> 104:9<br/><b>finished</b> 42:8<br/><b>fire</b> 85:11</p> |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>first</b> 2:21 3:15<br>15:8 18:4 39:7<br>40:11 50:19<br>55:15 61:13<br>62:19 63:18,19<br>64:20 95:14,22<br>97:23 101:4<br><b>fiscal</b> 31:14 34:12<br><b>five</b> 63:14 88:19<br>107:17<br><b>fix</b> 97:16<br><b>flagrantly</b> 89:7<br><b>flexibility</b> 83:19<br><b>flow</b> 81:8 82:3<br><b>flows</b> 100:10<br>102:20<br><b>fluctuated</b> 78:24<br><b>Flusher</b> 23:15<br><b>focus</b> 18:12 20:9<br>24:1 58:12,17<br>101:11<br><b>folks</b> 13:19,23<br>14:7,12,22,22<br>15:4 17:12 30:4<br>37:6 68:2 91:1<br>93:6 94:13<br><b>follow</b> 26:1 51:21<br>54:7 55:24 85:2<br>98:2<br><b>force</b> 29:4 56:16<br>75:23<br><b>forget</b> 107:14,21<br><b>forgot</b> 93:20<br><b>form</b> 43:22 98:12<br><b>formation</b> 77:14<br><b>formed</b> 74:18<br>75:1 98:11<br><b>Former</b> 14:20<br><b>forth</b> 81:7<br><b>forums</b> 102:19<br><b>forward</b> 8:17<br>16:17,20 27:10<br>37:21 45:21<br>70:9 71:21 86:3<br>92:3 94:24<br>106:3,20,21<br><b>foster</b> 43:15 | <b>fosters</b> 88:23<br>93:11<br><b>found</b> 31:3,4<br>47:18 62:2<br>82:10,11,13<br><b>four</b> 6:5 23:16<br>25:11 79:22,23<br>83:21,21 108:5<br><b>Frank</b> 73:21<br><b>Frankford</b> 90:7<br><b>free</b> 10:13 48:3<br>59:18,21 70:21<br>71:24 75:9<br><b>frequently</b> 8:11<br>75:12<br><b>Friday</b> 1:7<br><b>friend</b> 3:17<br><b>friendly</b> 105:18<br>108:7<br><b>front</b> 20:3 43:2,2<br>44:18 54:15<br>70:2<br><b>full-time</b> 77:12<br><b>function</b> 76:21<br>78:6<br><b>funding</b> 32:6,9,10<br>34:4,18 40:9,20<br>41:5 45:4,7 46:7<br>46:19,24<br><b>funds</b> 40:24 41:17<br>101:19<br><b>furniture</b> 4:8<br><b>further</b> 31:1<br><b>future</b> 15:23<br>17:13 70:10<br><b>FY09</b> 32:10<br><b>FY10</b> 48:19<br><b>FY11</b> 48:21,24<br>49:10<br><b>FY12</b> 40:6<br><b>FY2011</b> 5:16 | <b>general</b> 18:22<br>86:4 88:24<br>99:19<br><b>generally</b> 55:23<br>87:16<br><b>genius</b> 17:8<br><b>getting</b> 3:17 10:2<br>15:13 20:22<br>37:12 38:22<br>50:14 52:6 64:8<br>83:13 84:1<br>107:3<br><b>give</b> 10:15 18:17<br>26:10 38:15<br>42:21 50:18<br>55:24 66:22<br>70:19 74:1,5,13<br>90:1 94:23<br>97:22 98:17<br>107:24 108:3<br><b>gives</b> 61:19<br><b>giving</b> 17:6 71:19<br>72:9<br><b>glad</b> 67:17 108:16<br><b>go</b> 9:20,24 11:21<br>12:9 17:1,19<br>18:20 23:14<br>25:1 30:4 31:8<br>31:21 33:2<br>35:10 38:3,22<br>41:4 43:4 44:17<br>51:2 55:17<br>56:23 57:6,11<br>61:6 68:19 70:1<br>72:10,18,20,23<br>73:8 82:9,17,19<br>83:20,22 84:5<br>95:14 97:3<br>99:18 100:3<br>103:3 104:23<br>107:1<br><b>goal</b> 56:15 60:9<br>77:19<br><b>God</b> 106:13 108:3<br><b>goes</b> 45:5 50:3<br>70:3 78:7<br><b>going</b> 13:6 19:15 | 23:9,11 25:5<br>27:2 35:14 36:8<br>37:10,17 38:17<br>44:22 63:9<br>81:24 82:1<br>100:11 101:16<br>108:12,14<br><b>good</b> 2:2 3:17,22<br>10:7 13:11<br>15:20,21,23<br>16:19 19:8<br>20:15,16 27:9<br>27:17,20 32:16<br>32:17 34:8 37:5<br>37:20 39:14<br>41:23 42:13,14<br>47:12 49:23,24<br>50:1 53:7 58:1,3<br>67:16 73:3,16<br>73:18 74:4,15<br>83:22 86:18,20<br>86:23,24 87:1<br>87:14 95:2,7,9<br>100:6 103:18<br>104:1<br><b>goodness</b> 61:5<br><b>gotten</b> 11:24<br><b>government</b><br>45:21 59:5<br>99:11,15 106:2<br>107:7<br><b>governmental</b><br>91:2<br><b>gradually</b> 78:24<br><b>Graduate</b> 90:8<br><b>graffiti</b> 4:23 21:9<br>38:11 40:16<br>63:12 68:13<br>75:3 77:8 84:4,6<br>89:3 106:12<br><b>Grant</b> 100:22,23<br><b>granted</b> 42:1<br>44:10<br><b>grantees</b> 60:16<br><b>Grants</b> 45:2<br><b>grass</b> 30:17 98:10<br>105:14 | <b>Grays</b> 82:24<br>83:13<br><b>great</b> 16:6 38:13<br>51:14 53:11,19<br>84:23 87:8,12<br>90:4,22<br><b>greatest</b> 7:22<br><b>green</b> 18:6 34:23<br>64:10<br><b>greener</b> 27:2<br>66:13 90:15<br>92:8<br><b>grew</b> 108:20<br><b>ground</b> 64:19<br>100:18<br><b>grounds</b> 4:15<br>72:11<br><b>group</b> 38:16 42:9<br>46:6 72:2<br>100:14 102:3<br><b>groups</b> 7:5 34:11<br>34:14 38:7<br>45:22 61:3<br>70:16,17,19<br>75:15 87:9,10<br>87:11 90:7,7,10<br>90:12<br><b>guess</b> 14:17 17:9<br>23:6 33:13 46:4<br>52:1,1,24 53:1<br>78:22<br><b>guiding</b> 58:17<br><b>guilty</b> 82:10<br><b>guys</b> 81:1 |
| <b>H</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | <b>Hall</b> 1:6 107:18<br><b>hand</b> 7:5,5 24:12<br>24:13 67:12<br>89:17 103:21<br><b>handle</b> 19:6 86:3<br>104:16<br><b>handled</b> 31:18<br>81:5<br><b>handles</b> 71:8<br><b>handling</b> 76:14<br>89:12                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>hands</b> 43:11<br><b>happen</b> 15:11<br><b>happened</b> 85:13<br>85:19<br><b>happening</b> 44:9<br>44:11 61:20<br><b>happens</b> 63:4<br>79:13 80:13<br>81:18 85:12<br><b>happy</b> 32:13<br>41:19 49:18<br>51:12 52:11<br>53:9 54:7 58:20<br>78:10 89:20<br><b>hard</b> 80:4 81:1,7<br>82:2 83:15<br>106:18<br><b>harder</b> 29:24<br><b>harming</b> 93:4<br><b>harms</b> 87:22<br>88:21<br><b>hauler</b> 21:12 22:7<br>22:10,12,17<br><b>hazardous</b> 4:9<br><b>head</b> 34:1 98:8<br><b>health</b> 4:11 13:24<br>47:20<br><b>healthier</b> 77:21<br>98:8<br><b>heap</b> 102:11<br><b>hear</b> 87:1 95:13<br><b>heard</b> 26:7,19<br>92:24 106:22<br><b>hearing</b> 2:5 3:3,4<br>13:4 108:23<br>109:5<br><b>hearings</b> 2:14<br>84:24<br><b>hears</b> 65:11<br><b>heavier</b> 12:10<br><b>hefty</b> 12:18<br><b>help</b> 7:8,16 13:17<br>15:4 17:2 23:7<br>25:7,21 38:18<br>43:22 44:21<br>46:15 60:7,16<br>69:19 71:13,15 | 71:20 99:3<br>101:6,9,18<br>102:1 104:16<br>107:18<br><b>helped</b> 62:13<br>100:24<br><b>helpful</b> 3:18 33:21<br>92:6<br><b>helping</b> 14:14<br>17:17<br><b>Henon</b> 1:12 2:9<br>15:18,19,22<br>16:2 17:24<br><b>Hey</b> 73:18<br><b>high</b> 62:22 66:7<br>108:5<br><b>higher</b> 4:22<br>106:21<br><b>highly</b> 65:4<br><b>hired</b> 42:11<br><b>history</b> 20:11<br><b>hit</b> 83:13<br><b>hold</b> 2:14 54:16<br>56:15 61:8<br><b>holding</b> 56:11<br>64:12<br><b>holistic</b> 60:10<br><b>home</b> 83:20 88:12<br>102:23<br><b>homeowners</b> 94:1<br><b>homes</b> 96:13<br>103:2,7,14<br><b>Honorable</b> 3:24<br>11:6<br><b>honored</b> 59:10<br><b>hoops</b> 50:21<br><b>hope</b> 16:7 27:24<br><b>hopefully</b> 16:16<br>44:15<br><b>hoping</b> 90:24<br><b>Horticultural</b><br>59:6<br><b>Hospital</b> 90:8<br><b>host</b> 87:11<br><b>hosts</b> 90:12,24<br><b>hot</b> 9:19 81:21<br><b>hour</b> 13:14 | <b>house</b> 56:6,6,21<br>96:2,6 97:1,9,11<br>97:13 105:11<br><b>houses</b> 96:8,12,24<br>97:10,10 108:9<br><b>housing</b> 96:22,23<br>105:4<br><b>hundred</b> 52:14<br>95:24<br><b>hurt</b> 82:16<br><b>hurting</b> 82:17<br><hr/> <b>I</b><br><hr/> <b>idea</b> 10:15 16:6<br>16:22 18:18<br>26:7 27:1 42:21<br>70:19 90:1<br><b>ideas</b> 16:19 17:9<br>26:6<br><b>identified</b> 39:24<br>72:2<br><b>identify</b> 7:7,8,17<br>12:6 21:12 22:7<br>22:10 30:4<br>100:24<br><b>identifying</b> 29:23<br><b>ignored</b> 89:7<br><b>illegal</b> 2:16 3:5,14<br>4:4,6,17,18,20<br>4:22 5:8,12 6:5<br>6:10 7:2,12,15<br>8:1,8,16,19 11:1<br>18:16 24:10<br>28:7,16,22 29:6<br>29:6,15,19,22<br>31:7 35:2 37:6<br>37:15 40:15<br>47:15 48:1 49:5<br>54:2,13 63:16<br>63:22 64:4 74:3<br>84:20 85:15<br>86:6 100:22<br>101:24 102:4<br>108:24<br><b>illegally</b> 4:16 5:22<br>7:9 12:2 18:20<br>29:17 85:10 | <b>images</b> 28:21<br><b>immediate</b> 61:20<br><b>immediately</b> 8:5<br>21:13 24:12<br><b>imminent</b> 97:12<br><b>impact</b> 4:11 6:7<br>10:5 11:11<br>78:19<br><b>impacts</b> 4:4 47:22<br>87:21<br><b>implement</b> 12:10<br><b>implemented</b><br>7:24 62:17<br><b>important</b> 30:2<br>37:12 58:5 63:2<br>65:13,23 68:11<br>69:22 91:23<br><b>importantly</b> 92:7<br><b>improperly</b> 22:21<br><b>improve</b> 48:11<br>60:22<br><b>improved</b> 60:7<br>91:7<br><b>improvement</b><br>12:15 28:5<br>29:10 41:12<br>58:13 60:15<br><b>improvements</b><br>39:2<br><b>incarcerated</b><br>13:10 14:22<br>15:11<br><b>incarceration</b><br>13:20 14:23<br><b>inches</b> 30:18<br><b>incidents</b> 40:15<br><b>include</b> 6:2 96:12<br>96:21<br><b>included</b> 40:11<br><b>including</b> 5:8 7:1<br>60:10<br><b>increase</b> 18:13<br>42:23 77:16<br>87:15 102:14<br><b>increased</b> 6:23<br>76:7 102:16<br><b>increasing</b> 85:3 | <b>Index</b> 61:17,17<br><b>indicates</b> 63:8<br><b>individual</b> 6:18<br>18:21 75:6<br><b>individuals</b> 3:1<br>26:9,20 37:2<br>58:18 60:6 76:1<br>98:2 99:10,11<br><b>inefficient</b> 10:1<br><b>inform</b> 63:19<br><b>information</b><br>29:23 33:7<br>85:23 97:23<br>101:15 102:20<br><b>informational</b><br>103:15 104:14<br><b>informed</b> 94:21<br><b>initiative</b> 8:1 18:6<br>70:15 87:8 90:5<br><b>initiatives</b> 3:11<br>17:20 26:17<br><b>inkind</b> 44:19<br><b>innocence</b> 19:21<br><b>innovative</b> 26:6<br>26:21 106:24<br><b>inside</b> 13:12 103:2<br><b>insight</b> 100:12<br>105:24<br><b>inspect</b> 49:1 55:18<br><b>inspecting</b> 30:3<br><b>Inspection</b> 22:6<br>48:5 65:15<br><b>inspections</b> 5:11<br>47:11 48:23<br>59:1<br><b>inspector</b> 30:14<br><b>inspectors</b> 29:11<br>30:1 48:13<br><b>installing</b> 62:14<br><b>instance</b> 22:21<br>102:4<br><b>instances</b> 102:21<br><b>intelligence</b> 82:7<br><b>intended</b> 49:1<br><b>intention</b> 16:8<br><b>interest</b> 42:6 92:2<br><b>interested</b> 62:10 |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 81:19<br><b>interesting</b> 99:21<br><b>internal</b> 7:24<br>72:12,13<br><b>introduction</b><br>61:16<br><b>inventory</b> 7:16<br><b>investigate</b> 84:10<br><b>investigating</b><br>80:14,15 81:9<br>81:10<br><b>investigations</b><br>29:11 78:8<br><b>involve</b> 91:12<br><b>involved</b> 19:23<br>24:6 72:7 107:3<br><b>issue</b> 3:5,13 8:6<br>11:6,16 12:7,18<br>13:3 19:11,13<br>21:5,24 22:3<br>23:1 47:20<br>65:23 69:8<br>76:16,23 85:15<br>86:6 87:17,20<br>91:5 93:13<br>96:11,18 100:19<br>107:11<br><b>issued</b> 6:9,20<br>21:17 29:4,5,14<br>29:17,19 47:1<br><b>issues</b> 7:1 8:2,13<br>10:24 15:2 24:2<br>24:2 40:14 49:4<br>56:20 60:23<br>61:2 65:11<br>68:10 74:3,23<br>77:4,11,18<br>78:18 108:11<br><b>issuing</b> 76:1<br><b>items</b> 45:13<br><b>i.e</b> 55:1 | <b>job</b> 37:20 77:1<br>80:6,15 81:13<br>95:9<br><b>jobs</b> 5:4 80:6 81:4<br><b>Joe</b> 92:2<br><b>Johnson</b> 1:11 2:2<br>2:3,20 3:23 8:18<br>8:22 9:5 10:7<br>12:11,22 15:18<br>18:1 19:3,8<br>20:13 25:23<br>27:8,13,18,21<br>32:15 33:6,17<br>33:24 34:2,21<br>35:7,13,17 36:2<br>37:19,23 39:3,5<br>39:12 41:20<br>44:23 45:9,14<br>47:5,12 49:20<br>53:22 54:9 55:5<br>56:17 57:18,21<br>58:3 66:16 67:5<br>67:7 70:12 73:6<br>73:18,24 74:10<br>74:14 78:9,12<br>79:6,18,21,24<br>80:21 81:14<br>83:1,4 84:12,16<br>84:19,23 85:9<br>86:14,18,21,22<br>86:24 89:22<br>91:8,17,21<br>93:14 94:21<br>95:4,7,11,15,18<br>96:14 97:3,18<br>97:21 99:8<br>104:22 105:7,20<br>105:23 106:9,16<br>108:12,17<br><b>joined</b> 18:1<br><b>joining</b> 2:23<br><b>judge</b> 20:3 65:21<br>65:24 66:2 70:2<br><b>judicial</b> 64:24<br>65:6<br><b>Judith</b> 95:17<br>100:7 | <b>July</b> 46:20,24<br>64:12 76:5<br>77:15<br><b>jump</b> 10:9 50:20<br><b>jumping</b> 81:11<br><b>jumpsuit</b> 13:16<br><b>June</b> 90:19<br><b>junk</b> 82:18<br><b>jurisdictions</b><br>65:12<br><b>juveniles</b> 26:18 | 17:17 18:13<br>26:10,22 42:5,9<br>42:17 43:12<br>45:20 63:11<br>67:13 71:9,14<br>78:16 80:4 81:2<br>81:7,16 82:2<br>85:19 94:9<br>99:22 104:4<br>106:22 108:17<br><b>kinds</b> 108:7<br><b>knew</b> 94:1<br><b>know</b> 3:18 9:18<br>11:5 12:2 13:5<br>14:19 16:4,4,7,7<br>16:9,12,13,18<br>16:21 17:3,4,5,8<br>17:10,12,15,18<br>17:20,21 19:20<br>23:11,13 26:18<br>26:22 30:2 31:8<br>32:18,21 35:8<br>36:12 37:10,15<br>37:16,24 38:3<br>38:12 42:3<br>43:17 44:10,19<br>44:24 45:1,15<br>51:9 55:2,20<br>56:10 61:11<br>63:11 65:19<br>66:1,10,20 67:1<br>67:9,11 82:23<br>82:23 83:17,20<br>85:2,4 90:6<br>92:12,13,14,15<br>92:19,21,23<br>93:5,11 96:22<br>96:24 97:16<br>99:23 100:3<br>101:19,22<br>102:19 104:17<br>106:14 107:13<br>108:18<br><b>knowledge</b> 9:18<br><b>known</b> 5:15 21:18<br>35:5 62:16<br>106:5 | <b>L</b><br><b>L</b> 1:11<br><b>labor</b> 87:10 90:11<br><b>lack</b> 93:19<br><b>lady</b> 97:7<br><b>Lambert</b> 102:6<br><b>land</b> 30:21 98:9<br>100:15,17 105:3<br>107:24 108:6<br><b>landlord</b> 54:16,24<br><b>landlords</b> 54:12<br><b>lands</b> 51:6<br><b>languages</b> 48:15<br><b>larger</b> 64:2,2<br><b>Laughter</b> 27:4<br><b>law</b> 6:14 36:12<br>53:16<br><b>laws</b> 10:23 11:10<br>60:21 68:4<br>76:22 89:6<br>92:15 93:8<br><b>laying</b> 15:3<br><b>lead</b> 10:24 68:14<br><b>leader</b> 89:16<br><b>leads</b> 4:19,22<br><b>leave</b> 13:14 103:2<br><b>led</b> 77:14<br><b>left</b> 13:20 77:12<br><b>legal</b> 21:1 50:20<br>55:6 57:4<br><b>Legislation</b> 41:12<br><b>Legislative</b> 1:3<br>2:5,13 108:24<br>109:4<br><b>let's</b> 68:17 85:10<br><b>level</b> 13:22 34:6<br>42:3,23 45:15<br>60:4 76:10,19<br>79:4 107:10<br><b>levels</b> 32:11<br><b>license</b> 5:10 22:6<br>22:8 28:23<br>36:11,19 48:5<br>48:24 54:1,5<br>59:1 65:14<br>101:6<br><b>licenses</b> 47:11 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 48:17 49:2<br><b>lien</b> 33:2 51:4<br><b>liens</b> 33:5<br><b>lieu</b> 19:15<br><b>life</b> 4:18,24 7:24<br>12:15 16:9<br>26:24 28:4<br>29:10 40:14<br>67:10 68:10<br>74:3,23 76:22<br>77:4,11,18<br>88:14 96:7,18<br>105:12<br><b>limited</b> 30:11<br>49:16 84:11<br><b>line</b> 18:10 45:13<br><b>listen</b> 104:9<br><b>listening</b> 16:3<br><b>litter</b> 10:13 11:3,8<br>39:21 40:12<br>47:18 48:3,8<br>58:12 59:15,21<br>59:24 60:2<br>61:16,17 62:17<br>63:7 64:18 65:5<br>65:22 66:21<br>70:21 71:24<br>72:22 75:9<br>87:19,19,22<br>88:2,3,5,7,10,13<br>88:16,19,21<br>89:3,4,6,9,10,11<br>89:12,18 90:19<br>96:16 102:22<br>103:13<br><b>littering</b> 2:17 3:6<br>3:12 10:9 11:1<br>47:16 48:1 49:5<br>66:24 67:9,12<br>68:13,20 74:4<br>75:7 109:1<br><b>little</b> 20:11,21<br>30:6 38:22<br>67:18 70:5<br>85:21 103:19,22<br>104:1,5,8<br><b>live</b> 4:12 17:16 | 42:17 59:9<br>60:11 77:22<br>98:24<br><b>lives</b> 56:12 88:1<br>97:8<br><b>living</b> 56:21 108:6<br><b>loc</b> 82:9<br><b>local</b> 41:6<br><b>Locally</b> 59:13<br><b>located</b> 35:1<br>48:20 105:8,9<br><b>location</b> 5:20 10:4<br><b>locations</b> 5:18<br>23:17 24:18<br>25:14 28:20<br>35:4,6<br><b>lock</b> 82:5<br><b>locking</b> 83:10<br><b>Logan</b> 62:12<br><b>LoMo</b> 62:17<br><b>long</b> 36:3 50:7<br>68:19 108:3<br><b>long-term</b> 8:8<br>9:21<br><b>look</b> 3:5 8:17<br>16:20 18:11<br>26:8,21 27:10<br>35:23 36:9<br>60:18 64:7<br>70:23 72:14<br>73:2 81:16<br>85:24 96:2 97:6<br>98:3 106:20<br><b>looking</b> 13:21<br>25:15 37:17<br>65:20 66:10<br>70:9 71:3 80:2<br>81:20 97:11<br>102:12<br><b>looks</b> 41:22<br><b>lot</b> 12:21 28:8<br>29:20 30:7,13<br>30:17,18,22<br>32:19 52:6<br>58:21 68:11<br>99:23,24 100:1<br>102:21 103:10 | <b>lots</b> 4:14 6:22<br>30:9,23 31:6,12<br>32:5 33:11 51:5<br>75:7 94:8 101:8<br><b>love</b> 24:24 84:3<br><b>low</b> 101:20<br><b>Lower</b> 62:16<br><b>lowers</b> 88:7<br><b>luck</b> 15:23<br><b>lunch</b> 104:7<br><b>L&amp;I</b> 16:16 53:24<br>57:5 71:7 91:2<br>96:1,10,19 98:2<br>98:6 106:18<br><hr/> <b>M</b><br><hr/> <b>mad</b> 57:5 68:22<br>69:1<br><b>main</b> 73:1 77:18<br><b>maintain</b> 6:19<br>23:23 34:5 41:7<br>48:3 60:7 75:9<br>77:3 101:8<br><b>maintained</b> 22:22<br><b>maintaining</b><br>54:18<br><b>maintains</b> 49:8<br><b>maintenance</b><br>48:17 49:15<br>59:16 100:15<br><b>major</b> 11:6 25:15<br>39:24 60:18<br>75:12 101:1<br>102:11,11<br><b>majority</b> 70:3<br>82:4,8 83:5<br><b>making</b> 14:13<br>44:16 66:12<br>68:8 87:11<br>90:15 92:7<br><b>man</b> 35:9,18 67:9<br>77:20 106:12<br><b>managed</b> 12:14<br>32:11<br><b>Management</b><br>16:15<br><b>Managers</b> 8:3,11 | <b>manages</b> 45:12<br><b>Managing</b> 5:9<br>7:14 58:24<br>75:21,24 98:18<br>106:6<br><b>mandated</b> 40:21<br><b>manpower</b> 76:24<br>77:19 78:16,23<br>79:4 85:4<br><b>marble</b> 108:8<br><b>Mark</b> 1:12 18:2<br>46:1<br><b>marketing</b> 103:9<br>103:16 104:13<br><b>Mary</b> 74:11,14,16<br><b>massive</b> 23:22<br>35:9<br><b>materials</b> 4:9<br>48:14 76:12<br>98:17 106:10<br><b>matter</b> 19:12,22<br>57:3,5 88:15<br><b>Maura</b> 47:6,10<br><b>maximize</b> 30:10<br><b>Mayor</b> 14:20,20<br>59:10<br><b>Mayor's</b> 28:5<br>72:19<br><b>ma'am</b> 96:15<br>104:24<br><b>McCoy</b> 78:2,4<br>79:10,19,23<br>80:1,11,22<br>81:15 83:2,5<br>84:15,15,17,18<br>84:22 85:8<br>86:13<br><b>MDO's</b> 12:13<br><b>mean</b> 52:2 55:11<br>68:1 80:24 81:7<br>82:10 84:9<br>104:10<br><b>Meaning</b> 72:4<br><b>means</b> 58:10<br>91:18<br><b>medallion</b> 22:7<br><b>media</b> 85:12 | <b>meet</b> 78:16 95:10<br><b>meeting</b> 2:4 64:13<br>74:9<br><b>meetings</b> 8:12<br>61:8<br><b>member</b> 75:11<br>96:4 97:21<br><b>Members</b> 3:24<br>8:18 39:15<br>47:13<br><b>men</b> 107:23<br><b>mention</b> 97:6<br><b>mentioned</b> 21:9<br>26:3 36:6<br>100:16<br><b>merely</b> 87:20<br><b>message</b> 62:5<br>69:22 102:23<br>103:6,7 106:22<br><b>messaging</b> 60:1<br>64:22 73:4<br><b>met</b> 61:3 62:20<br><b>Michelle</b> 91:16,18<br><b>middle</b> 94:7<br><b>million</b> 5:24<br><b>mind</b> 84:14<br><b>minimum</b> 76:24<br><b>minute</b> 85:13<br><b>missing</b> 107:21<br><b>mission</b> 77:19<br><b>misuse</b> 11:5,8<br><b>mitigated</b> 49:11<br><b>mobile</b> 7:20 12:4<br>12:11 28:19<br><b>money</b> 14:1 45:3<br><b>months</b> 18:3<br>40:11 50:12<br>52:10 82:20<br><b>Moriah</b> 35:8<br><b>morning</b> 2:2 3:22<br>15:20,21 20:15<br>20:16 27:20<br>32:16,17 39:14<br>47:12 49:23,24<br>58:1,3 73:16,18<br>86:18,20<br><b>Mother's</b> 108:2 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>motion</b> 28:19<br><b>Mount</b> 35:8<br><b>move</b> 16:17 28:20<br>35:6 45:21<br>53:11 71:21<br>96:9 106:3,20<br><b>moving</b> 37:21<br>86:3<br><b>mowed</b> 107:23<br><b>Moyamensing</b><br>62:16<br><b>multifaceted</b><br>43:11<br><b>multiple</b> 48:14<br><b>Mural</b> 59:6<br><b>Museum</b> 84:6 | <b>needed</b> 48:16<br>96:20<br><b>needs</b> 34:19 36:14<br>65:7 86:1<br>101:21 102:16<br><b>negative</b> 103:24<br><b>Neighbor</b> 103:18<br><b>neighborhood</b><br>4:19 6:19 7:1<br>8:2,13 14:9,14<br>19:1 23:22 28:6<br>29:2 39:17 40:1<br>40:4 41:11<br>42:12,17,22<br>45:1 62:14<br>63:24 69:13<br>70:16 72:18<br>73:10,22 74:17<br>74:20,24 75:10<br>75:16,19 76:3<br>87:18 93:21,24<br><b>neighborhoods</b><br>5:1 13:18 15:4<br>17:14,15 23:18<br>24:9 42:15<br>47:22 71:1<br>87:14,24 88:22<br><b>neighborhood-...</b><br>42:1<br><b>Neighbors</b> 90:9<br><b>network</b> 58:15<br><b>never</b> 66:24<br><b>new</b> 15:23 40:3<br>51:24 53:2 90:9<br>96:2,3,13 97:1<br>97:11<br><b>News</b> 80:13 92:23<br>93:3<br><b>nice</b> 73:10<br><b>night</b> 94:7<br><b>nine</b> 21:22 29:13<br><b>nongovernment</b><br>92:1<br><b>nonprofit</b> 7:6<br><b>nonviolent</b> 26:12<br>107:2<br><b>non-City</b> 40:24 | <b>normal</b> 15:7<br><b>normally</b> 23:4<br><b>North</b> 62:21 63:1<br>95:23,24 96:1<br><b>Northeast</b> 9:13<br>16:10<br><b>Northwest</b> 9:13<br><b>notice</b> 44:12 53:3<br>56:19 78:22<br><b>notices</b> 6:10 19:12<br>30:16 76:14<br><b>noticing</b> 20:22<br><b>notification</b> 55:20<br><b>notifications</b> 55:1<br><b>notify</b> 21:12 48:6<br>49:14 50:15<br>55:15 92:21<br><b>notifying</b> 50:21<br><b>November</b> 47:2<br><b>nuisance</b> 29:3<br>51:6 75:23<br><b>number</b> 6:23 9:8<br>10:9,21 12:17<br>41:10 51:14<br>52:24 53:7 54:4<br>98:1<br><b>numbers</b> 18:18<br>19:6 20:12 44:1<br>76:20 78:19<br><b>Nutter</b> 59:10 | <b>offenders</b> 26:12<br>92:24<br><b>offer</b> 104:6<br><b>offering</b> 44:20<br><b>office</b> 5:9 7:14<br>12:14 15:14<br>19:7,18 20:2,9<br>21:19 28:5 36:5<br>58:24 61:6 69:6<br>74:8 75:21,23<br>75:24 76:19<br>90:18 91:16<br>98:18<br><b>officer</b> 21:20<br>37:14 39:19<br>78:1,4,13 79:10<br>79:19,23 80:1<br>80:11,22 81:15<br>83:2,5 84:15,16<br>84:18,22 85:8<br>86:13<br><b>officers</b> 6:14,23<br>7:3 8:24 9:1,8<br>9:17,23 10:4<br>19:11 21:22<br>61:11,19 65:3<br>76:4,18 77:6,7<br>78:5,7 101:19<br>101:21<br><b>offices</b> 91:12<br><b>official</b> 89:16<br><b>offline</b> 16:18<br><b>oh</b> 39:9 71:6<br><b>OHCD</b> 45:4,8,9<br>105:5<br><b>oil</b> 80:8<br><b>okay</b> 20:13 25:20<br>45:14 47:3<br>51:13 53:19<br>54:9 55:5 57:16<br>79:6,24 83:8<br>84:16 89:5<br><b>old</b> 97:10 103:19<br>103:20<br><b>Olney</b> 62:22<br><b>once</b> 21:12 30:13<br>32:19 51:1 | 64:18 82:4<br>83:16 93:16<br><b>ongoing</b> 41:5<br>102:8,16<br><b>open</b> 4:21 29:20<br>48:7 49:10 56:5<br>56:6 67:11<br><b>operating</b> 12:12<br>39:19<br><b>operations</b> 74:2<br><b>operation-wise</b><br>74:6<br><b>opportunities</b><br>56:1<br><b>opportunity</b> 17:4<br>26:13 37:6<br>49:17 50:18<br>66:11 99:6<br>104:20<br><b>opposed</b> 15:7<br>36:23<br><b>option</b> 14:18<br>41:14 64:19<br><b>orange</b> 13:16<br><b>order</b> 2:4 11:16<br>50:11 97:2<br>98:12 99:19<br>103:23<br><b>ordinance</b> 22:2<br><b>ordinances</b> 2:16<br>47:24 61:5 75:5<br>76:9,23<br><b>organization</b><br>38:16 63:21<br>87:7 90:22 98:9<br>98:10 105:4,6<br><b>organizations</b> 7:6<br>40:8 41:11 42:2<br>44:6 45:1 58:11<br>60:5,6 71:17<br>90:1,24<br><b>organize</b> 61:2<br><b>organizing</b> 100:1<br><b>originated</b> 28:12<br><b>outcomes</b> 40:11<br><b>outreach</b> 87:4<br>92:12 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>outside</b> 41:17<br>42:13<br><b>overflowing</b><br>22:22,24<br><b>overgrown</b> 75:7<br><b>Oversight</b> 1:3 2:5<br>2:14 108:24<br>109:4<br><b>overview</b> 74:1,5<br><b>owned</b> 32:1<br><b>owner</b> 22:11<br>30:19 48:6<br>50:16,16 51:2<br>54:21,23 55:20<br>55:22 56:7,11<br>66:23 89:14,15<br><b>owners</b> 30:12,17<br>31:19,19,23<br>32:4 33:10,11<br>33:19 41:9<br>42:11,16 43:8<br>48:15 49:14<br>51:8 53:13 55:7<br>61:7,9 62:10<br><b>ownership</b> 94:4<br><b>owner's</b> 29:18<br><b>o'clock</b> 83:21,21 | 72:19<br><b>participating</b><br>16:12 62:10<br><b>particular</b> 9:2<br>35:19 54:13<br>70:19 93:17,19<br>94:9 97:9<br><b>parties</b> 14:17<br><b>partner</b> 70:16<br>90:2,3<br><b>partnered</b> 34:14<br>70:17<br><b>partnering</b> 70:18<br>70:24 107:2<br><b>partners</b> 42:14<br>100:20 107:22<br><b>partnership</b> 29:1<br>45:21<br><b>partnerships</b> 8:14<br>34:11,17 106:3<br><b>party</b> 24:23<br><b>pass</b> 101:14<br><b>passed</b> 22:2<br><b>pastures</b> 27:2<br><b>Pat</b> 63:21<br><b>patrol</b> 8:3 21:21<br>76:17 78:6 80:1<br><b>patrols</b> 6:15<br><b>pattern</b> 83:17<br><b>pavement</b> 66:22<br><b>pay</b> 19:15 44:21<br>69:19 70:3<br><b>paying</b> 44:7 96:8<br>108:1<br><b>peach</b> 108:4<br><b>penalties</b> 47:24<br>102:2<br><b>penalty</b> 20:4<br><b>PennFuture</b><br>86:16 87:5<br><b>Pennsylvania</b> 1:6<br>64:4 100:21<br><b>pension</b> 13:24<br><b>people</b> 7:9 11:5<br>11:12,16 12:6<br>12:17 13:9 15:5<br>16:19 17:5,16 | 24:5,7,20 38:7<br>38:14 42:9<br>52:12,14 53:11<br>57:13 63:3,3,10<br>63:19,23 64:6<br>66:10,21 67:8<br>67:14 68:2,22<br>69:1,8,10,24<br>70:3 73:5 79:8<br>79:20 81:2,5,16<br>81:20 89:1<br>92:21,24 93:7<br>94:3,12 96:8,24<br>98:11,11,24,24<br>101:23 102:3,15<br>107:17<br><b>peoples</b> 103:20<br><b>perceive</b> 89:5<br><b>percent</b> 32:8,9<br>52:12 76:4 81:4<br>82:5,9 88:11<br><b>perceptions</b> 47:23<br><b>perfect</b> 98:12<br><b>perform</b> 29:12<br><b>performance</b> 28:1<br><b>performing</b> 27:23<br><b>period</b> 21:11<br>30:22 56:3<br>96:18<br><b>periods</b> 55:21<br><b>permanent</b> 66:3<br><b>permanently</b> 8:10<br>8:16,20<br><b>permit</b> 52:18<br><b>permits</b> 72:8,9<br><b>permitting</b> 48:16<br><b>perpetrators</b><br>80:16<br><b>perpetuate</b> 93:18<br><b>person</b> 11:18<br>18:22 56:21<br>69:12 74:12<br>84:4 96:4,20<br><b>personal</b> 3:13<br><b>personally</b> 36:24<br><b>personnel</b> 6:3<br>32:9 76:10,13 | <b>person's</b> 93:2<br><b>perspective</b> 3:9<br>10:16 42:22<br>99:13<br><b>pervasive</b> 87:22<br><b>phase</b> 95:22<br><b>Philadelphia</b> 1:2<br>1:6 3:7 4:10<br>5:19 6:12 9:13<br>9:14,14,15<br>21:15 23:4<br>24:16 45:17<br>47:20,22,24<br>48:4 57:22 58:2<br>58:8,21 59:7,13<br>59:17 60:14<br>61:14 63:15<br>66:12 73:11,22<br>74:16 75:20<br>77:17 84:3 87:4<br>87:9,12 88:2,5<br>89:19 90:21<br>95:23 98:20,23<br>101:12 103:18<br><b>Philadelphia's</b><br>2:17 47:16<br><b>Philly</b> 72:19 83:6<br>93:22 108:20<br><b>Phoebe</b> 46:13<br>57:22 58:1<br>91:10,22 92:10<br><b>Phoebe's</b> 90:21<br><b>phone</b> 97:24<br><b>physically</b> 12:16<br><b>pick</b> 21:4 41:2<br>88:6 100:13<br>102:18<br><b>picked</b> 21:1<br><b>picking</b> 68:21<br>82:18<br><b>picture</b> 94:14<br><b>pictures</b> 30:15<br><b>piece</b> 96:22 97:6<br>107:5<br><b>pieces</b> 88:19<br><b>pilot</b> 51:24<br><b>pink</b> 53:2 | <b>place</b> 9:9 15:8<br>20:6 54:14<br>60:21 64:21<br>65:3 77:21<br>100:2<br><b>placed</b> 7:18 11:2<br>51:4<br><b>places</b> 24:9<br><b>placing</b> 11:24<br><b>plagued</b> 89:2<br><b>plain</b> 77:7 78:4<br><b>plan</b> 60:17<br><b>plastic</b> 60:2 72:21<br>72:22<br><b>plate</b> 28:23 36:11<br><b>plates</b> 101:6<br><b>play</b> 34:18 60:12<br><b>plead</b> 69:9<br><b>pleasant</b> 99:10<br><b>please</b> 2:10 3:20<br>39:8 47:7 57:23<br>57:24 73:12,20<br>86:16 94:24<br><b>pleased</b> 4:3 28:13<br>95:10<br><b>pleasure</b> 20:18<br>58:4<br><b>plenty</b> 68:4<br><b>plus</b> 58:11<br><b>PMBC</b> 58:24 71:7<br><b>pocket</b> 14:1 82:17<br><b>podium</b> 73:13<br>78:13<br><b>point</b> 33:6 49:19<br>52:8 56:5,24<br>90:8<br><b>pointed</b> 29:21<br><b>police</b> 5:9 19:4<br>20:10 29:1 37:9<br>37:10,17 57:3,3<br>57:9 65:4,18<br>67:3 68:9 73:11<br>73:22 74:17<br>76:9 77:5 78:1<br><b>Policemen</b> 73:15<br><b>policies</b> 87:14<br>91:6 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                   |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>portion</b> 40:23<br>45:10<br><b>position</b> 15:24<br><b>positions</b> 9:4 77:6<br>77:10<br><b>positive</b> 14:3<br><b>possibility</b> 13:8<br><b>possible</b> 19:5<br>22:11 25:8<br>51:17<br><b>possibly</b> 25:18<br>26:10<br><b>potential</b> 41:16<br>52:16 55:4<br><b>power</b> 35:9,18<br>53:24<br><b>powered</b> 28:18<br><b>practice</b> 39:23<br>43:7<br><b>practices</b> 58:16<br>58:22 59:2,3<br>61:15 65:9<br>108:19<br><b>precious</b> 24:15<br><b>premises</b> 48:3,7,8<br>75:9<br><b>presence</b> 10:4<br>88:9<br><b>present</b> 1:10 2:7<br>4:3<br><b>presentation</b> 72:1<br>91:11,23<br><b>presentations</b><br>72:23<br><b>presented</b> 20:1<br><b>presents</b> 20:2<br><b>President</b> 1:11<br>2:9 3:22 105:2<br><b>President's</b> 15:14<br><b>pretty</b> 41:22<br>86:23 95:7<br>104:13 106:22<br><b>prevent</b> 64:20<br><b>prevention</b> 59:15<br>64:16,21 73:3<br><b>pride</b> 43:15 62:14<br>63:1 71:18 | <b>primarily</b> 72:14<br><b>primary</b> 3:4 5:11<br>76:21<br><b>principle</b> 58:17<br><b>Prior</b> 9:23<br><b>priorities</b> 85:7<br>86:1<br><b>prioritize</b> 37:11<br><b>priority</b> 85:17<br>106:21 107:10<br><b>prison</b> 13:10,16<br>15:8<br><b>prisons</b> 14:18<br><b>private</b> 6:21<br>10:14,17 18:21<br>29:12,20 31:19<br>33:10,11,19<br>37:1 48:2 59:5<br>59:19<br><b>privilege</b> 54:1,5<br><b>proactive</b> 8:7 49:7<br>49:13 85:16<br><b>probably</b> 20:10<br>24:14 26:6 36:5<br>47:1 102:24<br><b>Probation</b> 107:15<br><b>problem</b> 2:19<br>4:10 8:10 9:19<br>21:18 22:9 27:8<br>39:24 57:17<br>79:16 80:5 88:3<br>89:17 97:17<br>101:1,22 104:17<br>104:21<br><b>problematic</b> 7:7<br>35:5<br><b>problems</b> 8:5 9:22<br>44:1 77:13<br>101:3<br><b>procedure</b> 20:23<br>55:24<br><b>procedures</b> 12:9<br>19:10 20:5<br><b>process</b> 3:19 13:5<br>14:21 18:17<br>19:16 20:12,24<br>26:11 30:9 40:7 | 50:3 51:5 55:6,9<br>55:11,14 56:24<br>61:23 65:7,15<br>65:17,18 66:2<br>69:24 70:18<br>71:1,23 72:17<br>85:1<br><b>processes</b> 48:16<br>64:24 65:20<br><b>productive</b> 14:9<br>14:13 15:10<br><b>productivity</b> 76:5<br>77:3<br><b>profile</b> 66:7<br><b>program</b> 5:15 6:9<br>6:11 9:2 12:12<br>12:15 16:10,22<br>24:5 26:15<br>27:15 28:5,8,11<br>28:12,18 29:10<br>29:15 30:7 34:3<br>40:23 41:1<br>44:21 48:24<br>52:1 60:16<br>64:11 72:4,5,6<br>75:1,24 99:2<br>100:16,17<br>106:17<br><b>programming</b><br>71:24<br><b>programs</b> 17:10<br>39:21 44:4 59:5<br>59:5,7,18,21<br>64:16<br><b>progress</b> 37:8<br><b>projects</b> 59:23<br>60:1 62:3 63:2<br>71:15<br><b>promote</b> 71:11<br>72:5<br><b>prompt</b> 75:2<br><b>proper</b> 11:17<br>48:16 89:12<br>98:2<br><b>properties</b> 23:24<br>31:3,20 49:10<br>50:6,7 51:15,19 | 52:15 53:1,6,12<br>54:10,13<br><b>property</b> 4:21<br>6:21 10:14<br>22:10 29:13,18<br>30:12,24 31:19<br>31:23 32:2 33:3<br>41:9,13 43:2<br>48:2 49:15<br>50:12,15,24<br>51:4,8 54:18,21<br>54:24 55:7,12<br>55:13,18 56:14<br>56:19 57:12<br>66:23 88:8,10<br>89:15<br><b>proposals</b> 40:18<br>46:19<br><b>proposed</b> 54:23<br><b>prosecute</b> 7:17<br><b>prosecution</b> 19:23<br><b>prospects</b> 80:2<br><b>prouder</b> 66:13<br><b>prove</b> 19:20<br><b>provide</b> 5:5 28:21<br>39:20 40:9 42:4<br>47:14,24 48:14<br>51:12 54:8<br>89:24 99:13<br><b>provided</b> 30:19<br>53:17 105:24<br><b>provides</b> 75:19<br><b>providing</b> 59:18<br><b>public</b> 2:4 10:23<br>11:10 26:23<br>32:1 47:20,22<br>48:1 59:18<br>63:20 66:9<br>67:10,13 94:22<br>94:23 106:2<br>108:23 109:4<br><b>publicity</b> 66:7<br><b>pulling</b> 71:5<br><b>punish</b> 93:7<br><b>purchasing</b> 7:11<br><b>purpose</b> 3:4<br><b>pursue</b> 29:24 33:5 | <b>put</b> 2:22 15:1 31:9<br>35:2 46:9,9,17<br>66:8,9 77:9 81:6<br>84:24 92:22<br>104:11,18<br><b>puts</b> 83:11<br><b>putting</b> 44:19<br>52:13 |
| <b>Q</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                   |
| <b>quadrant</b> 25:16<br><b>quality</b> 4:17,24<br>7:24 16:9 26:24<br>34:6 40:14<br>67:10 68:10<br>74:2,23 76:22<br>77:4,11,18<br>87:15 88:14<br>93:10 96:7,18<br>105:12<br><b>quasi-governm...</b><br>32:2<br><b>question</b> 20:21<br>23:4 32:18 33:8<br>44:24 46:3 50:2<br>53:23 54:10<br>70:13<br><b>questions</b> 8:23<br>12:23 25:24<br>32:13 34:22<br>41:19,22 46:1<br>49:19 70:14<br>77:24 78:14<br>89:21<br><b>quick</b> 96:14<br><b>quite</b> 101:8<br><b>quorum</b> 2:7                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                   |
| <b>R</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                   |
| <b>raised</b> 11:7 13:3<br>93:21<br><b>raises</b> 89:12<br><b>raising</b> 5:3 36:7,9<br><b>random</b> 25:14<br><b>randomly</b> 25:9<br><b>rate</b> 32:24 52:12<br><b>rates</b> 4:23<br><b>read</b> 2:10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                   |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>Reading</b> 16:2<br><b>ready</b> 64:8<br><b>real</b> 64:19 71:18<br>73:8 96:14<br><b>realize</b> 44:8<br><b>really</b> 14:6,10<br>15:9,9 30:10<br>34:17 36:20<br>38:17 43:10<br>44:5 56:10,13<br>60:19 61:4<br>64:14,19 65:22<br>66:3,6 69:21<br>71:5,15 72:1<br>73:2,4 81:8,19<br>85:16,22,23<br>87:21 88:23<br>93:12 94:5 97:9<br>99:21 100:17<br>101:10,13<br>102:12,15 103:5<br><b>reason</b> 79:10<br>80:19<br><b>reasons</b> 35:4 44:4<br><b>reassigned</b> 78:5<br><b>Rec</b> 13:4 14:16<br><b>receive</b> 21:14<br>22:17 40:20<br>100:21<br><b>received</b> 30:14<br>31:23 38:7<br>46:19<br><b>recidivism</b> 102:17<br><b>recognize</b> 99:23<br><b>recognized</b> 42:9<br><b>recommendatio...</b><br>92:5<br><b>record</b> 3:20 13:12<br>27:19 34:24<br>36:10,11 37:19<br>39:8 47:8 57:24<br>73:20 84:13<br>87:2 95:1,16<br>106:4<br><b>recreation</b> 4:14<br><b>recruit</b> 72:7<br><b>recyclables</b> 40:13 | <b>Recycle</b> 90:23<br><b>recycled</b> 108:8<br><b>recycling</b> 40:17<br>59:21 60:2<br><b>reduce</b> 39:21<br>50:11 104:19<br><b>reduced</b> 45:3<br><b>reducing</b> 72:21<br><b>reduction</b> 58:13<br>89:18<br><b>reference</b> 77:17<br><b>refinery</b> 80:8<br><b>reflect</b> 76:20<br><b>reforming</b> 63:21<br><b>refunds</b> 27:24<br><b>refuse</b> 4:7<br><b>regard</b> 11:13<br>17:22 28:6<br><b>regarding</b> 3:11<br>16:4 26:7 29:12<br>39:21 74:1<br>96:16 104:21<br><b>regards</b> 8:24<br><b>register</b> 22:5<br>23:20<br><b>regular</b> 13:16<br><b>regulations</b> 75:5<br><b>reinspection</b><br>30:21<br><b>related</b> 8:2 22:1,3<br>40:10 65:11<br>94:3<br><b>relates</b> 74:2 78:17<br>90:4 100:19<br><b>relating</b> 75:5<br><b>relationship</b> 92:1<br>101:14<br><b>release</b> 26:15<br><b>released</b> 15:12<br><b>relief</b> 102:12<br><b>remainder</b> 10:2<br><b>remaining</b> 31:17<br>31:18 32:1<br><b>remediating</b><br>64:18<br><b>remediation</b> 73:3<br><b>remedies</b> 55:4 | <b>remember</b> 93:20<br><b>remind</b> 37:6<br><b>removal</b> 5:23 75:2<br><b>remove</b> 48:8<br>57:10<br><b>removed</b> 5:19<br>21:10 40:15,16<br>40:16<br><b>repair</b> 21:13<br><b>Repairs</b> 21:11<br><b>repeat</b> 92:23<br>104:6<br><b>report</b> 8:6 21:19<br>24:12 33:22<br>37:9 63:23<br><b>reported</b> 21:11<br>37:13<br><b>reports</b> 40:13<br><b>representation</b><br>91:24<br><b>representative</b><br>27:14<br><b>representing</b><br>27:14<br><b>represents</b> 45:17<br>45:18<br><b>request</b> 49:9<br>75:17 76:12<br>78:17<br><b>require</b> 22:4<br>41:16 77:1<br><b>required</b> 22:5<br><b>requirements</b><br>48:18 50:15<br><b>requires</b> 12:20<br><b>Research</b> 89:1,8<br><b>residences</b> 75:8<br><b>resident</b> 18:21<br>66:22 69:15<br><b>residential</b> 49:10<br><b>residents</b> 8:13<br>16:11 24:1 37:8<br>43:16 47:21<br>102:5 103:1<br><b>resolution</b> 1:16<br>2:11,12 47:14<br><b>resolve</b> 49:4 | <b>resource</b> 63:17<br>71:15<br><b>resources</b> 12:21<br>17:18 24:15<br>25:2,19 30:11<br>35:18 60:22<br>71:2,4 107:9<br><b>responds</b> 75:17<br><b>response</b> 55:22<br>74:19<br><b>responsibilities</b><br>6:13 49:14<br>75:14 76:6<br><b>responsibility</b><br>58:19 77:12<br><b>responsible</b> 7:1<br>30:7 54:17,19<br>56:11,16 75:15<br><b>responsive</b> 49:13<br><b>rest</b> 10:1<br><b>restaurants</b> 62:19<br><b>restructured</b> 6:24<br>9:7<br><b>result</b> 100:21<br><b>results</b> 32:5<br><b>reverberate</b> 5:2<br><b>review</b> 19:18<br>46:10,14,15<br><b>reviewed</b> 46:6<br><b>reviewing</b> 40:18<br>46:18<br><b>revitalization</b><br>40:5<br><b>revoke</b> 54:1<br><b>revoked</b> 54:5<br><b>revolves</b> 90:14<br><b>RFP</b> 40:6,21 46:9<br>46:17 47:1<br><b>rid</b> 8:19<br><b>ride</b> 38:10 80:18<br><b>riding</b> 84:5,8<br><b>right</b> 10:14 12:14<br>16:23 23:3,13<br>33:16 35:16<br>36:13 39:11<br>43:10 44:16<br>46:21 52:4 | 55:17 56:22<br>57:13 67:23<br>68:3,17 70:6<br>84:6 85:4 97:22<br><b>right-hand</b> 74:12<br><b>rivers</b> 88:18<br><b>road</b> 14:8 26:9<br><b>Rob</b> 81:23 82:1<br><b>Robert</b> 78:1 84:15<br><b>Robinson</b> 95:17<br>95:17,19,20<br>100:6,7 105:22<br><b>rodents</b> 11:2<br>22:24<br><b>role</b> 13:7 27:23<br>34:18 59:14<br>65:5<br><b>Room</b> 1:6<br><b>root</b> 98:10 105:14<br><b>rotated</b> 7:21<br><b>round</b> 40:19<br><b>rules</b> 89:6<br><b>Run</b> 62:15 |
| <b>S</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      | <b>safer</b> 63:6 66:13<br>77:21 90:15<br>98:7<br><b>safety</b> 4:11 26:23<br>67:11,13<br><b>sale</b> 51:6<br><b>sanitation</b> 6:13<br>7:4 9:10<br><b>satisfied</b> 81:5<br><b>satisfy</b> 81:6<br><b>Saturday</b> 23:18<br>23:19<br><b>Saturdays</b> 25:4<br><b>saw</b> 67:15,17<br><b>saying</b> 17:3 67:15<br>71:6 92:3 94:12<br><b>says</b> 36:12 88:19<br>93:16<br><b>scale</b> 61:19<br><b>scenario</b> 54:22<br><b>schedule</b> 89:24<br>91:19                        |

|                           |                           |                           |                          |                           |
|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|
| <b>scheduled</b> 25:10    | 86:12                     | <b>shown</b> 63:6 89:1    | 81:11,21                 | <b>Squilla</b> 1:12 18:2  |
| <b>school</b> 59:21,23    | <b>serious</b> 4:9        | <b>shut</b> 55:10         | <b>son</b> 96:5          | 18:15 20:14,15            |
| 62:22 72:2,4,11           | <b>serve</b> 28:16        | <b>side</b> 15:5,5 19:10  | <b>soon</b> 22:11        | 20:17 22:12,16            |
| <b>schools</b> 59:17,19   | <b>service</b> 5:11 25:13 | 20:7,8 37:1               | <b>sorry</b> 28:2 102:7  | 23:3 24:19                |
| 59:20 72:12,13            | 34:6 63:20                | 91:24                     | <b>sort</b> 71:5 87:10   | 25:20 32:15,16            |
| 103:4                     | 107:4,19                  | <b>sidewalk</b> 40:9      | 90:12,12,14,23           | 32:18 33:1,14             |
| <b>schoolyard</b> 72:15   | <b>serviced</b> 5:17 10:3 | 41:3                      | 91:2,4 92:9,10           | 38:1,2,6,21               |
| <b>School's</b> 71:23     | <b>services</b> 19:1 28:6 | <b>sidewalks</b> 4:13     | 93:12 101:5              | 41:21 46:3,16             |
| <b>seal</b> 49:8,9,11     | 29:2 40:10 41:8           | 10:13,18,18               | 102:20                   | 46:21 47:3                |
| 50:3 51:20 57:6           | 41:15,17 44:19            | 29:15 47:19               | <b>sorted</b> 57:5       | 49:22,23 50:1             |
| 57:11                     | 63:24 73:10,23            | <b>signal</b> 36:20       | <b>source</b> 71:18      | 51:1,7,13,24              |
| <b>sealed</b> 50:8,12,15  | 74:17,21,24               | <b>significant</b> 6:6    | <b>South</b> 9:14 83:6   | 52:5,20,23 53:5           |
| 51:2,16                   | 75:10,16,19               | 23:14 78:16               | 93:22 108:19             | 53:10,19 56:17            |
| <b>sealing</b> 50:23 51:9 | 76:3 106:11               | <b>significantly</b> 45:3 | <b>southwest</b> 9:14    | 56:18,23 57:8             |
| <b>second</b> 96:15       | <b>set</b> 10:24 45:10    | 79:9,11 88:21             | 79:15 80:18              | 57:16 58:4                |
| <b>secured</b> 22:23      | 50:11 85:11               | <b>signs</b> 40:15 84:9   | 83:6 86:7                | 62:20 66:18,19            |
| <b>see</b> 10:7 14:18     | <b>seven</b> 106:14       | <b>similar</b> 91:22      | <b>space</b> 63:10,11    | 67:16 68:1,6              |
| 26:5 28:13 37:7           | <b>severe</b> 12:8        | <b>simple</b> 73:8        | <b>spaces</b> 4:22 63:4  | 69:2,5,17,23              |
| 38:22 43:7 44:5           | <b>sexy</b> 87:20         | <b>sir</b> 17:23 25:22    | 64:10                    | 70:7                      |
| 44:10 55:18               | <b>shakes</b> 34:1        | 70:11 84:22               | <b>speak</b> 20:7 28:3   | <b>staff</b> 6:3 46:11    |
| 57:13 60:24               | <b>share</b> 58:16,22     | 86:13 95:6                | 49:17 78:11              | 76:24 77:1                |
| 63:10 65:21               | <b>Sharp</b> 86:15,17     | 107:12 108:11             | 95:14,21 99:6            | 97:21                     |
| 70:2 78:18,20             | 86:20,23 87:3,4           | <b>sit</b> 85:20          | 99:21 100:18             | <b>staffers</b> 90:18     |
| 84:5,8 85:2               | 90:6 91:15,20             | <b>site</b> 36:16 55:2,8  | 101:11 102:17            | <b>stake</b> 42:19 88:2   |
| 102:2 108:14              | 92:9 94:20                | 102:6,8,10                | <b>special</b> 41:8,15   | <b>stakeholder</b> 64:12  |
| <b>seeing</b> 45:18       | <b>sheriff</b> 51:6       | <b>sites</b> 35:3 64:7,8  | 59:16 61:8               | 90:20                     |
| <b>seek</b> 30:10 55:3    | <b>She'll</b> 74:12       | <b>sitting</b> 14:7 67:20 | <b>specific</b> 75:15    | <b>stakeholders</b>       |
| <b>seeking</b> 27:24      | <b>shine</b> 103:10       | <b>situation</b> 36:15    | <b>specifically</b> 3:13 | 45:19 46:12               |
| <b>seen</b> 43:7 66:24    | <b>shined</b> 85:14       | <b>situations</b> 21:8    | 33:13 62:6               | 90:3                      |
| 67:7,8                    | <b>shoppers</b> 40:1,4    | 85:6                      | 69:10,11 74:3            | <b>stand</b> 24:11 86:16  |
| <b>sees</b> 21:18 65:21   | <b>short</b> 3:6,14 5:18  | <b>six</b> 9:11 40:11     | <b>Spires</b> 73:12,16   | <b>standard</b> 88:6      |
| <b>segue</b> 73:10        | 18:17,20 45:3             | 52:10 82:20               | 73:21,22 74:7            | <b>standards</b> 89:13    |
| <b>sell</b> 52:15         | 54:2,13,22 55:2           | <b>skill</b> 13:22        | 74:11 78:1,3,10          | <b>standpoint</b> 10:11   |
| <b>send</b> 21:20 23:16   | 74:3 75:3 76:2            | <b>small</b> 10:12        | 79:22                    | 10:17,18,20               |
| 32:19 55:19               | 77:8 78:23                | <b>smarter</b> 11:24      | <b>splurge</b> 80:19     | 18:19 26:23,24            |
| 56:2                      | 79:16 80:17               | 29:22                     | <b>spoke</b> 65:14 90:18 | 34:7 36:4,7 43:8          |
| <b>sends</b> 36:20        | 81:17 87:19               | <b>snapshot</b> 61:20     | 96:20                    | 45:20 54:19               |
| <b>sense</b> 35:24 87:13  | 92:20,22 96:16            | <b>Society</b> 59:6       | <b>spoken</b> 91:15      | 70:20 78:20               |
| 93:18                     | 100:8,24 101:7            | <b>solar</b> 28:18        | <b>sponsor</b> 62:13     | 85:24 88:3,13             |
| <b>sensitive</b> 28:19    | 109:1                     | 105:10,11                 | <b>spotlight</b> 85:14   | 99:20,22 106:19           |
| <b>sent</b> 33:9,18       | <b>shortly</b> 46:23      | <b>sold</b> 53:7          | <b>spots</b> 9:19        | 106:23,24 107:5           |
| <b>separate</b> 42:24     | <b>shot</b> 80:2          | <b>solutions</b> 8:15     | <b>spread</b> 62:5 68:22 | 107:7,8                   |
| <b>separated</b> 9:11     | <b>shovels</b> 62:8       | 44:2                      | 68:24 103:11             | <b>start</b> 36:4 44:9,15 |
| <b>Sergeant</b> 73:11,16  | <b>show</b> 10:5 28:23    | <b>solve</b> 9:21         | <b>Spring</b> 72:19      | 44:18 47:9                |
| 73:21,21 74:1,7           | 39:13 40:22               | <b>somebody</b> 25:4      | <b>spurred</b> 42:5      | 59:23 65:21               |
| 74:11 78:1,3,10           | 63:3                      | 36:12 38:11               | <b>square</b> 107:23     | 68:3,7,15,18              |
| 79:22 81:23               | <b>showing</b> 59:8       | 42:12 44:13,13            | <b>squatters</b> 57:14   | 71:9 107:13,20            |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 107:21<br><b>started</b> 82:14,15<br>107:16<br><b>starting</b> 43:20<br>104:2<br><b>starts</b> 46:20 68:12<br>72:1 73:4 88:16<br>102:9<br><b>state</b> 3:20 14:7<br>26:9 27:18 39:7<br>45:18 47:8<br>57:23 64:11<br>73:19 84:13<br>87:1 94:24<br>95:15 100:20<br><b>statements</b> 19:24<br><b>statewide</b> 64:4<br>87:6<br><b>state-wide</b> 64:12<br><b>statistics</b> 41:22<br>74:4 88:18<br><b>stats</b> 74:8,13<br><b>stay</b> 81:22 82:3<br>98:22<br><b>steady</b> 77:16<br><b>steal</b> 89:4<br><b>step</b> 43:8 44:15<br>102:1<br><b>stepped</b> 10:11<br><b>steps</b> 56:14 57:5<br><b>Steve</b> 91:15 97:22<br><b>stick</b> 34:3<br><b>stipend</b> 26:10<br>99:3,22<br><b>Stober</b> 27:17,20<br>27:22 32:17,23<br>33:4,16,22 34:9<br>35:2,12,16,20<br>37:4,22 38:5,20<br>38:24<br><b>stop</b> 11:24<br><b>stories</b> 92:24<br><b>story</b> 42:18<br><b>strains</b> 85:5<br><b>strapped</b> 17:18<br><b>strategically</b> 7:18<br><b>strategy</b> 61:10 | <b>streamline</b> 65:6<br><b>streams</b> 88:17<br><b>street</b> 6:15 11:4<br>24:7,17,22,24<br>43:13 62:7,9,12<br>62:15,21 63:1<br>67:20 80:10,11<br>80:21 86:9,9<br>94:11 95:24<br>96:1 105:10<br><b>streets</b> 3:16 4:2,2<br>4:13 5:6,12,13<br>5:16,21 6:1,8,11<br>6:22 7:10,23 8:3<br>8:4 16:15 17:6<br>20:18 23:7 25:3<br>28:13 29:16<br>34:16 46:13<br>52:2 58:23<br>61:18 64:6<br>65:16 71:6<br>88:16 91:3<br>98:13,17 106:6<br><b>strength</b> 43:24<br>87:14<br><b>stretching</b> 9:12<br><b>strewn</b> 21:3<br><b>strictly</b> 92:2<br><b>strides</b> 50:10<br><b>stripped</b> 97:15<br><b>strong</b> 39:1 64:22<br><b>stronger</b> 36:20<br>92:12<br><b>structure</b> 56:9,13<br>57:6<br><b>structures</b> 49:12<br><b>students</b> 62:23<br>72:2,7<br><b>studies</b> 63:5<br><b>stuff</b> 66:9 81:2<br>93:9<br><b>subsidize</b> 41:17<br><b>succeeded</b> 53:15<br><b>successful</b> 41:1<br>48:10<br><b>sudden</b> 81:12<br><b>suggest</b> 101:10,16 | <b>suggestions</b> 17:10<br>65:1 66:20<br>103:8<br><b>summer</b> 98:20<br><b>supplies</b> 32:10<br>72:10<br><b>support</b> 10:6<br>17:20 25:18<br>27:7 29:3 33:7<br>34:22 37:21<br>40:22 42:5 44:5<br>53:16 66:11<br>75:1 76:14,21<br><b>supporting</b> 44:24<br><b>supportive</b> 3:8<br>16:12 85:1,3<br>91:13<br><b>supports</b> 6:18<br><b>sure</b> 18:23 19:3<br>20:23 22:8<br>31:11 47:4<br>51:18 53:4<br>54:17 69:12<br>74:7 78:9 87:3<br>89:22 90:6 91:9<br>91:13 92:7<br>97:18,20 102:5<br>104:18<br><b>surge</b> 79:13<br><b>surveillance</b> 80:4<br>107:5<br><b>surveillances</b> 77:8<br><b>survey</b> 64:5,7,9<br><b>surveys</b> 39:23<br>48:11<br><b>suspended</b> 36:19<br><b>Susquehanna</b><br>100:12 102:7,18<br><b>sustain</b> 96:21<br><b>sustainable</b> 8:15<br>98:15,22 99:4<br>105:16 106:8<br><b>sweep</b> 5:15 6:10<br>6:14,17,20 8:24<br>9:1 19:11 21:20<br>44:18 101:19,21<br><b>sweeping</b> 43:13 | <b>sweeps</b> 21:6 44:13<br>61:6,11 66:21<br>71:7<br><b>switch</b> 83:19<br><b>sworn</b> 18:4<br><b>system</b> 13:10<br>26:20<br><b>systematic</b> 93:18<br><b>systemic</b> 93:12<br><hr/> <b>T</b> <hr/> <b>table</b> 73:15 86:17<br><b>tackle</b> 8:1<br><b>tactic</b> 63:18<br><b>tactics</b> 73:1<br><b>tagged</b> 53:1<br><b>take</b> 3:5 14:11<br>26:21 36:9<br>37:15 41:5 44:9<br>49:16 50:18,22<br>50:22 55:3,11<br>55:12,15 56:8<br>56:14 57:5<br>59:16 66:9<br>78:13 82:20<br>85:23,24 86:16<br>89:20 94:9,14<br>102:23 108:5,14<br><b>taken</b> 18:11 31:1<br>35:15 52:7<br>54:16<br><b>takeout</b> 104:4<br><b>takes</b> 50:6 76:6<br>100:2<br><b>talk</b> 30:6 64:13<br>70:20 72:20<br>85:7 87:17 91:4<br>96:19<br><b>talked</b> 18:9 28:9,9<br>42:3 73:6<br><b>talking</b> 26:12<br>36:4<br><b>Task</b> 29:4 75:23<br><b>taxes</b> 52:18<br><b>tear</b> 4:24<br><b>teeth</b> 92:15<br><b>tell</b> 20:10 51:19 | 81:2 83:23 89:8<br>99:6 104:10<br><b>telling</b> 81:23<br><b>tells</b> 89:10<br><b>Temple</b> 105:14<br><b>tempted</b> 89:3<br><b>ten</b> 7:11 13:13<br>30:18,20 50:12<br>50:13 82:12<br>83:23 88:5<br>107:17<br><b>Tennessee</b> 65:10<br>65:12<br><b>term</b> 92:20<br><b>terms</b> 3:10 10:13<br>26:8 36:21<br>44:24 50:14<br>52:12,18 53:24<br>54:10 55:6,21<br>70:15 74:6<br>92:10<br><b>territory</b> 62:13<br><b>testify</b> 2:24 47:9<br>98:5 100:7<br><b>testifying</b> 95:13<br><b>testimony</b> 4:4<br>16:3 19:24<br>39:20 47:14<br>89:24 94:23<br>96:15,17 99:13<br>105:17,23<br>108:22<br><b>thank</b> 2:20,22<br>8:21,22 13:1,2<br>15:17,19 16:1<br>17:24 20:13<br>25:20,21 27:1,5<br>27:6 38:23 39:2<br>39:3 41:18,20<br>47:3,5 49:17,20<br>51:23 53:20,21<br>53:22 57:16,18<br>57:20 61:5<br>66:15,16 70:8<br>70:11,12 73:9<br>73:13,24 74:14<br>77:23 78:12 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 86:11,13 89:22<br>89:23 91:17<br>94:18,19,20<br>95:11 98:4 99:5<br>99:7,8 100:5<br>104:20,22<br>105:19,20,22<br>106:16 108:11<br>108:21,22 109:3<br><b>Thanks</b> 73:14,19<br>89:20 95:8<br><b>theory</b> 93:16<br><b>thing</b> 10:22 25:24<br>33:17 34:2<br>43:12 55:6<br>65:13 66:6<br>82:11,13<br><b>things</b> 18:9,11<br>26:2 60:24 62:6<br>62:8 64:14<br>65:19 68:14,14<br>71:11,20 101:2<br><b>think</b> 10:21 11:11<br>11:14 12:19<br>14:6,10,21 15:9<br>16:6,21,23<br>17:11,19 24:4<br>26:20 30:2<br>36:14,24 38:21<br>42:5,22 43:19<br>65:13 67:17<br>68:18 69:21<br>86:1 92:6,17<br>93:15 98:7<br>101:17,24<br>102:15 103:5<br>104:12,16 107:6<br>108:13<br><b>thinking</b> 45:15<br>68:3 91:10<br><b>third</b> 56:2<br><b>Thomas</b> 97:8<br><b>Thompson</b><br>105:10<br><b>thought</b> 9:8<br><b>three</b> 23:21 24:3<br>25:4,6 56:1 | 60:13 65:1 92:5<br>93:1 98:20<br><b>throw</b> 67:19,22<br><b>thrust</b> 56:10<br><b>ticket</b> 66:23,24<br>67:6 68:19,20<br>69:16,20 93:6<br>93:17<br><b>ticketed</b> 67:8<br><b>ticketing</b> 10:12<br>42:24 43:5<br><b>tickets</b> 10:9 43:2<br>61:12 65:3 76:1<br><b>time</b> 9:24 41:2<br>42:19 50:7,11<br>55:21,22 56:2<br>62:20 77:23<br>81:3 82:5,8<br>89:23<br><b>times</b> 23:21 24:3<br>61:21 88:6 93:1<br><b>tires</b> 4:8 5:23<br>40:16 80:8,20<br>81:11 85:9,10<br>85:11 86:6<br><b>title</b> 2:10<br><b>today</b> 2:23 3:3<br>27:16,23 28:3<br>39:19 47:7,13<br>49:18 73:19<br>83:12 86:12<br>94:18 95:8 99:9<br>104:21 105:17<br><b>today's</b> 74:9<br><b>toe</b> 93:6<br><b>Tom</b> 27:15,22,23<br>28:2 38:16<br><b>tomorrow</b> 82:1<br><b>tons</b> 4:15 5:20<br><b>tool</b> 12:5,20 28:15<br>29:9 61:24<br>67:13<br><b>tools</b> 32:10<br><b>top</b> 92:5 99:15,16<br><b>topic</b> 47:15<br><b>tore</b> 108:9<br><b>total</b> 5:23 28:23 | 40:8<br><b>totaling</b> 31:24<br>33:19<br><b>totally</b> 33:10<br>65:16,17<br><b>tough</b> 85:5<br><b>tour</b> 108:16<br><b>tourism</b> 88:9<br><b>tracks</b> 84:7<br><b>traffic</b> 29:5 75:11<br><b>trail</b> 81:22<br><b>train</b> 76:13 84:7<br><b>training</b> 61:22<br>76:12<br><b>trash</b> 4:6,16 8:3<br>10:24 11:21<br>21:3 22:23<br>39:23 41:2<br>44:20 63:7<br>67:19,21 68:13<br>73:8 88:6<br>100:10 102:8<br>103:1,14 104:11<br><b>trashed</b> 30:19<br><b>treat</b> 63:11<br><b>trees</b> 108:4,4,7<br><b>tremendous</b><br>50:10 53:15<br><b>trespass</b> 89:4<br><b>trespassing</b> 57:2<br><b>trial</b> 19:19<br><b>trip</b> 108:14<br><b>truck</b> 25:1,6<br><b>trucks</b> 23:6,15<br>25:12<br><b>truly</b> 99:17<br><b>Trust</b> 98:9 105:3<br><b>truth</b> 99:7<br><b>try</b> 9:21 11:15<br>12:9 38:18<br>43:21 71:15<br>80:24 94:16<br>96:12<br><b>trying</b> 16:14<br>80:16 94:13<br>96:21 104:19<br><b>turn</b> 18:15 46:2 | <b>Twenty-two</b><br>29:16<br><b>two</b> 3:8 19:9 20:5<br>22:3 60:18 61:4<br>64:5 65:6 79:6,7<br>101:23<br><b>two-pronged</b><br>92:11,18<br><b>type</b> 10:15 11:9<br>21:16 26:14<br>36:18 42:4<br>54:15 55:7,12<br>94:16 103:15<br><b>types</b> 108:10<br><b>Typically</b> 71:9                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | <b>ups</b> 23:5 35:11<br><b>upset</b> 97:9<br><b>use</b> 30:1 35:9<br>61:24 62:3<br>101:4 103:11<br>106:11<br><b>user</b> 22:19 23:2<br><b>usually</b> 46:10<br>71:19 85:6,18<br><b>utilize</b> 13:23 14:6<br>15:3,10 60:11<br><b>utilized</b> 13:13<br>14:20 75:12<br><b>utilizing</b> 16:23<br>35:24                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | <b>U</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | <b>V</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | <b>ultimately</b> 5:4<br>66:13 77:14<br>93:11<br><b>umbrella</b> 74:24<br><b>unclean</b> 55:8<br><b>understand</b> 15:2<br>15:6 64:14 68:9<br>91:5 100:9<br><b>undesirable</b> 55:9<br><b>Unfortunately</b><br>11:23<br><b>unified</b> 90:13<br><b>uniform</b> 77:5<br><b>uniformed</b> 76:17<br><b>uniforms</b> 77:9<br><b>union</b> 15:2 98:12<br><b>unit</b> 5:13,17 29:2<br>49:8 64:1 73:23<br>74:17,18,20,21<br>74:24 75:10,16<br>75:19 76:3,6,10<br>76:20,21 77:2<br>77:15 82:12<br><b>units</b> 9:10 51:10<br>51:14 74:22<br><b>University</b> 105:15<br><b>unnoted</b> 100:4<br><b>unpaid</b> 49:2 51:6<br>52:18<br><b>Upland</b> 86:8 | <b>vacant</b> 4:14 6:21<br>28:8 30:7,9,13<br>30:16,18 31:6<br>31:15 32:5 48:7<br>49:9,12 54:10<br>54:11 56:6 75:7<br><b>value</b> 75:8 104:12<br><b>values</b> 4:21 41:13<br>88:8,11<br><b>VanStory</b> 95:2,3<br>95:5,6,9,13,21<br>96:17 97:5,20<br>98:4 105:1,2,9<br>106:4,10 107:12<br>108:16<br><b>variety</b> 18:7<br><b>various</b> 3:10<br>61:21 62:2<br>101:2<br><b>vary</b> 55:21<br><b>vehicle</b> 20:5 36:14<br>74:18<br><b>vehicles</b> 75:2<br>82:15,16 83:10<br>84:19 101:7<br><b>vehicle's</b> 28:23<br><b>veil</b> 71:6<br><b>vernacular</b><br>103:11<br><b>vett</b> 13:11 |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>viable</b> 14:18<br>41:14<br><b>VICE-CHAIR</b><br>1:12<br><b>vigilance</b> 63:8<br><b>violate</b> 11:13<br>55:19<br><b>violation</b> 6:9<br>11:19 12:8 56:6<br>76:14<br><b>violations</b> 6:20<br>19:11 20:9 21:8<br>21:24 29:14,16<br>30:16 31:13<br><b>violators</b> 6:15<br>7:17 11:23<br>12:16<br><b>violence</b> 93:18<br><b>visible</b> 65:4 92:20<br><b>vision</b> 59:12 60:8<br><b>visioning</b> 71:21<br><b>visit</b> 4:12 77:22<br><b>visited</b> 48:19<br><b>visitor</b> 89:15<br><b>visits</b> 88:1<br><b>visual</b> 61:19<br><b>vitality</b> 47:21<br><b>Vivian</b> 95:3 105:1<br>106:14<br><b>voluntary</b> 13:9,13<br><b>volunteers</b> 16:5 | 99:18 106:16<br>107:21<br><b>wanted</b> 8:23<br>96:19 97:5<br><b>wanting</b> 17:12<br><b>warning</b> 43:4<br><b>warrant</b> 81:21<br><b>wasn't</b> 10:2 82:13<br>83:13 106:5,7<br>107:22<br><b>waste</b> 12:1 58:12<br>58:19<br><b>wastebaskets</b><br>11:5<br><b>watching</b> 63:4<br><b>water</b> 23:7 88:14<br>105:13 108:3<br><b>waterways</b> 88:18<br>88:20<br><b>way</b> 15:10 17:19<br>31:5 37:21 41:8<br>53:11 59:9<br>61:24 63:12<br>68:19 77:3 79:9<br>79:11 84:1<br>94:16 104:1<br>107:9<br><b>ways</b> 2:18 4:18<br>38:22 43:6<br>49:16 60:10<br><b>weather</b> 72:8,8<br><b>Wednesday</b> 102:9<br>102:9<br><b>weeds</b> 30:17 75:7<br><b>week</b> 35:9 38:12<br><b>weekend</b> 102:10<br><b>weeks</b> 98:20<br><b>week's</b> 62:15<br><b>welcome</b> 66:11<br>86:14<br><b>welfare</b> 4:12<br><b>went</b> 48:13 78:21<br>93:23<br><b>West</b> 105:10<br><b>we'll</b> 35:20 77:23<br>91:12,13<br><b>we're</b> 23:9,10 | 30:3 90:19 93:6<br>105:9<br><b>we've</b> 21:16 53:15<br>62:2 108:10<br><b>Williams</b> 3:19,22<br>4:1 9:3,7 10:21<br>12:13 14:15<br>15:16,21 16:1<br>17:23 18:23<br>19:4,9 20:16<br>21:7 22:15,18<br>23:13 25:9,22<br>27:5,10 28:10<br>29:21 98:6,14<br>106:17<br><b>willing</b> 17:11<br><b>window</b> 67:22<br>93:15<br><b>windows</b> 52:3,13<br>52:21 53:2<br><b>win-win</b> 26:22<br><b>wiped</b> 104:17<br><b>witness</b> 2:21 3:15<br>19:23 73:15<br>86:17<br><b>witnessed</b> 6:4<br><b>wondering</b> 96:9<br><b>wood</b> 105:11<br><b>Woodstock</b> 102:7<br><b>word</b> 66:1 67:18<br>68:21,24<br><b>words</b> 63:10<br><b>work</b> 3:1 4:12 7:4<br>7:5 8:4 9:20<br>13:21 14:16<br>15:5,6,7 16:20<br>17:12 24:12<br>26:14 33:12<br>34:15 38:18,19<br>38:24 42:10<br>43:12,15,20<br>57:3 59:17 60:4<br>60:9,11 61:1,24<br>68:16 70:8<br>72:12,14 75:22<br>77:22 83:14<br>86:5 98:1 100:1 | 100:3 101:9<br>102:21 105:13<br>105:18 106:1<br><b>worked</b> 43:19<br>55:10 59:20<br>60:14 63:15<br>64:3 98:13<br>106:5<br><b>working</b> 8:17<br>9:18 11:14<br>13:17,17 20:18<br>27:10 53:8<br>62:22 70:10,21<br>73:4 76:18<br>90:20 98:16,18<br>107:14<br><b>works</b> 5:6 88:1<br><b>worry</b> 68:12<br><b>worse</b> 67:20<br><b>wouldn't</b> 35:3<br>106:7<br><b>wrap</b> 108:12<br><b>wrapped</b> 62:24<br><b>write</b> 31:13 61:11<br>65:3<br><b>writers</b> 75:4<br><b>writes</b> 30:16<br><b>wrote</b> 21:7 | <b>year's</b> 40:21<br><b>young</b> 67:9<br><b>younger</b> 73:5<br><b>youngsters</b><br>102:22<br><b>youth</b> 102:19<br>103:6<br><b>y'all</b> 10:10 85:22 |
| <hr/>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>Z</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>Zone</b> 71:24<br><b>zones</b> 59:22 70:21<br><b>zoning</b> 53:3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <hr/>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>\$</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>\$1.6</b> 5:24<br><b>\$100</b> 68:19<br><b>\$12</b> 88:4<br><b>\$300</b> 29:5 68:20<br><b>\$300,000</b> 31:24<br><b>\$312,898</b> 33:19<br><b>\$6.9</b> 33:10<br><b>\$600,000</b> 52:17<br><b>\$695,812</b> 33:10<br><b>\$699,000</b> 33:15<br><b>\$75</b> 21:15<br><b>\$782,000</b> 40:8                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <hr/>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>0</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>07</b> 76:5 77:15                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <hr/>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>1</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |
| <b>1</b> 46:20,24<br><b>1,047</b> 5:18<br><b>1,223</b> 10:10<br><b>1,400</b> 48:20<br><b>1,500</b> 49:11 51:19<br><b>1,533</b> 33:18<br><b>1,553</b> 31:23<br><b>1,600</b> 32:4<br><b>10,000</b> 31:15<br>48:22<br><b>10,430</b> 32:3<br><b>10,500</b> 31:15<br><b>10-716</b> 48:4<br><b>100</b> 53:6 59:20<br><b>1017</b> 61:5<br><b>11</b> 1:7 10:10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                            |

|                          |                         |  |  |  |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|
| <b>11:12</b> 1:7         | 40:14 102:6,13          |  |  |  |
| <b>110,000</b> 5:22      | <b>344</b> 78:21        |  |  |  |
| <b>12:59p.m</b> 109:5    | <b>35</b> 52:11 76:3    |  |  |  |
| <b>120223</b> 1:16 2:12  | 79:1                    |  |  |  |
| 39:20 47:14              | <b>365</b> 103:12       |  |  |  |
| 95:22 100:8              | <b>37</b> 79:1          |  |  |  |
| <b>13,441</b> 107:23     | <b>376</b> 40:12        |  |  |  |
| <b>130</b> 87:9          |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>15</b> 40:7 42:1,1    | <b>4</b>                |  |  |  |
| <b>1500</b> 105:10       | <b>400</b> 1:6 40:17    |  |  |  |
| <b>1511</b> 96:1         | <b>435</b> 10:9 40:13   |  |  |  |
| <b>16</b> 32:3           | <b>47</b> 90:11         |  |  |  |
| <b>16,593</b> 5:19       | <b>49th</b> 82:23 83:13 |  |  |  |
| <b>18</b> 40:10          |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>1990s</b> 107:16      | <b>5</b>                |  |  |  |
| <b>2</b>                 | <b>5th</b> 62:21 63:1   |  |  |  |
| <b>2</b> 79:2            | <b>500</b> 58:11        |  |  |  |
| <b>2,000</b> 31:18       | <b>501</b> 58:8         |  |  |  |
| <b>2,689</b> 33:9        | <b>52nd</b> 62:7        |  |  |  |
| <b>20</b> 32:8           | <b>6</b>                |  |  |  |
| <b>20th</b> 95:23,24     | <b>600</b> 34:14        |  |  |  |
| 96:1                     | <b>61</b> 9:3           |  |  |  |
| <b>20,000</b> 40:12      | <b>644</b> 40:15        |  |  |  |
| <b>2000</b> 74:19        | <b>66,000</b> 49:1      |  |  |  |
| <b>2001</b> 74:21 78:20  | <b>7</b>                |  |  |  |
| <b>2002</b> 78:20        | 7 88:11                 |  |  |  |
| <b>2006</b> 79:1         | <b>70</b> 32:9          |  |  |  |
| <b>2007</b> 10:8,8 50:11 | <b>71st</b> 80:21 86:9  |  |  |  |
| <b>2008</b> 61:17        | <b>75</b> 12:16         |  |  |  |
| <b>2009</b> 23:15 34:4   | <b>8</b>                |  |  |  |
| 79:1                     | <b>8,700</b> 31:17      |  |  |  |
| <b>201</b> 78:21         | <b>80s</b> 105:13       |  |  |  |
| <b>2010</b> 33:9 76:16   | <b>843</b> 6:20         |  |  |  |
| 79:1                     | <b>9</b>                |  |  |  |
| <b>2011</b> 6:20 10:8    | <b>9,000</b> 21:8       |  |  |  |
| 29:13 31:14              | <b>90</b> 40:16 56:3    |  |  |  |
| 33:18 79:2               | <b>911</b> 37:9 57:14   |  |  |  |
| <b>2012</b> 1:7 34:4     | 63:24                   |  |  |  |
| 79:2                     | <b>95</b> 81:4 82:5,9   |  |  |  |
| <b>24-hour</b> 21:11     | 84:5,8                  |  |  |  |
| <b>27</b> 90:19          | <b>99</b> 29:4,5        |  |  |  |
| <b>28</b> 79:1,2         |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>3</b>                 |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>3,000</b> 40:14       |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>30</b> 55:23          |                         |  |  |  |
| <b>311</b> 21:19 30:14   |                         |  |  |  |